

Human support in eHealth lifestyle interventions Cohen Rodrigues, T.R.

Citation

Cohen Rodrigues, T. R. (2024, March 14). *Human support in eHealth lifestyle interventions*. Retrieved from https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3721845

Version:	Publisher's Version
License:	<u>Licence agreement concerning inclusion of doctoral</u> <u>thesis in the Institutional Repository of the University</u> <u>of Leiden</u>
Downloaded from:	https://hdl.handle.net/1887/3721845

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).

HUMAN SUPPORT IN EHEALTH LIFESTYLE INTERVENTIONS

TALIA COHEN RODRIGUES



Human support in eHealth lifestyle interventions

Talia Cohen Rodrigues

The research presented in this dissertation was carried out at the Health, Medical and Neuropsychology Unit of Leiden University, Leiden, the Netherlands. This work was supported by The Netherlands Cardiovascular Research Initiative: an initiative with support of the Dutch Heart Foundation, CVON2016-12 BENEFIT, ZonMw (The Netherlands Organization for Health Research and Development), granted to the members of the BENEFIT consortium.

ISBN: 978-94-6483-823-7

Copyright 2024 © Talia Cohen Rodrigues

The Netherlands. All rights reserved. No parts of this thesis may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission of the author.

Provided by thesis specialist Ridderprint, ridderprint.nl Printing: Ridderprint Layout and design: Anna Bleeker, persoonlijkproefschrift.nl Human support in eHealth lifestyle interventions

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden, op gezag van rector magnificus prof.dr.ir. H. Bijl, volgens besluit van het college voor promoties te verdedigen op donderdag 14 maart 2024 klokke 11.15 uur door Talia Rina Cohen Rodrigues geboren te Haarlem in 1994

Promotores

Prof.dr. A.W.M. Evers Prof.dr. D.E. Atsma

Co-promotor

Dr. L.D. Breeman

Promotiecommissie

Prof.dr. S.A.R.B. Rombouts (Voorzitter) Prof.dr. M.A. Adriaanse (Secretaris) Prof.dr. N.H. Chavannes Prof.dr. J.E.W.C. van Gemert-Pijnen (Universiteit Twente) Prof.dr. H.M.C. Kemps (Technische Universiteit Eindhoven)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	General introduction	8
2	Facilitators of and barriers to lifestyle support and eHealth solutions: Interview study among health care professionals working in cardiac care	22
3	Lifestyle support preferences of patients with cardiovascular diseases: What lifestyle support might work best for whom?	50
4	Effectiveness of human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions for patients with cardiometabolic risk factors: A meta-analysis	74
5	Use intention and user expectations of human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions: An internet-based randomized controlled trial	122
6	Human cues in eHealth to promote lifestyle change: An experimental field study to examine adherence to self-help interventions	146
7	Summary & General discussion	178
	Nederlandse samenvatting	200
	Dankwoord	204
	About the author	206



GENERAL INTRODUCTION

14

"The months after my heart attack, there has been a consecutive stream of professionals who were helping me in my recovery. Them telling me what to do and how to improve my health has been a great support. But now rehabilitation has ended and I feel like I'm completely on my own. I know my health is my own responsibility, but if I'm honest, I don't know where to start."

The story above is not an exception. Within the Netherlands, one out of ten adults suffer from cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (Koop et al., 2021). This does not only lead to a higher burden on the healthcare system and rising costs due to an increased need for care provision and productivity loss (Wilkins et al., 2017), but also has serious consequences for patients themselves. Apart from the negative health consequences, CVD patients often experience a deteriorated quality of life, meaning that their condition impacts their social, physical, or psychological functioning (De Smedt et al., 2013). Cardiac rehabilitation programmes in the Netherlands therefore also focus on psychological and social well-being (e.g. improving mental health, going back to work), next to improving physical fitness (e.g. exercise capacity; Multidisciplinaire Richtlijn Hartrevalidatie, Hartstichting, 2011).

The impact of a healthy lifestyle

A major part of rehabilitation is aimed at improving risk behaviours associated with CVD (Hartstichting, 2011). This is not without reason, as a more healthy lifestyle could provide an important contribution to CVD risk management. Addressing behavioural risk factors such as smoking, poor diet, physical inactivity and low sleep quality shows to have a positive impact on the prognosis of CVD (Kaminsky et al., 2022; Piepoli et al., 2016; Wilkins et al., 2017). Improving the lifestyle of CVD patients can even have mortality-reducing effects that are comparable to medication intake (lestra et al., 2005). As a result, CVD-related deaths have reduced within countries that implemented policies related to healthier lifestyles (Roth et al., 2020).

Unfortunately, many patients are not able to maintain a healthy lifestyle once they return to their everyday life, after their rehabilitation has ended (Janssen et al., 2013; ter Hoeve et al., 2015). This is not surprising, as maintaining a healthy lifestyle is a difficult task. The difficulty of transforming intentions into real behaviour, which is called the intention-behaviour gap, makes it challenging for people to maintain healthy lifestyle behaviours that were initiated during rehabilitation (Webb & Sheeran, 2006). Lifestyle behaviours are often driven by automatic processes, such as habits (Rothman et al., 2009) and influenced by environmental factors (Marteau et al., 2012). Furthermore, due to the so-called present bias, people often favour the immediate satisfaction of unhealthy behaviour above the delayed reward of a healthy lifestyle (Liberman & Trobe, 2008). It is therefore not surprising that CVD patients themselves report struggles in developing a healthy lifestyle, and maintaining this healthier lifestyle after cardiac support ends (Murray et al., 2012) which is necessary to prevent recurrent cardiovascular events.

eHealth interventions for CVD patients

Given the fact that maintaining a healthy lifestyle seems so difficult for many CVD patients, there is an increasing need for solutions to help these patients, and eHealth technology can be such a solution. eHealth can be defined as the use of interactive new information and communication technology to support or enhance health and healthcare (Barak et al., 2009; Thomas & Bond, 2014). An increasing amount of eHealth interventions is being developed (Thomas & Bond, 2014) and eHealth is becoming increasingly relevant, which became especially evident during the recent COVID-19 outbreak (Bokolo, 2021; Silven et al., 2020). eHealth can be used to provide both remote and automated healthcare support and can be either web- or mobile-based. An example of eHealth to promote healthy living are wearables to track objective health indicators, that give users insight into their own health and lifestyle behaviour (e.g. blood pressure, steps a day). This provides users with the opportunity to set and track their personalised health goals (e.g. taking 5.000 steps per day). This is just one example of the wide range of technology eHealth can encompass to provide education and skills training.

The use of eHealth within cardiovascular care and cardiac rehabilitation has shown to be effective in both the prevention and treatment of CVD (Beishuizen et al., 2016; Lunde et al., 2018). eHealth interventions show to improve CVD patients' lifestyle behaviours, such as their physical activity levels (Patel et al., 2023) and diet (Thom et al., 2023). Besides, eHealth can be used to support patients for a longer period of time, even after rehabilitation has ended, to ensure durable lifestyle change (Janssen et al., 2013). Given these advantages, the use of eHealth is encouraged in the secondary prevention of CVD (Schorr et al., 2021). Telemonitoring has been successfully implemented in the cardiac rehabilitation of various groups of CVD patients, such as those with myocardial infarction (Treskes et al., 2020) or heart failure (Koehler et al., 2018). These patients home-monitor their health using several devices (e.g. electronic scale, pedometer, blood pressure monitor) which are connected to their smartphone to give them and their healthcare professional insight into their health and behaviour. Thus, eHealth is already imbedded and accepted within cardiac care today, and the use of eHealth will likely increase in the near future. With the rise of eHealth in cardiac care, barriers for proper use are also becoming more evident. eHealth is frequently used as a complementary tool to human care and the interference of a human healthcare professional is still required. However, healthcare professionals indicate to experience barriers in providing lifestyle support (e.g. Jallinoja et al., 2007; Jansink et al., 2010; Warr et al., 2021). For example, professionals indicate that they lack the time to provide this support, that there are no financial resources to facilitate lifestyle support, that they simply do not have enough experience to provide the required support to their patients or have doubts about the effectiveness of such interventions. And although eHealth has been suggested to help overcome these barriers, some professionals indicate to experience an even higher workload from using eHealth (Bellicha et al., 2017).

Automated support

On the upside, eHealth allows not only for the provision of remote support by a healthcare professional, but also for automated support (Barak et al., 2009). In such self-help eHealth interventions, feedback is automatically provided, making the interference of a healthcare professional no longer needed. This makes such eHealth interventions easier to implement on a wider scale (Barak et al., 2009). A practical example of self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions, in a non-CVD context, are online platforms offered by health insurance companies (e.g., Zilveren Kruis, 2021). In such web-based interventions, users are motivated to improve their physical activity levels, eating patterns, stress levels and sleep habits. Via interactive modules, users can set their own goals, track their behaviour, and receive automated feedback. Therefore, the costs are limited, and the insurance company can freely offer it to all its customers to help them engage in a healthier lifestyle.

Working alliance within eHealth interventions

Despite these important advantages of self-help eHealth interventions, there are several issues that are important to consider. One important issue of providing patients with a digital tool, is the lack of a social relationship with a healthcare professional (Brandt et al., 2018). Due to a lack of human contact, the uptake of self-help eHealth interventions is low (Lillevoll et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2018). But even when people do start using the intervention, self-help eHealth interventions suffer from a low level of adherence (Kelders et al., 2011; Kelders et al., 2012; Murray et al., 2013; Wangberg et al., 2008). This poses a problem, given that intervention adherence is related to more positive health outcomes (Donkin et al., 2011). Furthermore, there are inconsistent results concerning the effectiveness of self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions. While some studies show that self-help eHealth interventions are as effective as human-supported ones (Lustria et al., 2013; Webb et al., 2010), other studies show that the absence of (face-to-face) human support causes the intervention to be substantially less effective (Beishuizen et al., 2016; Joiner et al., 2017; Lau et al., 2020). This means that when no human support is provided, people are less likely to start using the eHealth intervention, do not use the eHealth intervention as much as they are intended to, and show less improvement in cardiovascular risk factors or healthy lifestyle behaviours.

This positive influence of human support might be due to the importance of building a relationship during the intervention (Brandt et al., 2018). Within the clinical context, this relationship, or so-called working alliance, is defined as the degree to which a healthcare professional and patient are involved in a useful and collaborative working relationship (Hatcher & Barends, 2006). The quality of the working alliance depends on three aspects, which are the level of agreement on goals that are set for treatment, on tasks that must be performed to reach this goal, and the quality of the relational bond between healthcare professional and patient (Bordin, 1979). Studies show that the quality of the working alliance explains up to a third of the variance in the efficacy of psychotherapeutic interventions (Horvath et al., 2011; Lambert & Barley, 2001). This strong positive relationship between the working alliance and intervention outcomes also holds within an eHealth context (Kaiser et al., 2021). Despite its important contribution to psychotherapy's success, the working alliance has been much less frequently applied within lifestyle-related domains. Nevertheless, a positive working alliance also increases adherence and effectiveness of lifestyle interventions (e.g. Goldberg et al., 2013; Hauser-Ulrich et al., 2020; Kowatsch et al., 2021a; Kowatsch et al., 2021b).

In an eHealth context, a good working alliance has also been shown to be a predictor of effectiveness and adherence in interventions with remote human support (Flückiger et al., 2018; Sucala et al., 2012), and even in interventions with automated support only (Bickmore et al., 2010; Clarke et al., 2016; Hauser-Ulrich et al., 2020; Kowatsch et al., 2021a; Kowatsch et al., 2021b). These latter findings might be explained by the fact that people are not only able to form relationships with other people, but also with digital tools and applications (Nass & Moon, 2000; Reeves & Nass, 1996). This idea originates from the "Computers are social actors-theory", which states that people use similar social rules and heuristics to their interactions with computers as they would do while interacting with other human beings. This behaviour applies to any digital tool, including eHealth interventions. Making the eHealth tool more "human" eases this process, and within eHealth interventions, conversational agents are often used for this task. These conversational agents are computer-based scripts which can mimic human-like conversational behavior such as responding to input, generate output, and turn-taking (Cassell et al., 1999). Studies show that the use of such human-like social rules and heuristics (e.g. showing empathy or humour) by conversational agents can increase the working alliance people experience (Bickmore et al., 2010) and thereby their adherence to the intervention (Lisetti et al., 2013). Given the importance of adherence for intervention effectiveness and thus for durable lifestyle change, it would be worthwhile to investigate the use of conversational agents to promote a working alliance within eHealth lifestyle interventions. Especially because it is yet unclear what human-like social cues and heuristics promote a working alliance with a conversational agent. Therefore, more research is needed before such mechanisms could be applied within tools for a vulnerable CVD patient population.

The present dissertation

This dissertation has the following two aims: (1) mapping out the needs and wishes of both healthcare professionals and CVD patients with regard to (human-supported and self-help) eHealth lifestyle interventions, and (2) investigating if and how self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions could be optimised. The studies described in this PhD dissertation are part of the BENEFIT project erected by a Dutch consortium that aims to facilitate durable lifestyle change among CVD patients through a public-private partnership between academic centres, hospitals, rehabilitation centres, general practices, commercial companies and patient federations (Keesman et al., 2019). eHealth development often takes place without involvement of its core users, the patients and healthcare professionals, leading to eHealth tools that are not intuitive to use and therefore less effective (van Gemert-Pijnen et al., 2011). Together with patients, a multidisciplinary team consisting of cardiologists, psychologists, eHealth developers, and many other experts aimed to develop a so-called "ecosystem" in which the patient is emerged in a health-supportive environment. This ecosystem was built on four pillars that are essential in durable lifestyle change, which are (1) targeting both individual and environmental lifestyle factors, (2) developing interventions in cocreation with stakeholders (such as patients and healthcare professionals), (3) ensuring continuous access to these interventions, and (4) a public-private cooperation. This PhD dissertation describes a part of the research conducted to develop an eHealth platform to facilitate lifestyle changes at the individual level within this ecosystem. The research described in this PhD dissertation aims to evaluate the effect of different forms of automated and personal coaching on lifestyle maintenance. These studies were mainly conducted during the development phase, to optimise lifestyle coaching at the individual level before applying it into the BENEFIT platform.

This PhD dissertation consists of a number of journal articles, formatted as chapters, each contributing to one of the aims of this dissertation. The first part of the dissertation concerns the first aim (1) mapping out the needs and wishes of both healthcare professionals and CVD patients with regard to (human-supported and self-help) eHealth lifestyle interventions. According to the CeHres roadmap, a framework for eHealth development, implementation, and evaluation (Van Gemert-Pijnen et al., 2011), stakeholders should be closely involved in both the development and implementation phase. Therefore, we identified our most important stakeholders and asked their opinions on lifestyle interventions and the use of eHealth. Specifically, **Chapter 2** describes an interview study with healthcare professionals working in cardiac care about lifestyle support and the use of eHealth. Previous studies found that lifestyle interventions are rarely

discussed or prescribed to adults with CVD-related complaints during consultations (Hobbs & Erhardt, 2002; Milder et al., 2008; Noordman, 2010). Furthermore, studies showed that healthcare professionals experience various barriers in providing lifestyle support (e.g. Jallinoja et al., 2007; Jansink et al., 2010). Therefore we aim to investigate what factors are important in supporting CVD patients in the uptake of and adherence to a healthy lifestyle and the (potential) facilitators of and barriers to eHealth tools in providing lifestyle support to patients with CVD. We interviewed 16 professionals with various backgrounds (e.g. nurse practitioners, neurologists, physiotherapists) who all treat CVD patients about providing lifestyle support to CVD patients, and the possibilities of eHealth to help them in doing so. To follow up on this, **Chapter 3** describes a survey study investigating the views of CVD patients themselves. In order to get a representative view of their needs and wishes, we conducted a large-scale questionnaire study with members of Harteraad, a Dutch CVD patient association. We asked them whether they would like to be supported by a coach, use an eHealth tool, be supported by friends and family, or be self-supportive while working on a healthy lifestyle. Furthermore, we linked these preferences to demographic variables, to investigate what type of support works best for whom.

The next three chapters concerned the second aim of the dissertation, (2) investigating if and how self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions could be optimised. Specifically, Chapter 4 concerns a meta-analysis investigating the effectiveness of existing interventions for patients with cardiometabolic diseases. Although meta-analyses on eHealth lifestyle interventions had been performed before, and had also already focused on the comparison between human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions (e.g. Beishuizen et al., 2016; Joiner et al., 2017), the results of these studies were inconsistent. While in some meta-analyses human-supported interventions showed to be more effective, others show no difference between human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions. We argue that this might be due to the quantity and quality of the support offered within human-supported intervention. Therefore, the aims of the meta-analysis are to investigate the effectiveness of eHealth lifestyle interventions for patients with cardiometabolic diseases, whether there is a difference in effectiveness between human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions, and whether dose and delivery mode of human support influence the effectiveness of eHealth lifestyle interventions. Chapter 5 investigates what user expectations play a role in people's decision to start using either human-supported or self-help eHealth interventions. As described previously, self-help eHealth interventions frequently suffer from low levels of uptake. Before paying attention to optimising self-help eHealth interventions, it is therefore important to investigate how we can make people start using such interventions. In this chapter we used an online experiment to investigate what expectations drive someone's intention to use a human-supported or selfhelp eHealth intervention. We offered subjects randomly either screenshots of a human-supported or self-help eHealth intervention, and asked about their expectations towards the intervention's usefulness to achieve their goals (performance expectancy), the intervention's easiness of use (effort expectancy), the extent in which important others would support them in using the intervention (social influence), and the ability to form a relationship with the (automated) coach (working alliance). In **Chapter 6**, we aim to combine the results from the previous chapters to tackle another previously mentioned problem within selfhelp eHealth interventions, which is a lack of adherence. As we identified a need for self-help eHealth interventions, but at the same time a need for a human touch within lifestyle eHealth interventions, we aimed to make self-help eHealth interventions more attractive to adhere to by making them more human. Therefore, we conducted a field experiment with a self-help app-based physical activity intervention with a conversational agent. We manipulated how human-like the conversational agent within the intervention appeared and behaved, and tested in which condition users experienced the highest level of working alliance, and best adhered to the intervention like intended.

Finally, **Chapter 7** provides a discussion of all five studies in this PhD dissertation. This chapter relates the findings of each study to one another, discusses their (practical) implications, addresses their limitations and gives suggestions for further research.

REFERENCES CHAPTER 1

- Barak, A., Klein, B., & Proudfoot, J. G. (2009). Defining internet-supported therapeutic interventions. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 38(1), 4–17. https://10.1007/s12160-009-9130-7.
- Beishuizen, C. R., Stephan, B. C., van Gool, W. A., Brayne, C., Peters, R. J. G., Andrieu, S., Kivipelto, M., Soininen, H., Busschers, W. B., Moll van Charante, E. P., & Richard, E. (2016). Web-based interventions targeting cardiovascular risk factors in middle-aged and older people: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *18*(3), e55. https://10.2196/jmir.4808.
- Bellicha, A., Macé, S., & Oppert, J. M. (2017). Prescribing of electronic activity monitors in cardiometabolic diseases: Qualitative interview-based study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(9), e328. https://10.2196/jmir.8107.
- Bickmore, T. W., Mitchell, S. E., Jack, B. W., Paasche-Orlow, M. K., Pfeifer, L. M., & Odonnell, J. (2010). Response to a relational agent by hospital patients with depressive symptoms. *Interacting with Computers*, 22(4), 289-298. https://10.1016/j.intcom.2010.03.003.
- Bokolo, A. J. (2021). Application of telemedicine and eHealth technology for clinical services in response to COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Technology*, 11(2), 359-366. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12553-020-00516-4
- Bordin, E. S. (1979). The generalizability of the psychoanalytic concept of the working alliance. *Psychological Psychotherapy*, *16*(3), 252–260. https://10.1037/h0085885
- Brandt, C. J., Søgaard, G. I., Clemensen, J., Søndergaard, J., & Nielsen, J. B. (2018). Determinants of successful eHealth coaching for consumer lifestyle changes: Qualitative interview study among health care professionals. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(7), e237. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9791
- **Cassell,** J., Bickmore, T., Billinghurst, M., et al. (1999). Embodiment in conversational interfaces. Conference Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, 520–527. https://10.1145/302979.303150
- **Clarke,** J., Proudfoot, J., Whitton, A., et al. (2016). Therapeutic alliance with a fully automated mobile phone and web-based intervention: secondary analysis of a randomized controlled trial. *JMIR Mental Health*, *3*(1), e10. https://doi.org/10.2196/mental.4384
- De Smedt, D., Clays, E., Annemans, L., et al. (2013). Health-related quality of life in coronary patients and its association with their cardiovascular risk profile: Results from the EUROASPIRE III survey. *International Journal of Cardiology, 168*(2), 898–903. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcard.2012.10.053
- Donkin, L., Christensen, H., Naismith, S. L., Neal, B., Hickie, I. B., & Glozier, N. (2011). A systematic review of the impact of adherence on the effectiveness of e-therapies. *Journal* of Medical Internet Research, 13(3), e52. https://10.2196/jmir.1772
- Flückiger, C., Del Re, A. C., Wampold, B. E., & Horvath, A. O. (2018). The alliance in adult psychotherapy: A meta-analytic synthesis. *Psychotherapy (Chic)*, 55(4), 316-340. https://10.1037/pst0000172
- Goldberg, S. B., Davis, J. M., & Hoyt, W. T. (2013). The role of therapeutic alliance in mindfulness interventions: Therapeutic alliance in mindfulness training for smokers. *Journal* of Clinical Psychology, 69(9), 936-950. https://10.1002/jclp.21992
- Hatcher, R. L., & Barends, A. W. (2006). How a return to theory could help alliance research. Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice, 79(4), 292. https:// doi.org/10.1348/147608305X82930

- Hauser-Ulrich, S., Künzli, H., Meier-Peterhans, D., & Kowatsch, T. (2020). A smartphone-based health care chatbot to promote self-management of chronic pain (SELMA): Pilot randomized controlled trial. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 8(4), e15806. https://doi.org/10.2196/15806
- Hobbs, F. D., & Erhardt, L. (2002). Acceptance of guideline recommendations and perceived implementation of coronary heart disease prevention among primary care physicians in five European countries: The Reassessing European Attitudes about Cardiovascular Treatment (REACT) survey. *Family Practice*, 19(6), 596-604. https:// doi.org/10.1093/fampra/19.6.596
- Horvath, A. O., Del Re, A. C., Flückiger, C., & Symonds, D. (2011). Alliance in individual psychotherapy. *Psychotherapy*, *48*(1), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022186
- Iestra, J. A., Kromhout, D., van der Schouw, Y. T., Grobbee, D. E., Boshuizen, H. C., & van Staveren, W. A. (2005). Effect size estimates of lifestyle and dietary changes on all-cause mortality in coronary artery disease patients: A systematic review. *Circulation*, 112(6), 924–934. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.503995
- Jallinoja, P., Absetz, P., Kuronen, R., et al. (2007). The dilemma of patient responsibility for lifestyle change: Perceptions among primary care physicians and nurses. Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care, 25(4), 244-249. https://doi. org/10.1080/02813430701691778
- Jansink, R., Braspenning, J., van der Weijden, T., Elwyn, G., & Grol, R. (2010). Primary care nurses struggle with lifestyle counseling in diabetes care: A qualitative analysis. *BMC Family Practice*, 11, 41. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-11-41
- Janssen, V., De Gucht, V., van Exel, H., & Maes, S. (2013). Beyond resolutions? A randomized controlled trial of a self-regulation lifestyle program for post-cardiac rehabilitation patients. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology, 20*, 431-441. https://doi. org/10.1177/2047487312441727
- Joiner, K. L., Nam, S., & Whittemore, R. (2017). Lifestyle interventions based on the diabetes prevention program delivered via eHealth: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Preventive Medicine, 100*, 194-207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.04.027
- Kaiser, J., Hanschmidt, F., & Kersting, A. (2021). The association between therapeutic alliance and outcome in internet-based psychological interventions: A meta-analysis. *Computers in Human Behavior, 114*, 106512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2020.106512
- Kaminsky, L. A., German, C., Imboden, M., Ozemek, C., Peterman, J. E., & Brubaker, P. H. (2022). The importance of healthy lifestyle behaviors in the prevention of cardiovascular disease. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, 70, 8-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pcad.2021.12.001
- Keesman, M., Janssen, V., Kemps, H., Hollander, M., Reimer, W. S. O., Gemert-Pijnen, L. V., ... & BENEFIT consortium. (2019). BENEFIT for all: An ecosystem to facilitate sustained healthy living and reduce the burden of cardiovascular disease. *European Journal* of Preventive Cardiology, 26(6), 606-608. https://doi.org/10.1177/2047487319835964
- Kelders, S. M., Kok, R. N., Ossebaard, H. C., & Van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E. (2012). Persuasive system design does matter: A systematic review of adherence to web-based interventions. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(6), e152. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2104

- Kelders, S. M., Van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E., Werkman, A., Nijland, N., & Seydel, E. R. (2011). Effectiveness of a web-based intervention aimed at healthy dietary and physical activity behavior: A randomized controlled trial about users and usage. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 13(2), e32. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1624
- Koehler, F., Koehler, K., Deckwart, O., Prescher, S., Wegscheider, K., Kirwan, B. A., ... & Stangl, K. (2018). Efficacy of telemedical interventional management in patients with heart failure (TIM-HF2): A randomised, controlled, parallel-group, unmasked trial. *The Lancet*, 392(10152), 1047-1057. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31880-4
- Koop, Y., Wimmers, R. H., Vaartjes, I., & Bots, M. L. (2021). Hart- en vaatziekten in Nederland, 2021. Hartstichting. Retrieved February 26, 2023, from https://www.hartstichting.nl/ hart-en-vaatziekten/cijfers-hart-en-vaatziekten
- Kowatsch, T., Lohse, K. M., Erb, V., et al. (2021a). Hybrid ubiquitous coaching with a novel combination of mobile and holographic conversational agents targeting adherence to home exercises: Four design and evaluation studies. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 23(2), e23612. https://doi.org/10.2196/23612
- Kowatsch, T., Schachner, T., Harperink, S., et al. (2021b). Conversational agents as mediating social actors in chronic disease management involving health care professionals, patients, and family members: Multisite single-arm feasibility study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 23(2), e25060. https://doi.org/10.2196/25060
- Lambert, M. J., & Barley, D. E. (2001). Research summary on the therapeutic relationship and psychotherapy outcome. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training,* 38(4), 357. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-3204.38.4.357
- Lau, Y., Chee, D. G. H., Chow, X. P., Cheng, L. J., & Wong, S. N. (2020). Personalised eHealth interventions in adults with overweight and obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Preventive Medicine*, 132, 106001. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106001
- Liberman, N., & Trope, Y. (2008). The psychology of transcending the here and now. *Science*, *322*(5905), 1201-1205. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1161958
- Lillevoll, K., Vangberg, H. C. B., Griffiths, K. M., & Eisemann, M. R. (2014). Uptake and adherence of a self-directed internet-based mental health intervention with tailored e-mail reminders in senior high schools in Norway. *BMC Psychiatry*, 14(1), 14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-14-14
- Lin, J., Faust, B., Ebert, D. D., Krämer, L., & Baumeister, H. (2018). A web-based acceptance-facilitating intervention for identifying patients' acceptance, uptake, and adherence of internet- and mobile-based pain interventions: Randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(8), e244. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9925
- Lisetti, C., Amini, R., Yasavur, U., & Rishe, N. (2013). I can help you change! An empathic virtual agent delivers behavior change health interventions. ACM Transactions on Management Information Systems, 4(4), 1-28. https://doi.org/10.1145/2544103
- Lunde, P., Nilsson, B. B., Bergland, A., Kværner, K. J., & Bye, A. (2018). The effectiveness of smartphone apps for lifestyle improvement in noncommunicable diseases: Systematic review and meta-analyses. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(5), e162. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9068
- Lustria, M. L., Noar, S. M., Cortese, J., Van Stee, S. K., Glueckauf, R. L., & Lee, J. (2013). A meta-analysis of web-delivered tailored health behavior change interventions. *Journal* of Health Communication, 18, 1039–1069. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2013.768727

- Marteau, T. M., Hollands, G. J., & Fletcher, P. C. (2012). Changing human behavior to prevent disease: The importance of targeting automatic processes. *Science*, *337*(6101), 1492-1495. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1226918
- Milder, I. E., Blokstra, A., de Groot, J., van Dulmen, S., & Bemelmans, W. J. (2008). Lifestyle counseling in hypertension-related visits--analysis of video-taped general practice visits. *BMC Family Practice*, 9, 58. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-9-58
- Murray, J., Craigs, C. L., Hill, K. M., Honey, S., & House, A. (2012). A systematic review of patient-reported factors associated with uptake and completion of cardiovascular lifestyle behavior change. *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders, 12*, 120. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2261-12-120
- Murray, E., White, I. R., Varagunam, M., Godfrey, C., Khadjesari, Z., & McCambridge, J. (2013). Attrition revisited: Adherence and retention in a web-based alcohol trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 15(8), e162. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2336
- Noordman, J., Verhaak, P., & van Dulmen, S. (2010). Discussing patients' lifestyle choices in the consulting room: Analysis of GP-patient consultations between 1975 and 2008. BMC Family Practice, 11, 87. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-11-87
- Patel, H. A., Hayden, K. A., Bouchal, S. R., & King-Shier, K. (2023). Self-Care Practices of Patients with Heart Failure Using Wearable Electronic Devices: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 38(4), 319–329. https://doi.org/10.1097/ JCN.000000000000957
- Piepoli, M. F., Hoes, A. W., Agewall, S., Albus, C., Brotons, C., Catapano, A. L., ... Binno, S. (2016). 2016 European guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: The sixth joint task force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice. *European Heart Journal*, 37(29), 2315–2381. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw106
- Revalidatiecommissie Nederlandse Vereniging Voor Cardiologie/Nederlandse Hartstichting. (2011). Multidisciplinaire Richtlijn Hartrevalidatie 2011. Retrieved October 20, 2021, from https://harteraad.nl/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Multidisciplinaire-Richtlijn-Hartrevalidatie.pdf
- Roth, G. A., Mensah, G. A., & Fuster, V. (2020). The global burden of cardiovascular diseases and risks: a compass for global action. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *76*(25), 2980-2981. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2020.11.021
- Rothman, A. J., Sheeran, P., & Wood, W. (2009). Reflective and automatic processes in the initiation and maintenance of dietary change. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 38(1), S4-S17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-009-9128-5
- Schorr, E. N., Gepner, A. D., Dolansky, M. A., Forman, D. E., Park, L. G., Petersen, K. S., ... & Wenger, N. K. (2021). Harnessing mobile health technology for secondary cardiovascular disease prevention in older adults: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation: Cardiovascular Quality and Outcomes*, 14(5), e000103. https://doi.org/10.1161/HCQ.00000000000103
- Silven, A. V., Petrus, A. H., Villalobos-Quesada, M., Dirikgil, E., Oerlemans, C. R., Landstra, C. P., ... & Teng, Y. O. (2020). Telemonitoring for patients with COVID-19: Recommendations for design and implementation. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 22*(9), e20953. https://doi.org/10.2196/20953

- Sucala, M., Schnur, J. B., Constantino, M. J., Miller, S. J., Brackman, E. H., & Montgomery, G. H. (2012). The therapeutic relationship in e-therapy for mental health: A systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(4), e110. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2084
- Ter Hoeve, N., Huisstede, B. M., Stam, H. J., van Domburg, R. T., Sunamura, M., & van den Berg-Emons, R. J. (2015). Does cardiac rehabilitation after an acute cardiac syndrome lead to changes in physical activity habits? Systematic review. *Physical Therapy*, 95(2), 167-179. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130302
- Thom, S. J., Sivakumar, B., Ayodele, T., Tan, M. C., Brown, J. M., & Arcand, J. (2023). Impact of mHealth Interventions on Supporting Dietary Adherence in Cardiovascular Disease: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jneb.2023.03.004
- Thomas, J. G., & Bond, D. S. (2014). Review of innovations in digital health technology to promote weight control. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 14(5), 485. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11892-014-0485-y
- Treskes, R. W., van Winden, L. A., van Keulen, N., van der Velde, E. T., Beeres, S. L., Atsma, D. E., & Schalij, M. J. (2020). Effect of smartphone-enabled health monitoring devices vs regular follow-up on blood pressure control among patients after myocardial infarction: A randomized clinical trial. JAMA Network Open, 3(4), e202165-e202165. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.2165
- Van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E., Nijland, N., van Limburg, M., Ossebaard, H. C., Kelders, S. M., Eysenbach, G., & Seydel, E. R. (2011). A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 13(4), e111. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1672
- Wangberg, S. C., Bergmo, T. S., & Johnsen, J. A. (2008). Adherence in internet-based interventions. *Patient Preference and Adherence, 2*, 57-65.
- Warr, W., Aveyard, P., Albury, C., Nicholson, B., Tudor, K., Hobbs, R., ... & Ziebland, S. (2021). A systematic review and thematic synthesis of qualitative studies exploring GPs' and nurses' perspectives on discussing weight with patients with overweight and obesity in primary care. Obesity Reviews, 22(4), e13151. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13151
- Webb, T., Joseph, J., Yardley, L., & Michie, S. (2010). Using the internet to promote health behavior change: A systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of theoretical basis, use of behavior change techniques, and mode of delivery on efficacy. *Journal* of Medical Internet Research, 12(1), e1376. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1376
- Webb, T. L., & Sheeran, P. (2006). Does changing behavioral intentions engender behavior change? A meta-analysis of the experimental evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 132(2), 249.
- Wilkins, E., Wilson, L., Wickramasinghe, K., Bhatnagar, P., Leal, J., Luengo-Fernandez, R., ... & Townsend, N. (2017). European cardiovascular disease statistics 2017. Retrieved October 20, 2021, from https://www.ehnheart.org/images/CVD-statistics-report-August-2017.pdf
- Zilveren Kruis. Actify. Retrieved February 26, 2023, from https://www.zilverenkruis.nl/gezonder-leven/actify.





FACILITATORS OF AND BARRIERS TO LIFESTYLE SUPPORT AND EHEALTH SOLUTIONS: INTERVIEW STUDY AMONG HEALTH CARE PROFESSIONALS WORKING IN CARDIAC CARE

An adjusted version of this chapter is published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research as:

Cohen Rodrigues, T. R., De Buisonjé, D. R., Keesman, M., Reijnders, T., Van Der Geer, J. E., Janssen, V. R., Kraaijenhagen, R. A., Atsma, D. E., & Evers, A. W. M. (2021). Facilitators of and Barriers to Lifestyle Support and eHealth Solutions: Interview Study Among Health Care Professionals Working in Cardiac Care. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 23*(10), e25646.

ABSTRACT

Background: Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) pose a significant health threat and reduce both people's life expectancy and quality of life. Healthy living is a key component in the effective prevention and treatment of CVD. However, health care professionals (HCPs) experience difficulties in supporting lifestyle changes among their patients. eHealth can provide a solution to these barriers.

Objective: This study aims to provide insights into the factors HCPs find important in the support of patients with CVD in the uptake of and adherence to a healthy lifestyle and the perceived facilitators of and barriers to using eHealth to provide lifestyle support to patients with CVD.

Methods: In-depth interviews were conducted with 16 Dutch HCPs specializing in lifestyle support in cardiac care.

Results: We identified 13 themes, of which the first 12 concerned lifestyle support in general and were related to intervention, patient, or health care. Throughout these themes, the use of eHealth reoccurred as a potential facilitator of or solution to barriers to lifestyle support. Our final theme specifically concerned barriers to the adoption and usability of eHealth.

Conclusions: HCPs do recognize the potential advantages of eHealth while experiencing barriers to using digital tools. Incorporating their needs and values in the development of lifestyle support programs, especially eHealth, could increase their use and lead to a more widespread adoption of eHealth into health care.

Keywords: eHealth; digital health; cardiovascular disease; cardiac care; lifestyle change; lifestyle support; intervention; health care professionals; implementation; interview; facilitators; barriers.

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs) are the most common cause of death globally (WHO, 2017) and drastically reduce the quality of life (De Smedt et al., 2013). Most CVDs can be prevented and treated by addressing behavioral risk factors such as smoking, poor diet, physical inactivity, and low sleep quality (Piepoli et al., 2016; Wilkins et al., 2017). Lifestyle interventions for patients with CVD have been shown to improve risk factors and decrease cardiac readmissions and mortality (Janssen et al., 2013) and are therefore recommended by national and international guidelines on cardiac prevention and rehabilitation (Hartstichting, 2011; Piepoli et al., 2016). Furthermore, a healthy lifestyle has mortality-reducing effects comparable with those of medication intake (lestra et al., 2005).

Notwithstanding these advantages, health care professionals (HCPs) seem to be hesitant to discuss - let alone prescribe - lifestyle interventions to their patients (Barnes & Schoenborn, 2012). For instance, studies among Dutch general practitioners found that they are generally unlikely to mention CVD risk factors, such as lifestyle, during their consultations (Noordman et al., 2010) and only provided advice concerning healthy living in 1 out of 6 consultations to people with hypertension complaints (Milder et al., 2008). In addition, only 1 out of 5 primary care physicians indicated that European CVD guidelines concerning lifestyle were being implemented (Hobbs & Erhardt, 2002). In line with this, most patients with CVD have an unhealthy lifestyle (Kotseva et al., 2019). A number of barriers have been identified as possible explanations for the low attention paid to lifestyle changes and their respective programs. HCPs have mentioned a low degree of patient motivation, a lack of knowledge about or experience with providing lifestyle advice, insufficient time during consultations, a lack of financial incentives, little external options to refer their patients to, and HCPs' perception that health promotion is ineffective in CVD prevention and treatment (Brotons et al., 2005; Hobbs & Erhardt, 2002; Jallinoja et al., 2007; Jansink et al., 2010; Riley et al., 2016). These barriers could possibly explain why only half of the patients with CVD are actually offered lifestyle modification programs after discharge (De Luca et al., 2018). To increase the uptake of and adherence to lifestyle interventions among patients with CVD, it is crucial to consider HCPs' needs and barriers.

A potential solution to overcome these barriers could be the increased use of digital tools to provide automated or remote support, which can incorporate interactive web-based components and digital wearables for home measurement, known as eHealth (Barak et al., 2009). Recent studies have shown that eHealth can be effective in the prevention and treatment of noncommunicable diseases such as CVD (Lunde et al., 2018; Beishuizen et al., 2016). Despite these promising results, the acceptance and successful implementation of digital tools in health care is low because of the barriers that HCPs experience (Bally & Cesuroglu, 2019; Peeters et al., 2016; Ross et al., 2016). To design digital inter-

ventions that have an impact, human and contextual factors should be taken into account, including the needs and values of stakeholders such as HCPs (Keesman et al., 2019; van Gemert-Pijnen et al., 2011). Interview studies uncovering HCPs' views on lifestyle interventions and their own role in health promotion among their patients (Jansink et al., 2010; Stuij, 2018; Tonnon et al., 2014; Raaijmakers et al., 2013; Geense et al., 2013) and on the use of eHealth in lifestyle support (Brandt et al., 2018a; Brandt et al., 2018b; Smith et al., 2017; Bellicha et al., 2017; Macdonald et al., 2018) have been conducted before. However, to our knowledge, no studies have mapped out the attitudes toward both lifestyle support and eHealth of HCPs specialized in CVD specifically. Importantly, given that the effectiveness and needs related to lifestyle support and eHealth are highly context dependent (van Gemert-Pijnen et al., 2011), specific knowledge is needed in the context of cardiac care.

Therefore, this study aims to gain insight into the facilitators and barriers that HCPs specialize in cardiac care experience in lifestyle support for the prevention and treatment of CVD and to investigate their views on eHealth tools. We performed in-depth interviews with HCPs to answer two main questions: (1) What factors are important in supporting CVD patients in the uptake of and adherence to a healthy lifestyle? (2) What are the (potential) facilitators of and barriers to eHealth tools in providing lifestyle support to patients with CVD?

METHODS

Sample

We interviewed 16 Dutch HCPs (10 women) specializing in supporting patients with CVD and with experience in lifestyle change. To ensure a diverse and representative collection of perspectives, we included professionals with varying backgrounds from multiple institutions located in different parts of the Netherlands (Table 1). Professionals were selected based on eHealth affinity within the department or organization they worked in and asked how they applied eHealth in their own job to verify some level of eHealth experience. In line with these guidelines, 16 interviews would be sufficient for information saturation (Guest et al., 2006).

Table 1. Organization and	professional background of respondents	(N=16).
5		· /

Organization and professional background	Values, n (%)
Academic hospital A	
Nurse practitioner working in cardiac rehabilitation	2 (12)
Academic hospital B	
Neurovascular nurse practitioner	1 (6)
Physician assistant specialized in cardiovascular risk factor management	1 (6)
Hospital A	
Physiotherapist working in cardiac rehabilitation	1 (6)
Nurse practitioner working in cardiac rehabilitation	1 (6)
Hospital B	
Physician-researcher working in cardiac rehabilitation	1 (6)
Nurse practitioner working in cardiac rehabilitation	1 (6)
Hospital C	
Neurologist specialized in cardiac rehabilitation	1 (6)
Nurse practitioner working in cardiac rehabilitation	1 (6)
Cardiac rehabilitation center A	
Cardiologist in residence	1 (6)
Lifestyle coach working in cardiac rehabilitation	1 (6)
Cardiac rehabilitation center B	
Physiotherapist working in cardiac rehabilitation	1 (6)
Cardiac rehabilitation center C	
Psychologist specialized in cardiac rehabilitation	1 (6)
General practice center A	
General practitioner specialized in CVD ^a care	1 (6)
Nurse practitioner working in cardiac rehabilitation	1 (6)

°CVD: cardiovascular disease.

Procedure

We used convenience sampling and approached organizations within the network of care partners. We asked for professionals within the organization who were most directly involved with lifestyle support of patients with CVD, whom we sent an email with general information about the research goals. After the HCP expressed willingness to cooperate, interview appointments were made by phone and performed at the interviewee's preferred location. Before the start of the interview, information about the research project and the goals and methods of the interview were provided. The interviewee signed the informed consent form, after which the voice recording and interview started. No (financial) compensation was offered to participate.

The interviews were conducted in Dutch, between November 2017 and February 2018, and took 45-90 minutes. One researcher led the interview, whereas another took notes, and roles were alternated between each interview (DRdB and JEvdG). The voice recordings were transcribed and pseudonymized to secure anonymity (Brecht Otto and Pauline van Wolferen). We used a general interview guide approach, as the interviews were based on a semistructured list of questions that allowed for further elaboration based on answers. The questions were divided into six topics (Textbox 1). We asked about both the use of eHealth (digital tools to provide automated or remote support with interactive web-based components) and wearables and sensors (e.g., pedometers). Interview topics were defined based on the research questions and assessed whether they would provide answers to these questions. We also included questions about the interviewees' profiles (e.g., job description and experience with eHealth). This study only discusses the data from interview topics 1-5, which are relevant to our specific research questions. The data regarding the sixth interview topic (reward program to promote healthy living) do not belong to the scope of this study and are used in another publication (de Buisonjé et al., 2021).

Analyses

The transcripts were sorted into meaningful clusters based on a content analysis approach to ensure that insights emerged based on the data [36]. Relevant pieces of data were retrieved from the text and coded and categorized into themes. For each of the transcripts, 2 researchers (DRdB and JEvdG) independently marked quotations in Microsoft Word containing relevant information. These quotations were compared, and a consensus document for each transcript was created. The quotations were transferred to Microsoft Excel, coded in a separate column to allow for interpretation, color coded to indicate whether the quotation was related to eHealth, and subsequently categorized into themes (TRCR). In discussion with a second researcher (MK), a definitive set of 13 themes emerged on which each of the quotations were fit (Textbox 2). Consensus with an independent coder (Magali de Rooy) was reached at once, with an interrater agreement of 74% and sufficient interrater reliability (Krippendorff α =.697), which indicated that the developed list of themes adequately represented the structure of the data. Quotation examples in text were translated into English by 2 researchers (TRCR and DRdB).

Textbox 1. Interview guide.

Facilitating and impeding factors in the uptake of and adherence to a healthy lifestyle for patients with cardiovascular disease

- What do cardiovascular disease patients need to do in their home environment to achieve sustainable lifestyle change?
- What things that seem to work well for cardiovascular disease patients in changing their lifestyle?
- · What impedes cardiovascular disease patients in changing their lifestyle?
- · What solutions do cardiovascular disease patients have for these barriers?

Facilitating and impeding factors in providing lifestyle support to patients with cardiovascular disease

- · How do you provide lifestyle support to cardiovascular disease patients?
- · What works well in providing lifestyle support?
- · What impedes providing lifestyle support?
- · What solutions do you have for these barriers?

Stakeholders involved in providing lifestyle support to patients with cardiovascular disease

- What do you, as an health care professional, need to better provide lifestyle support to cardiovascular disease patients?
- With whom do you cooperate in providing lifestyle support to cardiovascular disease patients?

Facilitating and impeding factors in using eHealth to provide lifestyle support to patients with cardiovascular disease

- What things go well in your use of eHealth to provide lifestyle support to cardiovascular disease patients?
- What impedes your use of eHealth to provide lifestyle support to cardiovascular disease patients?
- · What solutions do you have for these barriers?
- What do you, as an health care professional, need to better make use of eHealth to provide lifestyle support to cardiovascular disease patients?

Facilitating and impeding factors in using wearables and sensors to provide lifestyle support to patients with cardiovascular disease

- To what extent do you use wearables and sensors to provide lifestyle support to cardiovascular disease patients?
- What things go well in your use of wearables and sensors to provide lifestyle support to cardiovascular disease patients?
- What impedes your use of wearables and sensors to provide lifestyle support to cardiovascular disease patients?
- · What solutions do you have for these barriers?

Textbox 2. Identified themes after coding.

Intervention-related factors

- Autonomy
- Factors that concern the extent to which the patient has the freedom to make decisions about lifestyle change for themselves
- Quotations that concern the feeling of control in the process, the amount of self-determination, and insight into one's own health
- · Goal setting
 - · Factors that are related to setting goals in lifestyle change
 - · Quotations concerning the quantity, content, and design of these goals
- · Personalization
 - Factors that are related to the adjustment of a healthy lifestyle and revalidation program to the needs and wishes of the patient
 - Quotations that concern the personal relevance, feasibility, and attractiveness of the revalidation process

Patient-related factors

- Motivation
- Factors that facilitate or impede the willpower to start and/or maintain lifestyle change
- · Quotations that concern the extent to which patients are willing to work on their lifestyle and their intrinsic and extrinsic motivation
- · Condition of the patient
 - Physical, mental, or cognitive impairments that impede the patient in the uptake of and adherence to a healthy lifestyle (e.g., pain, depression, stress, addictions, and age)
 - · Both conditions that already existed and those because of their illness
- Psychological characteristics
 - · Characteristics and traits of the patient that facilitate or impede the uptake of and adherence to a healthy lifestyle
 - Quotations that concern personality or personal predispositions of the patient (e.g., self-efficacy, resistance, and sense of responsibility)
- Environmental factors
 - Factors in the home environment and daily life of the patient that facilitate or impede the uptake of and adherence to a healthy lifestyle
 - Quotations that concern the direct surroundings of the patient, which one cannot control (difficult domestic situations, SES, and access to [un]healthy options)
- Social network
 - Factors in the social circle of the patient that facilitate or impede the uptake of and adherence to a healthy lifestyle
 - Quotations that concern the role of friends, family, and acquaintances in the patient's lifestyle

Health care-related factors

- · Format of professional support
 - Factors that determine the way in which support of the patient is shaped and structured and facilitate or impede the uptake of and adherence to a healthy lifestyle
 - Quotations that concern the implementation, frequency, and format of support
 Relationship with the patient
- · Relationship with the patient
 - Factors that are related to the personal relationship between health care
 professional and patient

- · Quotations that indicate the way in which such a relationship is established and what it should entail
- · Continuity of professional support
 - Factors that are related to long-term support of the patient and facilitate or impede maintaining a healthy lifestyle
 - Quotations that concern lifestyle change in the long run, outside the health care environment, and continuing the revalidation process by the patient
 Organization of agree
- Organization of care
 - Practical factors that influence the provided health care, both physical facilities (e.g., health care professional's practice) and nontangible influences (e.g., regulations, finances) that facilitate or impede lifestyle support
 - Quotations that concern the availability of care and the extent to which health care professionals' can do their job and the way they are ought to do
- · Barriers to eHealth
 - Factors that are related to the implementation of eHealth (digital tools) in lifestyle support
 - Quotations that concern the difficulties in using and implementation of technology and data in the current health care system

RESULTS

Barriers to and Facilitators of Lifestyle Support

Of the 13 identified themes, 12 concerned lifestyle support in general (Textbox 2). The subjects of these themes were related to the intervention, the patient, or health care in general.

Intervention-Related Factors

Autonomy

Nearly all (15/16, 93%) HCPs mentioned that patients need to feel a sense of ownership over their lifestyle change process instead of being just another patient undergoing rehabilitation. One HCP was especially concerned about the lack of choice in cardiac rehabilitation:

People are forced to do so many things, they end up in an obligatory trajectory. That is already quite a lot. So I think that can be a barrier. [Quote 89, HCP 8]

Self-monitoring (e.g., heartbeat or weight) and information about both their disease and the benefits of a healthy lifestyle were mentioned by 10 HCPs to be essential for patients to feel a sense of control. This allows them to act independently of their HCPs when they notice irregularities:

It is also important for patients that they get more insight themselves.... That they can alert us whenever they are training independently and say "my heartrate shows irregularities or is not going up." [Quote 73, HCP 1]

However, 3 HCPs mentioned that self-monitoring might have the downside of becoming an obsession, as people could fixate on numbers rather than their own body.

Goal Setting

More than half of the HCPs (9/16, 56%) mentioned the importance of goal setting in a healthy lifestyle. Patients would reach the most success when the number of goals at a given time is limited; when the goals are formulated in a specific, measurable, acceptable, realistic, and timely way; and when the goals are personally relevant for the patient. Accomplishment of these goals provides a rewarding feeling, which increases motivation to continue:

I want them to create their own success story. ...I choose something [a goal] of which I guess that person will be able to achieve in the upcoming week. And that turns into motivation... [Quote 133, HCP 8]

Personalization

Of all HCPs, 56% (9/16) experienced that a lifestyle intervention will succeed when the provided support is tailored to patients' needs, capabilities, and preferences. For instance, for some, it is more important to work on their eating habits, whereas for others, an increase in physical activity is more relevant. At the same time, HCPs mentioned difficulties in finding out what their patients actually wanted and needed, which made it challenging to individualize the program:

And I'd really like to get to know the person on the other side of the table, what kind of information that person would like to receive. I find it hard to know: How would someone like to be motivated. [Quote 148, HCP 4]

Patient-Related Factors

Motivation

A key theme throughout the interviews (14/16, 87%) was the level of motivation of the patient. Intrinsic motivation was deemed essential to successfully complete—or even start—a lifestyle program. Such intrinsic motivation is not always self-evident because of low awareness about the current and future health impact of an unhealthy lifestyle. About 37% (6/16) of HCPs mentioned how the occurrence of the disease acts as the tipping point for patients to change their lifestyle: People already know that they are unhealthy and that they should make changes. Often you will notice that such a crisis causes them to actually do so. [Quote 54, HCP 13]

To maintain the level of motivation, after the initial scare from the incident has passed, 56% (9/16) of HCPs mentioned that patients need to see progress of their effort, preferably through tangible results (e.g., increased performance durations). Extrinsic motivation, in the form of both material and nonphysical incentives (e.g., positive feedback), was mentioned by 43% (7/16) of HCPs to play a role:

Rewards are on multiple levels, a reward can also be that you are just being noticed by your significant other, brother, sister, friend. But it can also be a more literal reward, you know, that you buy something for yourself. Or that you tell yourself, well done. [Quote 57, HCP 13]

Condition of the Patient

Health-related issues hindering patients from initiating or maintaining a healthy lifestyle were mentioned by 75% (12/16) of HCPs. These issues are physical, cognitive, or mental and are either pre-existing or because of cardiac incidents. For example, reduced mobility in older patients is a physical barrier to physical activities or reaching the clinic. Frequently mentioned mental barriers were depressive symptoms and fear, such as concerns about physical capabilities after a cardiac incident:

Especially people who experience persistent heart complaints, that cause a lot of anxiety, they think: I won't push myself. When I start exercising, I will experience it again. [Quote 177, HCP 4]

Psychological Characteristics

Most HCPs (13/16, 81%) mentioned the role of their patients' personalities either as facilitators or as barriers. Patients need to be disciplined, and most importantly, some level of self-awareness helps to reflect on their own behavior and acknowledge their own role in the process. Patients who come up with excuses for not performing healthy behaviors are most difficult to work with:

But there is also a big group of people who are just very resistant to change, who are mainly externalizing and say: "I can't do anything about it". Or who continuously come up with excuses about why things can't change. Yes, that is the most difficult group to work with. That is also the most unhealthy group. [Quote 215, HCP 15]

Chapter 2

In addition to personality characteristics, another frequently mentioned barrier was previously developed bad habits.

Environmental Factors

Factors related to the daily environment of the patients were identified by 56% (9/16) of HCPs. For instance, difficult domestic situations are often given more priority and can therefore reduce the success of a healthy lifestyle initiated in the clinic. Some HCPs (4/16, 25%) explicitly stated that socioeconomic status (e.g., language barriers) affects people's lifestyles:

When it comes to handing out flyers as well, I come across situations such as: "I can't read." Not very frequently, but it happens every now and then. [Quote 230, HCP 10]

According to 25% (4/16) of HCPs, government authorities should take responsibility for creating a healthy environment (e.g., offering healthy food in hospitals, stricter tobacco and alcohol regulations, or regulating the prices of food) and providing health education.

Social Network

The roles of both close (family and friends) and distant others were mentioned by 50% (8/16) of HCPs. Other people function as social controls or exert some level of group pressure. A sense of cohesion through engaging in healthy activities with others is a great motivator:

...an exemplary role, sociability, a social aspect, controlling aspect, when you are part of a group people will ask about you: How are you doing, where were you? All those kind of things play a role. [Quote 246, HCP 1]

The importance of the social network of patients in providing practical and psychological support was emphasized by 38% (6/16) of HCPs. However, HCPs worried that overly critical family members or friends could also negatively influence the process. A second concern was social norms, as some unhealthy behaviors (such as drinking too much alcohol) are less socially accepted and therefore more difficult for patients to be open about:

Well, the subject is more of a taboo. It is automatically an issue. When you drink too much, you are an alcoholic. Eating too much, well, that happens to all of us. That we are snacking a little too much. [Quote 256, HCP 8]

Health Care-Related Factors

Format of Professional Support

Considering the way support should be provided, 50% (8/16) of the HCPs mentioned the importance of frequency. Through frequent repetition of information, healthy behaviors by the patient, and reminders or feedback, a healthy lifestyle remains a topic of interest. However, the frequency of consultations in current practice is too low to do so. A total of 5 (31%) HCPs mentioned that support should be accessible at all times whenever the patient needs it. In addition, to provide tailored support, HCPs need data independent of the patients' self-reports about their progress:

...we have tried to use a logbook, but a pedometer can track the walking process outside. You can respond to the objective information you receive. A logbook is just an estimate, you just have to believe that it's true. [Quote 276, HCP 2]

Most HCPs (10/16, 62%) found education as an important part of the intervention as patients lack knowledge or have misconceptions about their disease and a healthy lifestyle. Therefore, the health care system should play a role in offering trustworthy information, providing patients with concise pieces of information that are easy to understand:

...there is so much information available that they have no idea what to trust. ..., especially among the older population who have more respect for healthcare professionals, simple advice is really appreciated. [Quote 288, HCP 4]

Relationship With the Patient:

More than half of the HCPs (11/16, 68%) mentioned that their relationship with patients has a significant influence on the process. A good relationship helps in understanding the underlying reasons for patients' behavior and motivation and creating a safe environment to share their feelings. Support does not end at the physical aspect of cardiac rehabilitation but entails mental support as well:

They suddenly are obliged to change a lot of things. I try to focus less on things that have to change, but acknowledge how it affects them. ...Therefrom, they will more easily comply with a lifestyle change in the end. [Quote 334, HCP 8]

HCPs disagreed about their role as an authority figure. An equal relationship, in which they co-operated with their patients during the revalidation process, was

frequently mentioned. However, 18% (3/16) of HCPs recognized that they function as the so-called *big stick* to keep patients on the right track.

Continuity of Professional Support

According to 62% (10/16) of HCPs, long-term support is crucial for maintaining a healthy lifestyle outside the health care environment. When the window of opportunity after a cardiovascular incident disappears, patients are more likely to return to old (unhealthy) habits. However, 43% (7/16) of HCPs mentioned lack of follow-ups or an end evaluation, leaving them with no ability to provide long-term feedback or information about the postrehabilitation success of the lifestyle intervention:

... when you want someone to follow through with the lifestyle change, you do have to check whether someone comprehends it and if is able to do so. When you let someone on their own, you will lose that person. [Quote 353, HCP 4]

Organization of Care

All 16 HCPs (100%) mentioned at least one factor related to the way health care is organized, varying from physical facilities to nontangible influences. Most HCPs (11/16, 68%) mentioned a lack of financial resources and time. Furthermore, the limited co-operation between HCPs involved in cardiac care and those of other health care disciplines was mentioned as a barrier. There are few options for redirecting patients to another professional, disagreements within the extensive group of care providers, and insufficient information sharing between them:

The dietician for instance, she keeps her own records, she can't attend the multidisciplinary team meeting due to her planning. I think that is a barrier as well, because we once had a patient who didn't consume enough calories, which caused problems and that person did not feel well... [Quote 393, HCP 6]

More than half of the HCPs (7/16, 43%) mentioned a lack of attention for lifestyle within cardiac care or health care in general, although this varied greatly between domains (e.g., cardiology and neurology). HCPs indicated that they missed regulations and protocols they could follow in providing lifestyle support.

eHealth in Lifestyle Support

Throughout the 12 themes discussed earlier, the use of eHealth reoccurred as a (potential) facilitator or solution to barriers, most prominently within the themes Autonomy, Personalization, Format of support, and Continuity of professional support (Figure 1). Although eHealth facilitators were more strongly related to
lifestyle support, the barriers HCPs experienced were rather unrelated to lifestyle themes. To put more emphasis on this, the 13th theme concerning barriers in the implementation of eHealth will be discussed in the final part of this section (Barriers to eHealth).

Figure 1. Overview of the identified barriers and facilitators in lifestyle support and their relation to eHealth.



Benefits of eHealth

During analyses, a link between barriers to and facilitators of lifestyle support and potential facilitating benefits of eHealth emerged. The HCPs provided examples of how eHealth could help them.

Autonomy in eHealth

For patients to regain autonomy (theme 1), HCPs indicated a need for education and insight and saw an opportunity for eHealth to provide both. HCPs noticed that by giving patients the opportunity (and therefore the responsibility) of monitoring their own health through a digital tool, they can act whenever necessary (e.g., adjusting their diet when they notice a higher blood pressure). According to HCPs, such insights would also enlarge awareness about unhealthy behavior and provide progress feedback to increase their motivation:

We offer cardiac patients who we follow-up via eHealth a pedometer, a digital scale that measures body fat percentages, a blood pressure moni-

tor and a device to make an ECG. That provides them with insight into how they are doing. [Quote 107, HCP 14]

Furthermore, as eHealth can be individually tailored, HCPs indicated that patients can control what information they receive and how they receive it. Patients can also work on their lifestyle at any time and in any way they wish to, increasing the level of self-management.

Personalization in eHealth

Personalization (theme 3) appeared to be key to lifestyle interventions, but HCPs raised the issue of identifying what patients wanted and needed. They thought that eHealth could help them to get more information about patients and their needs, before and during the intervention (e.g., through web-based intake questionnaires). HCPs believed this could result in better adjustment of their support and more efficient consultations and lifestyle interventions:

In fact, even before someone comes in, you would have to start with: "This is the goal of the consultation." Based on a test or questionnaire, you look at how someone can best be approached: What kind of advice do you prefer? There are probably apps, tools, questionnaires, and other things that can do so. [Quote 150, HCP 4]

Format of Support in eHealth

Related to the format of support (theme 9), HCPs gave examples of how eHealth, especially its possibilities for remote support, could be beneficial. As digital tools are available at all times and not bound to a physical location, HCPs predicted that it would be much easier for patients to frequently have contact, work on their lifestyle, or receive information. This would also increase the accessibility of support:

That is the advantage of eHealth, that it is flexible, 24/7, which is really convenient. I think that a lot of people ruminate at night and would appreciate to write during nighttime. The possibility to do so at that very moment, not only when you meet your coach again. Then it has already faded away. [Quote 305, HCP 8]

Consistent and automatic digital monitoring would provide more objective data, meaning HCPs would no longer have to rely on single measures during consultations or error-prone self-report measures. Furthermore, eHealth could be used as an educational platform, which HCPs thought they could use to provide patients with reliable and consistent information about their disease and lifestyle.

Continuity of Professional Support in eHealth

Continuity of professional support (theme 11) was mentioned as one of the biggest issues in current cardiac care. Therefore, most HCPs saw prolonged monitoring as a huge advantage of eHealth. Furthermore, this could enable HCPs to provide support in the long run, once patients return to their everyday lives:

There are gaps within the healthcare system, which makes it difficult for patients to continue independently. That is where this eCoach steps in. So during cardiac rehabilitation over here, they see the physiotherapist, they see the doctor, they can chat more easily through the portal. [Quote 359, HCP 6]

Barriers to eHealth

While recognizing these potential advantages of eHealth, HCPs raised some barriers concerning its adoption and usability. The most prominent concern of 63% (10/16) of HCPs was related to the general old age of patients with CVD, as older people are more likely to have little experience with or no interest in technology. Moreover, patients would generally prefer face-to-face contact over digital communication, either during the entire intervention or at least a part of it. One HCP explicitly mentioned the importance of face-to-face intake for a digital intervention to be successful:

They tell me: "Oh, I received a mail from online coaching, but I have already so much on my mind, so I just ignored it." ...But then they see me and say: "But now I know that it was you, that is nice!" It comes to life for them, in my experience at least. [Quote 466, HCP 8]

Difficulties with technological tools and devices, such as bugs and slow development of the technology, were mentioned by 31% (5/16) of HCPs. In addition, they mentioned that there was no help desk for patients or HCPs. Furthermore, it was frequently mentioned by 31% (5/16) of HCPs that many current technological aids suffer from a low level of user-friendliness.

DISCUSSION

Principal Findings

This study aimed to gain insights into the facilitators and barriers that HCPs experience in lifestyle support for the prevention and treatment of CVDs and investigate their views on potential eHealth tools. We interviewed 16 HCPs, resulting in 12 themes relevant to lifestyle support, of which four were related to eHealth. The 13th theme was related to eHealth barriers.

Barriers to and Facilitators of Lifestyle Support

First, we aimed to identify the factors that HCPs find important in supporting patients with CVD in the uptake of and adherence to a healthy lifestyle. We found factors related to the intervention, patient, and health care system to help answer this question.

According to the HCPs, a lifestyle intervention should give patients a feeling of autonomy and possibilities for goal setting and allow for personalization. In line with our findings, in interview studies on lifestyle support for patients with diabetes, HCPs indicated that well-formulated goals create realistic patient expectations (Jansink et al., 2010) and that standardized norms should be adjusted to patients' capabilities (Stuij, 2018). Furthermore, HCPs indicated that it is no longer their role to tell patients to change their lifestyle but rather the patient's responsibility (Stuij, 2018). However, although HCPs in this study named autonomy as an additional facilitator within lifestyle change, other studies reported patient responsibility to be a basic necessity because of low patient motivation (Stuij, 2018) or even seem unrealistic as patients are not always able to independently start or maintain a healthy lifestyle (Jallinoja et al., 2007).

With regard to patient factors, motivation to live healthily, the condition of the patient, psychological characteristics, environmental factors, and social networking were mentioned to be of influence within lifestyle support. HCPs working with people with (a high risk of) CVD (Hobbs & Erhardt, 2002; Noordman et al., 2008; Tonnon et al., 2014), patients with diabetes (Jansink et al., 2010; Raaijmakers et al., 2013; Stuij, 2018), and chronic diseases in general (Geense et al., 2013) recognized similar factors, thereby suggesting that these are relevant within different patient populations. However, although HCPs in our study thought that little awareness of the impact of an unhealthy lifestyle on health contributed to a low level of patient motivation for change, a study with primary care HCPs reported that limited knowledge about risks of CVD is only seldom a barrier for engaging in lifestyle modification (Jallinoja et al., 2007). This discrepancy in results might be because of methodological differences, as the study by Jallinoja et al (2007) included primary care HCPs and not HCPs mostly working in cardiac rehabilitation. Furthermore, primary care HCPs were asked about the relevance of insufficient knowledge to treatment and not lifestyle change per se. In addition, factors reported by patients with CVD themselves are relatively similar to those found in our study (Murray et al., 2012), which suggests that, at least in part, HCPs are able to recognize what patients need in lifestyle interventions.

Finally, several factors related to health care in general were mentioned, including the format of the provided support, continuity of professional support, the way care is organized, and the relationship between the HCP and patient. A high-quality relationship with the patient was also recognized as a facilitator within lifestyle support in other studies, as it would lead to both more collaborative patients and more motivated HCPs (Brandt et al., 2018a; Macdonald et al., 2018). In addition, it would be easier to foster face-to-face encounters [30]. Similar to our results, the lack of time, little governmental responsibility, financial shortcomings, little co-operation between HCPs, and difficulties in referring patients were mentioned as barriers by HCPs involved in the prevention of CVD (Hobbs & Erhardt, 2002; Riley et al., 2016; Tonnon et al., 2014), type 2 diabetes (Jansink et al., 2010; Stuij, 2018), or in (chronic) diseases in general (Brotons et al., 2005; Geense et al., 2013). This shows that such barriers are not unique for lifestyle support in CVD rehabilitation, which provides HCPs and researchers with the opportunity to learn from other disciplines and work together to find solutions (e.g., eHealth tools).

Other studies reported a lack of skills by HCPs to provide lifestyle support or a feeling that lifestyle interventions are ineffective as a barrier to the provision of lifestyle support (Brotons et al., 2005; Geense et al., 2013; Jallinoja et al., 2007; Jansink et al., 2010). These factors were not mentioned in this study, which might be owing to the nature of our sample that included HCPs who were specifically involved in lifestyle support and therefore might have a bigger skill set for and a more positive attitude toward providing lifestyle support.

Barriers to and Facilitators of eHealth

Second, to determine what the (potential) facilitators of and barriers to eHealth tools would be in providing lifestyle support to patients with CVD, the interviewed HCPs described how eHealth could be applied to strengthen facilitators or solve barriers they encountered in lifestyle support. The statements that HCPs made concerning facilitators of eHealth were related to the intervention-related factors, Autonomy and Personalization. These advantages of eHealth have also been recognized by HCPs in other studies. Macdonald et al (2018) reported that HCPs acknowledged that eHealth fosters the two-way conversation-a collaborative interaction between patients and HCPs, which explains why eHealth can create well-informed and autonomous patients. As HCPs previously indicated that lifestyle is the responsibility of the patient (Hobbs & Erhardt, 2002; Lunde et al., 2018), eHealth could offer them tools that foster the patient's autonomy. HCPs from other studies also indicated that eHealth helps them to personalize the program by getting to know their patients' needs through the personal diary within the digital portal (Das et al., 2015) and that personalization of an eHealth program is essential to fit the patient's capabilities (Walsh et al., 2018). Furthermore, meta-analyses have demonstrated a positive relationship between both an autonomy-supportive health care climate and personalization of digital intervention content and successful behavior change (Lustria et al., 2013; Ng et al., 2012).

With regard to health care-related factors, we found that the Format of professional support and the Continuity of support were important topics related to eHealth. Other studies have reported similar advantages of eHealth. Brandt et al (2018a) reported HCPs indicated that, because of its format, eHealth provides them with objective and measurable information and that it is not bound to a specific location or moment in time. In addition, some HCPs appreciated being able to follow-up their patients for a longer period, as it can be rewarding and increases their motivation and sense of responsibility to continue providing support (Walsh et al., 2018). Although we did not find a link between eHealth and the HCP-patient relationship, other studies have reported contradictory findings. Das et al (2015) reported that eHealth does not have time constraints, shame, and fear of stigma, which leads to more self-disclosure from patients. However, Brandt et al (2018a) reported that HCPs indicated it is more challenging to establish an empathic relationship in a digital environment. This contrast might be because HCPs seem positive about tools that are an addition to face-toface contact (Das et al., 2015), but those that replace face-to-face interactions are perceived as less favorable to build a supportive relationship (Brandt et al., 2018a). Furthermore, although we did not find the advantages of eHealth in the organization of care, other studies did. For example, other studies mentioned additional time by reusing old advice (Brandt et al., 2018a), co-operation between HCPs, and accessible alternatives to refer their patients to (Smith et al., 2017) as advantages of eHealth. Methodological differences related to the different care settings and organizational structures the interviewed HCPs worked in could explain this.

Despite the advantages that were recognized by HCPs from both our and other studies (Brandt et al., 2018a; Das et al., 2015; Macdonald et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2017), there is a low level of acceptance and implementation of eHealth in health care (Ross et al., 2016). HCPs in this study formulated several barriers that could offer an explanation. First, HCPs feel that because patients with CVD are older, they prefer face-to-face contact and have little technological experience; therefore, digital tools would not be suitable for this patient population. HCPs in another study made a distinction between current patients with CVD and future ones, as the latter will have substantially more experience in and affinity to technology (Walsh et al., 2018). In addition, the eHealth and face-to-face support preferences of patients with CVD vary greatly (Anttila et al., 2019), which raises concerns about uneven eHealth adoption and unequal health benefits (Lingg et al., 2020). HCPs could possibly contribute to this, as the views and preferences of patients are important in their decision to use eHealth (Walsh et al., 2018). At the same time, Grünloh et al (2018) suggested that some HCPs seem to be unaware of the development of patient skills and knowledge over time. This could mean that once HCPs believe a patient is a technology-averse person, there will be minimal attempts to help the patient become acquainted with eHealth. eHealth acceptance could also be influenced by preference for face-to-face communication of HCPs themselves (Brandt et al., 2018a; Smith et al., 2017), which could be because of concerns regarding the therapeutic alliance with their patients (Walsh et al., 2018). However, others do not experience this issue, as they use eHealth for information sharing (e.g., educational texts) rather than communication purposes (e.g., interacting with patients) (Brandt et al., 2018b).

Other barriers identified concerned eHealth applications themselves, such as bugs and the slow development of digital tools, the lack of a help desk, and a low level of user-friendliness for both patients and HCPs. Other studies mentioned similar concerns, such as limited innovation, being offered digital tools that were still under development, and digital information that is too difficult to interpret and translate into support for their patients (Bellicha et al., 2017; Macdonald et al., 2018). A study on an eHealth tool evaluation showed that, in hindsight, HCPs have specific wishes concerning the utility and design of such tools (Smith et al., 2017). If they were included in the development process at an early stage, such barriers could have been prevented (Bally et al., 2019; van Gemert-Pijnen et al., 2011).

In this study, barriers to eHealth were not related to organizational factors. However, HCPs have previously shown concern about the inflexibility of the health care system and indicated that organizational structures and attitudes of HCPs have a major impact on eHealth acceptance and implementation (Bally et al., 2019; Das et al., 2015; Lingg et al., 2020; Walsh et al., 2018). The lack of financial compensation also played a role according to HCPs from previous studies (Bally et al., 2019; Peeters et al., 2016). Therefore, apart from barriers experienced by individual HCPs, overcoming structural obstacles seems necessary for the implementation of eHealth in health care (King et al., 2012). As many HCPs in our sample were already working with eHealth tools, they might have experienced fewer organizational difficulties and, therefore, did not mention such organizational barriers.

To make eHealth implementation more successful in practice, the results of this study suggest that HCPs do not need to be convinced about the benefits of eHealth but rather that the barriers they experience should be resolved. To overcome these barriers, health policies could play an important role in the provision of support and equipment. This way, HCPs would be able to implement the reported benefits of eHealth in lifestyle support for people with CVD.

Limitations and Future Studies

First, our results were based on the opinions and interpretations of HCPs and not on the actual views of the patients themselves, who might have an alternative view on how eHealth can support them. Future studies could therefore conduct interviews with both HCPs and their patients to compare their views and attitudes toward lifestyle support and the use of eHealth.

Although we intentionally interviewed health care HCPs involved in the lifestyle support of patients with CVD, this specific sample limits the generalizability of our results as our sample has experience with and might be more willing to provide lifestyle support, whereas other HCPs might be less inclined to. It would therefore be interesting to investigate how different levels of experiences with and attitudes toward lifestyle support and eHealth translate into differences in the barriers experienced by HCPs.

Finally, we did not explicitly ask about the association between facilitators of and barriers to lifestyle support and the use of eHealth as a possible solution. Future studies should therefore investigate how eHealth can help overcome barriers related to specific aspects of lifestyle support experienced in various health care settings. These results could provide eHealth developers with a better direction in the development of eHealth interventions.

CONCLUSIONS

This study provides insights into Dutch HCPs' views on lifestyle support and eHealth in cardiac care. We identified facilitators and barriers related to intervention-, patient-, and health care-related factors. HCPs in general showed high approval of lifestyle support for patients with CVD and identified the potential benefits of incorporating eHealth. However, the interviews also revealed several barriers that impede HCPs' use of eHealth in lifestyle support. Incorporating their needs and values in the development of lifestyle support programs, especially eHealth, could increase their use and lead to a more widespread adoption of eHealth into health care.

REFERENCES CHAPTER 2

- Anttila, M. R., Kivistö, H., Piirainen, A., Kokko, K., Malinen, A., Pekkonen, M., & Sjögren, T. (2019). Cardiac Rehabilitees' Technology Experiences Before Remote Rehabilitation: Qualitative Study Using a Grounded Theory Approach. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 21(2), e10985. https://doi.org/10.2196/10985
- Bally, E. L. S., & Cesuroglu, T. (2020). Toward integration of mHealth in primary care in the Netherlands: A qualitative analysis of stakeholder perspectives. *Frontiers in Public Health, 7*, 407. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00407
- Barak, A., Klein, B., & Proudfoot, J. G. (2009). Defining internet-supported therapeutic interventions. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 38(1), 4-17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-009-9130-7
- Barnes, P. M., & Schoenborn, C. A. (2012). Trends in adults receiving a recommendation for exercise or other physical activity from a physician or other health professional. NCHS Data Brief, 1(86), 1-8. PMID: 22617014
- Beishuizen, C. R., Stephan, B. C., van Gool, W. A., Brayne, C., Peters, R. J. G., Andrieu, S., Kivipelto, M., Soininen, H., Busschers, W. B., Moll van Charante, E. P., & Richard, E. (2016).
 Web-based interventions targeting cardiovascular risk factors in middle-aged and older people: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *18*(3), e55. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.5021
- Bellicha, A., Macé, S., & Oppert, J. M. (2017). Prescribing of electronic activity monitors in cardiometabolic diseases: Qualitative interview-based study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *19*(9), e328. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.7591
- Brandt, C. J., Søgaard, G. I., Clemensen, J., Søndergaard, J., & Nielsen, J. B. (2018a). Determinants of successful eHealth coaching for consumer lifestyle changes: Qualitative interview study among health care professionals. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(7), e237. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9380
- Brandt, C. J., Søgaard, G. I., Clemensen, J., Søndergaard, J., & Nielsen, J. B. (2018b). General practitioners' perspective on eHealth and lifestyle change: Qualitative interview study. JMIR mHealth and uHealth, 6(4), e88. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.9473
- Brotons, C., Björkelund, C., Bulc, M., Ciurana, R., Godycki-Cwirko, M., Jurgova, E., Kloppe, P., Lionis, C., Mierzecki, A., Piñeiro, R., Pullerits, L., Sammut, M. R., Sheehan, M., Tataradze, R., Thireos, E. A., & Vuchak, J.; EUROPREV network. (2005). Prevention and health promotion in clinical practice: The views of general practitioners in Europe. *Preventive Medicine*, 40(5), 595-601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.07.009
- Brotons, C., Björkelund, C., Bulc, M., Ciurana, R., Godycki-Cwirko, M., Jurgova, E., ... & Thireos, E. A. (2005). Prevention and health promotion in clinical practice: The views of general practitioners in Europe. *Preventive Medicine*, 40(5), 595-601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ypmed.2004.07.012
- Das, A., Faxvaag, A., & Svanæs, D. (2015). The impact of an eHealth portal on health care professionals' interaction with patients: Qualitative study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *17*(11), e267. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.4170
- **de Buisonjé**, D., Van der Geer, J., Keesman, M., Van der Vaart, R., Reijnders, T., Wentzel, J., ... & Evers, A. (2021). Financial incentives for healthy living for patients with cardiac disease from the perspective of health care professionals: interview study. *JMIR cardio*, *5*(2), e27867. https://doi.org/10.2196/27867

- De Luca, L., Temporelli, P. L., Lucci, D., Gonzini, L., Riccio, C., Colivicchi, F., Geraci, G., Formigli, D., Maras, P., Falcone, C., Di Lenarda, A., & Gulizia, M. M.; START Investigators. (2018). Current management and treatment of patients with stable coronary artery diseases presenting to cardiologists in different clinical contexts: A prospective, observational, nationwide study. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology, 25*(1), 43-53. https:// doi.org/10.1177/2047487317734556
- De Smedt, D., Clays, E., Annemans, L., Doyle, F., Kotseva, K., Pajak, A., Prugger, C., Jennings, C., Wood, D., & De Bacquer, D. (2013). Health-related quality of life in coronary patients and its association with their cardiovascular risk profile: Results from the EUROASPIRE III survey. International Journal of Cardiology, 168(2), 898–903. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijcard.2012.10.008
- Geense, W. W., van de Glind, I. M., Visscher, T. L., & van Achterberg, T. (2013). Barriers, facilitators and attitudes influencing health promotion activities in general practice: An explorative pilot study. BMC Family Practice, 14, 20. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-14-20
- Grünloh, C., Myreteg, G., Cajander, Å., & Rexhepi, H. (2018). "Why Do They Need to Check Me?" Patient Participation Through eHealth and the Doctor-Patient Relationship: Qualitative Study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 20*(1), ell. https://doi. org/10.2196/jmir.8045
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, 18(1), 59–82. https://doi. org/10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Hobbs, F. D., & Erhardt, L. (2002). Acceptance of guideline recommendations and perceived implementation of coronary heart disease prevention among primary care physicians in five European countries: The Reassessing European Attitudes about Cardiovascular Treatment (REACT) survey. *Family Practice*, 19(6), 596-604. PMID: 12429661
- Hsieh, H. F., & Shannon, S. E. (2005). Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. *Qualitative Health Research*, 15(9), 1277–1288. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305276687
- Iestra, J. A., Kromhout, D., van der Schouw, Y. T., Grobbee, D. E., Boshuizen, H. C., & van Staveren, W. A. (2005). Effect size estimates of lifestyle and dietary changes on all-cause mortality in coronary artery disease patients: A systematic review. *Circulation*, 112(6), 924–934. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.503995
- Jallinoja, P., Absetz, P., Kuronen, R., Nissinen, A., Talja, M., Uutela, A., & Patja, K. (2007). The dilemma of patient responsibility for lifestyle change: Perceptions among primary care physicians and nurses. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care, 25*(4), 244–249. https://doi.org/10.1080/02813430701611267
- Jansink, R., Braspenning, J., van der Weijden, T., Elwyn, G., & Grol, R. (2010). Primary care nurses struggle with lifestyle counseling in diabetes care: A qualitative analysis. BMC Family Practice, 11, 41. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-11-41
- Janssen, V., De Gucht, V., Dusseldorp, E., & Maes, S. (2013). Lifestyle modification programmes for patients with coronary heart disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, 20(4), 620-640. https://doi.org/10.1177/2047487312442568
- Keesman, M., Janssen, V., Kemps, H., Hollander, M., Reimer, W. S. O., Gemert-Pijnen, L. V., Hoes, A., Kraaij, W., Chavannes, N., Atsma, D., Kraaijenhagen, R., & Evers, A.; BENEFIT consortium. (2019). BENEFIT for all: An ecosystem to facilitate sustained healthy living and reduce the burden of cardiovascular disease. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology, 26*(6), 606–608. https://doi.org/10.1177/2047487319832361

- King, G., O'Donnell, C., Boddy, D., Smith, F., Heaney, D., & Mair, F. S. (2012). Boundaries and e-health implementation in health and social care. *BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making*, 12, 100. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6947-12-100
- Kotseva, K., De Backer, G., De Bacquer, D., Rydén, L., Hoes, A., Grobbee, D., Maggioni, A., Marques-Vidal, P., Jennings, C., Abreu, A., Aguiar, C., Badariene, J., Bruthans, J., Castro Conde, A., Cifkova, R., Crowley, J., Davletov, K., Deckers, J., De Smedt, D., ... Wood, D. (2019). Lifestyle and impact on cardiovascular risk factor control in coronary patients across 27 countries: Results from the European Society of Cardiology ESC-EORP EURO-ASPIRE V registry. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology, 26*(8), 824-835. https:// doi.org/10.1177/2047487318825350
- Lingg, M., & Lütschg, V. (2020). Health System Stakeholders' Perspective on the Role of Mobile Health and Its Adoption in the Swiss Health System: Qualitative Study. JMIR mHealth and uHealth, 8(5), e17315. https://doi.org/10.2196/17315
- Lunde, P., Nilsson, B. B., Bergland, A., Kværner, K. J., & Bye, A. (2018). The effectiveness of smartphone apps for lifestyle improvement in noncommunicable diseases: Systematic review and meta-analyses. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(5), e162. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9657
- Lustria, M. L., Noar, S. M., Cortese, J., Van Stee, S. K., Glueckauf, R. L., & Lee, J. (2013). A meta-analysis of web-delivered tailored health behavior change interventions. *Journal* of *Health Communication*, *18*(9), 1039–1069. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2013.76 8727
- Macdonald, G. G., Townsend, A. F., Adam, P., Li, L. C., Kerr, S., McDonald, M., & Backman, C. L. (2018). eHealth technologies, multimorbidity, and the office visit: Qualitative interview study on the perspectives of physicians and nurses. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(1), e31. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.8864
- Milder, I. E., Blokstra, A., de Groot, J., van Dulmen, S., & Bemelmans, W. J. (2008). Lifestyle counseling in hypertension-related visits: Analysis of video-taped general practice visits. *BMC Family Practice*, *9*, 58. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-9-58
- Murray, J., Craigs, C. L., Hill, K. M., Honey, S., & House, A. (2012). A systematic review of patient reported factors associated with uptake and completion of cardiovascular lifestyle behaviour change. *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders*, *12*, 120. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2261-12-120
- Ng, J. Y., Ntoumanis, N., Thøgersen-Ntoumani, C., Deci, E. L., Ryan, R. M., Duda, J. L., & Williams, G. C. (2012). Self-determination theory applied to health contexts: A meta-analysis. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 7(4), 325-340. https://doi. org/10.1177/1745691612447309
- Noordman, J., Verhaak, P., & van Dulmen, S. (2010). Discussing patient's lifestyle choices in the consulting room: Analysis of GP-patient consultations between 1975 and 2008. BMC Family Practice, 11, 87. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-11-87
- Peeters, J. M., Krijgsman, J. W., Brabers, A. E., van den Jong, J. D., & Friele, R. D. (2016). Use and uptake of eHealth in general practice: A cross-sectional survey and focus group study among health care users and general practitioners. *JMIR Medical Informatics*, 4(2), ell. https://doi.org/10.2196/medinform.5250

- Piepoli, M. F., Hoes, A. W., Agewall, S., Albus, C., Brotons, C., Catapano, A. L., Cooney, M. T., Corrà, U., Cosyns, B., Deaton, C., Graham, I., Hall, M. S., Hobbs, F. D. R., Løchen, M. L., Löllgen, H., Marques-Vidal, P., Perk, J., Prescott, E., Redon, J., Richter, D. J., Sattar, N., Smulders, Y., Tiberi, M., van der Worp, H. B., van Dis, I., Verschuren, W. M. M., & Binno, S. (2016). 2016 European guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: The sixth joint task force on the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (constituted by representatives of 10 societies and by invited experts) developed with the special contribution of the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation (EACPR). *European Heart Journal, 37*(29), 2315-2381. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw106
- Raaijmakers, L. G., Hamers, F. J., Martens, M. K., Bagchus, C., de Vries, N. K., & Kremers, S. P. (2013). Perceived facilitators and barriers in diabetes care: A qualitative study among health care professionals in the Netherlands. *BMC Family Practice*, 14, 114. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2296-14-114
- Revalidatiecommissie Nederlandse Vereniging Voor Cardiologie/Nederlandse Hartstichting. (2011). Multidisciplinaire Richtlijn Hartrevalidatie 2011. Retrieved October 20, 2021, from https://harteraad.nl/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Multidisciplinaire-Richtlijn-Hartrevalidatie.pdf
- Riley, R., Coghill, N., Montgomery, A., Feder, G., & Horwood, J. (2016). Experiences of patients and healthcare professionals of NHS cardiovascular health checks: A qualitative study. *Journal of Public Health*, 38(3), 543-551. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdv136
- Ross, J., Stevenson, F., Lau, R., & Murray, E. (2016). Factors that influence the implementation of e-health: A systematic review of systematic reviews (an update). *Implementation Science*, 11(1), 146. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-016-0510-7
- Smith, E., Bradbury, K., Scott, L., Steele, M., Little, P., & Yardley, L. (2017). Providing online weight management in Primary Care: A mixed methods process evaluation of healthcare practitioners' experiences of using and supporting patients using POWeR. *Implementation Science*, 12(1), 69. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-017-0616-7
- Stuij, M. (2018). 'Physical activity, that's a tricky subject.' Experiences of health care professionals with physical activity in type 2 diabetes care. BMC Health Services Research, 18(1), 297. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3122-6
- Tonnon, S. C., Proper, K. I., van der Ploeg, H. P., Westerman, M. J., Sijbesma, E., & van der Beek, A. J. (2014). A qualitative study of the anticipated barriers and facilitators to the implementation of a lifestyle intervention in the Dutch construction industry. BMC Public Health, 14, 1317. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-1317
- van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E., Nijland, N., van Limburg, M., Ossebaard, H. C., Kelders, S. M., Eysenbach, G., & Seydel, E. R. (2011). A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 13(4), e111. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1672
- Walsh, D. M., Moran, K., Cornelissen, V., Buys, R., Cornelis, N., & Woods, C. (2018). Electronic health physical activity behavior change intervention to self-manage cardiovascular disease: Qualitative exploration of patient and health professional requirements. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(5), e163. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9822
- Wilkins, E., Wilson, L., Wickramasinghe, K., Bhatnagar, P., Leal, J., Luengo-Fernandez, R., Burns, R., Rayner, M., & Townsend, N. (2017). European Cardiovascular Disease Statistics 2017. European Heart Network. Retrieved August 13, 2019, from https://ehnheart. org/cvd-statistics/cvd-statistics-2017.html

Facilitators of and barriers to lifestyle support and eHealth solutions

World Health Organization. (2017). Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). Retrieved February 7, 2019, from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds)



C

LIFESTYLE SUPPORT PREFERENCES OF PATIENTS WITH CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES: WHAT LIFESTYLE SUPPORT MIGHT WORK BEST FOR WHOM?

This chapter is published in PEC Innovation as:

Cohen Rodrigues, T. R., Reijnders, T., de Buisonjé, D. R., Breeman, L. D., van den Broek, I., Janssen, V. R., Kraaijenhagen, R. A., Atsma, D. E., & Evers, A. W. M. (2022). Lifestyle support preferences of patients with cardiovascular diseases: What lifestyle support might work best for whom? *PEC Innovation*, 100071.

ABSTRACT

Background: Lifestyle support is essential in preventing and treating cardiovascular diseases (CVD), and eHealth may be an easy and affordable solution to provide this support. However, CVD patients vary in their ability and interest to use eHealth. This study investigates demographic characteristics determining CVD patients' online and offline lifestyle support preferences.

Methods: We used a cross-sectional study design. 659 CVD patients (Harteraad panel) completed our questionnaire. We assessed demographic characteristics and preferred lifestyle support type (coach, eHealth, family/friends, self-supportive).

Results: Respondents mostly preferred being self-supportive (n=179, 27.2%), and a coach in a group or individually (n=145, 22.0%; n=139, 21.1%). An app/internet to work independently (n=89, 13.5%) or being in touch with other CVD patients (n=44, 6.7%) was least preferred. Men were more likely to prefer being supported by family/friends (p=.016) or self-supportive (p<.001), while women preferred a coach individually or via an app/internet (p<.001). Older patients mostly preferred self-support (p=.001). Patients with low social support were more likely to prefer being coached individually (p<.001), but not support from family/friends (p=.002).

Conclusion: Men and older patients are more interested in being self-supportive, and patients with lower levels of social support could need extra support outside their social network. eHealth could provide a solution, but attention should be paid to spike interest for digital interventions among certain groups.

Keywords: cardiovascular diseases; cardiac care; patient perspectives; lifestyle; eHealth; digital health; self-management

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are a major health problem. Within the Netherlands, one out of ten people suffer from CVD, and a quarter of all deaths in 2019 were caused by CVD (de Boer et al., 2020b). Similar patterns can be observed globally, as 32% of worldwide deaths were CVD-related (WHO, 2021). However, studies show that new CVD incidents could partly be prevented by a good diet, sufficient physical activity, sleep, and not smoking (Piepoli et al., 2016; Wilkins et al., 2017). The positive effects of engaging in a healthy lifestyle are comparable to medication intake (lestra et al., 2005), but many CVD patients have an unhealthy lifestyle (Kotseva et al., 2019). Therefore, lifestyle interventions are recommended by national and international guidelines (Hartstichting, 2011; Piepoli et al., 2016). Within the Dutch context, all CVD patients are referred by their cardiologist to follow cardiac rehabilitation directly after hospital discharge (Hartstichting, 2011). Cardiac rehabilitation consists of physical goals (e.g. improving exercise capacity), psychological goals (e.g. improving emotional wellbeing), social goals (e.g. going back to work), and improving risk behaviours (e.g. physical activity, nutrition, smoking) (Hartstichting, 2011).

Despite efforts to improve their lifestyle during cardiac rehabilitation, many patients experience difficulties to maintain a healthy lifestyle once they return to their everyday life (Janssen et al., 2013; Ter Hoeve et al., 2015). But even though long-term lifestyle support is important, there are barriers in the healthcare domain that may hinder patients from getting this support, such as a lack of time, financial resources, or experience with lifestyle support among healthcare professionals (e.g. Brotons et al., 2005; Jallinoja et al., 2007; Janskink et al., 2010). As a solution, patients are increasingly frequently offered tele-rehabilitation, in which lifestyle support can be offered with the use of eHealth. eHealth can be defined as interactive digital tools used to provide either remote support (e.g. by a healthcare professional) or automated support (e.g. automatically generated feedback) (Barak et al., 2009). Furthermore, eHealth can provide patients with control and a sense of autonomy during the lifestyle intervention (e.g. by providing insight into objective health markers or setting their own goals), and therefore responsibility of their own health (Cohen Rodrigues et al., 2021). eHealth interventions are effective in the prevention and treatment of noncommunicable diseases such as CVD (Beishuizen et al., 2016; Lunde et al., 2018).

However, the willingness of CVD patients to use eHealth varies greatly (Anttila et al., 2019). While some are unwilling to use eHealth due to a lack of skills or interest, others are genuinely interested in using such technology. Identifying these preferences is important as healthcare professionals indicate that the views of their patients are decisive in their decision to use eHealth in their care (Walsh et al., 2018). Many qualitative studies have investigated the views of CVD patients on self-management and eHealth (e.g. Qui et al., 2020; Vosbergen et al., 2013; Walsh et al., 2018). These studies show that patients recognise their own responsibility

and role in improving their health, but at the same time need support to achieve a feeling of control over their health (e.g., to help motivate them). However, a quantitative approach investigating patients' needs for different types of lifestyle support is missing. Furthermore, given that patients' needs related to lifestyle support are context-dependent, it would be important to investigate such preferences in the Dutch cardiac care context (van Gemert-Pijnen et al., 2011).

In this study, we will elaborate on a previous study (Anttila et al., 2019) by not only investigating CVD patients' lifestyle support preferences, but also what demographic variables predict these. Furthermore, we will not only ask patients' whether they would like to use eHealth or not, but also further specify the type of eHealth or face-to-face intervention (e.g. individually or in a group) they would prefer. Our research question is therefore "What demographic characteristics predict patients' lifestyle support preferences?" More knowledge about patients' preferences could help provide them the type of lifestyle support that fits their needs, while overcoming abovementioned barriers in the healthcare domain.

METHOD

Design and Sample

We used a cross-sectional study design. People were recruited via the Dutch Harteraad Patient Panel, the official national Dutch CVD patients' association. The panel consists of 2600 members, who are either a patient diagnosed with a heart or vascular disease, or are a close relative to a CVD patient. On a regular basis, the members of the panel receive questionnaires from healthcare professionals, researchers and policymakers to investigate their experiences with cardiovascular health. We included people of 18 years and older who had been diagnosed with one or multiple heart disease(s) (diseases related to the heart, e.g. coronary heart disease), vascular disease(s) (diseases related to the blood vessels, e.g. peripheral artery disease), or both. Panel members who were a close relative to a CVD patient were excluded.

A priori power calculations (Faul et al., 2007) were based on the whole questionnaire, which included questions for multiple research projects (see Procedure and measures), and therefore multiple types of analyses. These calculations showed a required number of 550 respondents, but we continued recruiting after this number as the panel also consisted of close relatives (which would be excluded afterwards) to ensure a sufficient sample size. Respondents were not compensated for their participation. Of the 2600 members who were invited, 792 filled out (part of) the questionnaire. Of this number, 133 respondents were excluded as they were a close relative. Post-hoc power calculations (Faul et al., 2007) based on a logistic regression analysis with an alpha of .05 and a power of .80 showed that this number was high enough to find an effect of demographic variables on lifestyle support preferences.

Procedure and measures

The study was approved by the Psychology Research Ethics Committee of Leiden University (2020-03-18-T. Reijnders-V1-2312). An email was sent by the Harteraad, inviting respondents to fill out the online questionnaire. After reading and agreeing to the online consent form, respondents were asked whether they were a CVD patient or a close relative to a patient. Next, we asked about the type of CVD (heart or vascular disease), and to complete several general demographic questions (gender, age, education, income, level of social support). All questions were selected and formulated by multiple researchers, and both professionals and experts in the field of CVD. Given the length of the questionnaire and to limit the burden on the patients, we decided to measure these demographics with a single item for each variable. The responses to the demographic variables education and income were transformed into a categorical variables with the categories low, middle and high (CBS, 2019; Nagelhout et al., 2012; Reinwand et al., 2018).

Next, we asked respondents about the type of lifestyle support they would ("If you would start working on your lifestyle, what kind of support would you prefer? Multiple answers are possible."). Respondents could choose one or multiple of the following options: (1) self-supportive (without support from a coach, app or family or friends), (2) support by a coach, in a group on location, (3) support by a coach, individually on location, (4) support by a coach via an app or internet, (5) support by family and friends, (6) working independently via an app or internet without coach, or (7) being in touch with other CVD patients via an app or internet. The question and response options were replicated from a large scale study about the evaluation of an eHealth intervention for cardiovascular disease patients (part of the BENEFIT project (Breeman et al., 2021). The responses to the lifestyle support preference question were transformed into binary variables, indicating whether respondents had selected the particular support type or not. This resulted in 7 variables for each individual lifestyle support type.

The remainder of the questionnaire concerned questions relevant for related research projects (preferences with regard to financial incentives for health behaviour change). At the end of the questionnaire, respondents were debriefed and thanked for their participation. They were provided with a short summary of the results of the study a few weeks afterwards.

Analyses

To analyse the relationship between demographic characteristics and lifestyle support preferences, we conducted subgroup analyses with five separate analyses. We ran chi-square tests of independence with the demographic predictors gender, education, and income, and univariate logistic regression analyses with the predictors age and social support. Preference for being self-supportive, support by a coach in a group, by a coach individually, by a coach via an app or internet, support by family and friends, working independently via an app or internet, and having contact with other CVD patients via an app or internet were the seven outcome variables. Next, to investigate the relative importance of the predictors, we ran multivariate logistic regression models including all 5 demographic predictors. Again, one of the 7 support types was added as outcome variables.

RESULTS

Descriptives

A total of 792 respondents filled out our questionnaire. Of this sample, 133 respondents indicated to be a close relative to a patient and therefore excluded. 659 respondents had once in their lifetime been diagnosed with a heart disease, vascular disease, or both, and were therefore included in our analyses. The mean age was 66 years old (SD = 11.20), and 65% of the respondents were men. Half of the respondents (49.8%) had a high level of education (29.7% middle, and 20.3% low level), and a third of the respondents (35.4%) had a high income (42.2% middle, and 22.5% low income).

	CVD patients (N = 659)
Age (years), M (SD)	66.08 (11.20)
Gender, n(%)	
Female	230 (34.9)
Male	429 (65.1)
Education, n(%)	
Low	134 (20.3)
Middle	196 (29.7)
High	327 (49.8)

Table 1. Demographics (means (SD) or frequencies (%)).

Table 1. Continued

	CVD patients (N = 659)
Age (years), M (SD)	66.08 (11.20)
Income, n(%)	
Low (<= €1500)	148 (22.5)
Middle (€1501 - €2500)	278 (42.2)
High (>= €2500)	233 (35.4)
Family status, n(%)	
No partner	143 (21.7)
Partner, living apart	19 (2.9)
Partner, living together	497 (75.4)
Disease status, n(%)	
Heart disease	343 (52.1)
Vascular disease	149 (22.6)
Both heart and vascular disease	167 (25.3)

Looking at the preferred type of lifestyle support of the total sample, a majority of the respondents would prefer to be self-supportive, without a coach, an app or internet, or family and friends (n = 179, 27.2%), followed by being supported by a coach (face-to-face) in a group (n = 145, 22.0%) or individually (n = 139, 21.1%). The least preferred types of lifestyle support were using an app or internet to work independently on one's lifestyle (n = 89, 13.5%) or to be in touch with other CVD patients (n = 44, 6.7%). See Figure 1 for the frequencies of all support types.

Figure 1. Lifestyle support preferences, from most frequently to least frequently chosen.



3

Demographic variables predicting lifestyle support preferences

All the results discussed below can be found in Table 2.

Gender

Women were more likely to prefer being supported by a coach individually $(\chi 2(1) = 13,715, p < .001)$, or by a coach via an app or internet $(\chi 2(1) = 22.158, p < .001)$. Men were more likely to prefer being supported by friends and family $(\chi 2(1) = 5.826, p = .016)$, or to be self-supportive, without coach, app/internet or family/friends $(\chi 2(1) = 12.802, p < .001)$. We found no differences in gender for the preference of being supported by a coach in a group, working independently via an app or internet, or having contact with CVD patients via an app or internet.

Age

If age increased with one year, the likelihood of preferring being supported by a coach, in a group decreased with 1.8% ($\chi 2(1) = 5.168$, p = .023), by a coach, individually decreased with 4.0% ($\chi 2(1) = 25,557$, p < .001), by a coach via an app or internet decreased with 3.5% ($\chi 2(1) = 15.062$, p < .001). However, if age increased with one year the likelihood of preferring to be self-supportive, without coach, app/internet or family/friends increased with 2.9% ($\chi 2(1) = 11.468$, p = .001). We found no significant relationship between age and working independently via an app or internet, having contact with CVD patients via an app or internet, or being supported by friends and family.

Education and Income

We found no significant relationships between education level (low, middle, high) or income level (low, middle, high) and any of the lifestyle support types.

Social support

If social support increased with one unit, likelihood of preferring being supported by a coach individually decreased with 30.1% ($\chi 2(1) = 20.938$, p < .001), while the likelihood of preferring being supported by friends and family increased with 39.3% ($\chi 2(1) = 9.423$, p = .002). We found no significant relationships between social support and being supported by a coach in a group, by a coach via an app or internet, working independently via an app or internet, having contact with CVD patients via an app or internet, or being self-supportive, without a coach, app/internet or family/friends.

Overall predictive model including all demographic variables

To check the relative importance of the predictors, we conducted multivariate logistic regressions with all demographic variables included. These analyses showed that all demographic variables were only significantly predictive for the preference of being self-supportive ($\chi^2(7) = 25.476$, p = .001), supported by

a coach individually ($\chi 2(7) = 45.185$, p < .001), by a coach via an app or internet ($\chi 2(7) = 31.665$, p < .001), and by friends and family ($\chi 2(7) = 14.813$, p = .038).

Men (p = .005), with a higher age (p = .017) and a middle income (compared to a low income; p = .037) were most likely to be self-supportive. This is in line with the univariate analyses, only with the addition of a middle income. Younger patients (p < .001) with a lower level of social support (p < .001) were most likely to prefer support by a coach individually. Patients with a higher level of social support (p = .014) were most likely to prefer support by family and friends. Women (p = .001) with a younger age (p = .010) were most likely to prefer support by a coach via an app or internet. These results are all in line with the univariate analyses. All results of the multivariate logistic regressions can be found in Appendix 1.

Table 2. Univo preferences.	ariate log	jistic regr	ession (and Chi	square	e cross tc	Ibulation	n analyse	es of dem	ographic	variable	predict	ors on lif	festyle s	support
	Gender			Age		Educatio	Ę			Income				Social s	upport
	Male (N=429)	Female (N=230)				Low (N=134)	Middle (N=196)	High (N=327)		Low (N=148)	Middle (N=278)	High (N=233)			
Self- supportive	136 (31.7%)	43 (18.7%)	x2(1) = 12.802, p < .001**	Exp(B) = 1.029	x2(1) = 11.468, <i>p</i> = .001**	39 (29.1%)	54 (27.6%)	86 (26.3%)	χ2(2) = .390, p = .823	42 (28.4%)	67 (24.1%)	70 (30.0%)	x2(2) = 2.405, p = .300	Exp(B) = 1.165	χ2(1) = 3.625, p = .057
Coach in a group	85 (19.8%)	60 (26.1%)	x2(1) = 3.434, p = .064	Exp(B) = .982	x2(1) = 5.168, <i>p</i> = .023*	20 (14.9%)	46 (23.5%)	78 (23.9%)	χ2(2) = 4.820, p = .090	33 (22.3%)	66 (23.7%)	46 (19.7%)	х2(2) = 1.191, р = .551	Exp(B) = .955	χ2(l) = .3ll, p = .577
Coach individually	72 (16.8%)	67 (29.0%)	x2(1) = 13,715, p < .001**	Exp(B) = .960	x2(l) = 25.557, <i>p</i> < .001**	27 (20.1%)	42 (21.4%)	69 (21.1%)	χ2(2) = 0.82, p = .960	37 (25.0%)	55 (19.8%)	47 (20.2%)	x2(2) = 1.762, p = .414	Exp(B) = .695	x2(1) = 20.938, p < .001**
Coach via an app or internet	45 (10.5%)	56 (24.3%)	x2(1) = 22.158, p < .001**	Exp(B) = .965	x2(1) = 15.062, <i>p</i> < .001**	16 (11.9%)	30 (15.3%)	55 (16.8%)	χ2(2) = 1.740, р = .419	25 (16.9%)	48 (17.3%)	28 (15.3%)	x2(2) = 3.052, p = .217	Exp(B) = .887	χ2(1) = 1.697, p = .193
Friends and family	75 (17.5%)	24 (10.4%)	x2(1) = 5.826, p = .016*	Exp(B) = 1.015	x2(1) = 2.070, <i>p</i> = .150	21 (15.7%)	29 (14.8%)	49 (15.0%)	χ2(2) = 0.051, p = .975	18 (12.2%)	47 (16.9%)	34 (14.6%)	x2(2) = 1.755, p = .416	Exp(B) = 1.393	x2(1) = 9.423, p = .002*
Indepen- dently via an app or internet	54 (12.6%)	35 (15.2%)	x2(1) = .887, p = .346	Exp(B) = .989	x2(1) = 1.143, <i>p</i> = .285	18 (13.4%)	18 (9.2%)	53 (16.2%)	χ2(2) = 5.165, p = .076	17 (11.5%)	35 (12.6%)	37 (15.9%)	x2(2) = 1.840, p = .398	Exp(B) = .845	x2(1) = 3.060, <i>p</i> = .080
Contact with CVD patients via app or internet	26 (6.1%)	18 (7.8%)	x2(1) = .749, p = .387	Exp(B) = .979	x2(1) = 2.770, p = .096	9 (6.7%)	17 (8.7%)	18 (5.5%)	χ2(2) = 1.969, p = .374	11 (7.4%)	23 (8.3%)	10 (4.3%)	x2(2) = 3.400, p = .183	Exp(B) = .792	χ2(1) = 3.359, p = .067

* p < .05, ** p < .001

Chapter 3

58

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Discussion

We aimed to discover the lifestyle support preferences of CVD patients, specified by demographic characteristics. We found that the majority of the patients preferred being self-supportive when working on one's lifestyle, followed by being supported by a coach. The least preferred options were using eHealth independently or to being in touch with other CVD patients. More specifically, women were most likely to prefer individual coaching, either in a face-to-face setting or via an eHealth tool. Men on the other hand were most likely to prefer either support from family and friends, or be self-supportive when working on their lifestyle, without any support from a coach, eHealth, or family and friends. Younger patients were more likely to prefer support from a coach, either faceto-face individually or in a group, or via an eHealth tool, while older patients were more likely to prefer being self-supportive. Patients who indicated to have lower levels of social support were more likely to prefer individual face-to-face support from a coach, but less likely to prefer support from family and friends.

The high preference for being self-supportive may be explained through several factors. Firstly, the majority of our sample consisted of men (65.1%) and our subgroup analyses showed that men seem to be less interested in lifestyle support from a coach or digital tools. This finding is in line with studies showing a gender difference in health seeking behaviours (Yousaf et al., 2015), and that men perceive traditional lifestyle interventions as more suitable for women (Gavarkovs et al., 2016). As especially men have an increased risk of developing CVD and ending up in cardiac rehabilitation compared to women (De Boer et al., 2020b; Virani et al., 2020), it would be important to make lifestyle support more attractive for them. It would be important to spike this interest, as lifestyle interventions are effective in improving CVD risk factors (Janssen et al., 2013). Although men currently show a lack of interest for eHealth, digital tools could be the solution to increase men's interest for lifestyle support. As eHealth can be tailored to individual needs (Krebs et al., 2010), it is more capable than traditional face-to-face lifestyle interventions to meet men's wishes and needs, and thus to make the intervention more attractive to them. Especially as men generally have greater technological affinity (Zhang et al., 2014), such possibilities would be worthwhile to consider. Given our results, another possibility would be to engage family and friends in the lifestyle improvement of men. A study shows that healthcare professionals do recognise the involvement of family members in practice (Birtwistle et al., 2021). Family can help translate healthy lifestyle advice from the consultation room to the home environment, or can help regulate the patient's lifestyle behaviour. Family and friends are an important factor in the behaviour change process and stimulate intervention adherence (Brandt et al., 2018; Miller et al., 2013). The social network could therefore be employed

in behaviour change interventions, not only by using the direct network of the patient, but also by creating one in a digital environment (Latkin et al., 2015). Another explanation for the high preference for being self-supportive could be because of our sample. Members of the Harteraad panel represent a group of patients who are likely to have already underwent cardiac rehabilitation, who are more empowered and self-aware of their disease and its consequences. As they probably already learned about lifestyle management, they would be less likely to need any support. It would be interesting for future research to investigate whether CVD patients' lifestyle support preferences differ in the pre- and post-cardiac rehabilitation phase.

Older patients also indicated to be less interested in lifestyle support from a coach, which could be explained by physical restrictions to engage in physical activity (de Boer et al., 2020a). As older patients might experience regular interventions as too physically challenging, or might have physical difficulties to even reach the professional's facilities, they could be less willing to engage in lifestyle support. Again, despite their current lack of interest, tailoring through eHealth could also be useful to promote lifestyle support among older patients (Aalbers et al., 2011). Using eHealth's tailoring capabilities to adapt programmes to older patients' individual physical capabilities could increase their acceptance of lifestyle support, and help those older patients' who have difficulties in reaching the cardiac rehabilitation facilities. It would be worthwhile to consider offering eHealth to an older target population, given that studies show that eHealth interventions are effective in reducing cardiac risk factors among an older people (Beishuizen et al., 2016). Furthermore, older people benefit from a good social environment while working on their lifestyle (Chaudhury et al., 2016). Online tools could therefore be useful for them to get in touch with peers to help them engage in healthy behaviours. Nevertheless, our results indicate that there remains a need to increase the attractiveness of digital tools for an older target population to address their personal needs.

Furthermore, our findings with regard to social support are in line with previous studies. These show that patients with low levels of social support generally have more severe cardiac symptoms, but are also less adherent to interventions (McBrien et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2013). The support of a coach could therefore be particularly important for them. However, although other studies indicate that the social environment could be an important contributor to successful behaviour change (Brandt et al., 2018; McBrien et al., 2017; Miller et al., 2013), our results suggest that patients with lower levels of social support are less likely to prefer support from family and friends. This could be due to the lower availability of family and friends to do so. In that case, creating a social support group (e.g. in a digital environment) could be a solution (Latkin et al., 2016). It would be important though to further investigate whether patients with lower levels of social support would be interested in such forms of lifestyle interventions.

Finally, with regard to the use of eHealth, it is interesting to see that there is a higher preference for the options in which a coach is involved, compared to the option in which eHealth is used either independently, or with other CVD patients. This result is in line with those of previous studies focused on eHealth interventions, which show that the presence of human support is positively related to intervention effectiveness and adherence (Etzelmueller et al., 2020; Karyotaki et al., 2018; Richards & Richardson, 2012). These findinas could be due to a need of a relationship between patient and professional (Brandt et al., 2018), which is called the 'working alliance' in clinical terms (Hatcher & Barends, 2006). Studies show that a good working alliance is related to intervention adherence and effectiveness in face-to-face settings (Goldberg et al., 2013; Martin et al., 2000), but also within eHealth interventions (Flückiger et al., 2018; Sucala et al., 2012). As eHealth is becoming increasingly relevant, for example due to the recent COVID-19 pandemic (Bokolo, 2021), it is not unlikely that it will also be increasingly used within cardiac rehabilitation. However, our results show that it remains important to combine eHealth with human attention and support to meet the needs of CVD patients.

Although we had a large number of respondents, and therefore a good representation of the CVD population, a limitation of our study was its digital nature. Although the gender distribution and age of our sample largely corresponds with those of the general CVD population (see e.g. De Boer et al., 2020b), it could be that mostly patients with digital affinity responded to our survey. Future studies could investigate lifestyle support preferences in face-to-face settings (e.g. rehabilitation centres), increasing the chances of including patients with low digital literacy. Furthermore, as mentioned previously, the Harteraad panel consists of CVD patients who are likely to have already underwent cardiac rehabilitation. We would advise future researchers to include CVD patients who did not start rehabilitation yet, to investigate how this might influence their lifestyle support preferences. Finally, although our questionnaire was developed with the expertise of researchers, professionals and experts in the field of CVD, our questions have not been tested for reliability and validity. We would advise future studies to develop valid and reliable measures to assess lifestyle support preferences.

Innovation

Our study contributes to the innovation of cardiac rehabilitation by not only investigating CVD patients' lifestyle support preferences, but also what demographic variables predict these. Furthermore, we gained more specific knowledge about the type of eHealth or face-to-face intervention they would prefer. While the findings show that there is a need to increase the attractiveness of digital tools for older men, we also found that younger women are more positive about using eHealth. The increasing development and use of tele-revalidation could ensure that the needs of underrepresented groups within cardiac care (e.g. younger women) will be met by providing lifestyle support (which is often still provided face-to-face in a group setting) in a different way. Furthermore, although changes in society ask for an increasing use of eHealth (e.g. Bokolo, 2021), our findings show that human contact remains essential during these innovations. The findings could be applied in the provision of patient-centred care, and help collaborate patients and professionals in the provision of a lifestyle intervention that best fits the individual. For example, our findings could help professionals working in cardiac care provide the right type of lifestyle support to their patients, and eHealth developers in the innovation of lifestyle interventions that meet the needs and wishes of patients themselves. This would increase the attractiveness of lifestyle for CVD patients, leading to healthier lifestyles, and therefore a lower risk of future cardiac events.

CONCLUSION

To optimise lifestyle interventions as prevention and treatment of CVD, we investigated CVD patients' preferences with regard to lifestyle support. Men and older patients are generally more interested in being self-supportive while working on their lifestyle, and patients with lower levels of social support might be in need of extra support outside their social network. As lifestyle interventions are effective in improving CVD risk factors, it would be important lifestyle support more attractive for older men. eHealth could potentially provide a solution, but attention should be paid to spike their interest for digital interventions. This knowledge could help to provide patients the right type of lifestyle support, and to further investigate how to reach patients for whom current forms of support are not yet attractive enough. Based on our findings, future studies could focus on the role of comorbidities, patient-provider communication, the content of lifestyle support, and emotional factors within lifestyle and the lifestyle support for people with CVD.

REFERENCES CHAPTER 3

- Aalbers, T., Baars, M. A. E., & Rikkert, M. O. (2011). Characteristics of effective internet-mediated interventions to change lifestyle in people aged 50 and older: A systematic review. Ageing Research Reviews, 10(4), 487-497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2011.05.001
- Anttila, M. R., Kivistö, H., Piirainen, A., et al. (2019). Cardiac rehabilitees' technology experiences before remote rehabilitation: Qualitative study using a grounded theory approach. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 21(2), e10985. https://doi.org/10.2196/10985
- Barak, A., Klein, B., & Proudfoot, J. G. (2009). Defining internet-supported therapeutic interventions. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 38(1), 4-17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-009-9130-7
- Beishuizen, C. R., Stephan, B. C., van Gool, W. A., et al. (2016). Web-based interventions targeting cardiovascular risk factors in middle-aged and older people: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *18*(3), e55. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.5218
- Birtwistle, S. B., Jones, I., Murphy, R., Gee, I., & Watson, P. M. (2021). Family support for physical activity post-myocardial infarction: A qualitative study exploring the perceptions of cardiac rehabilitation practitioners. *Nursing and Health Sciences*, 23(1), 227-236. https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12806
- Bokolo, A. J. (2021). Application of telemedicine and eHealth technology for clinical services in response to COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Technology*, 11(2), 359-366. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12553-020-00516-4
- Brandt, C. J., Søgaard, G. I., Clemensen, J., Søndergaard, J., & Nielsen, J. B. (2018). Determinants of successful eHealth coaching for consumer lifestyle changes: Qualitative interview study among health care professionals. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(7), e237. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9791
- Breeman, L. D., Keesman, M., Atsma, D. E., et al. (2021). A multi-stakeholder approach to eHealth development: Promoting sustained healthy living among cardiovascular patients. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 147, 104364. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2020.104364
- Brotons, C., Björkelund, C., Bulc, M., et al. (2005). Prevention and health promotion in clinical practice: The views of general practitioners in Europe. *Preventive Medicine*, 40(5), 595-601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.07.020
- Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek (CBS). (2019). Opleidingsniveau. Retrieved 30 September, 2021, from https://www.cbs.nl/nl-nl/nieuws/2019/33/verschil-levensverwachting-hoog-en-laagopgeleid-groeit/opleidingsniveau
- **Chaudhury,** H., Campo, M., Michael, Y., & Mahmood, A. (2016). Neighbourhood environment and physical activity in older adults. *Social Science & Medicine, 149*, 104-113. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.12.011
- **Cohen Rodrigues**, T. R., De Buisonjé, D. R., Keesman, M., et al. (2021). Facilitators of and barriers to lifestyle support and eHealth solutions: Interview study among health care professionals working in cardiac care. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 23(10), e25646. https://doi.org/10.2196/25646

- **De Boer**, P. S., van Deursen, A. J. A. M., & van Rompay, T. J. L. (2020a). Internet-of-things skills among the general population: Task-based performance test using activity trackers. *JMIR Human Factors*, 7(4), e22532. https://doi.org/10.2196/22532
- De Boer, A. R., van Dis, I., Wimmers, R. H., Vaartjes, I., & Bots, M. L. (2020b). Hart- en vaatziekten in Nederland, 2020. Hartstichting. Retrieved 14 October, 2021, from https:// www.hartstichting.nl/getmedia/74a18eeb-e602-41bf-8a2c-c3932108e89b/cijfers-hart-vaatziekten-nederland-2020.pdf
- **Etzelmueller,** A., Vis, C., Karyotaki, E., et al. (2020). Effects of internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy in routine care for adults in treatment for depression and anxiety: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 22*(8), e18100. https://doi.org/10.2196/18100
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175-191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146
- Flückiger, C., Del Re, A. C., Wampold, B. E., & Horvath, A. O. (2018). The alliance in adult psychotherapy: A meta-analytic synthesis. *Psychotherapy (Chic)*, 55(4), 316-340. https://doi.org/10.1037/pst0000172
- Gavarkovs, A. G., Burke, S. M., & Petrella, R. J. (2016). Engaging men in chronic disease prevention and management programs: A scoping review. *American Journal of Men's Health, 10*(6), 145-154. https://doi.org/10.1177/155798
- Goldberg, S. B., Davis, J. M., & Hoyt, W. T. (2013). The role of therapeutic alliance in mindfulness interventions: Therapeutic alliance in mindfulness training for smokers. *Journal* of Clinical Psychology, 69(9), 936-950. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.21973
- Hatcher, R. L., & Barends, A. W. (2006). How a return to theory could help alliance research. Psychological Psychotherapy, 43(3), 292. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-3204.43.3.292
- Iestra, J. A., Kromhout, D. M., Van der Schouw, Y. T., Grobbee, D. E., Boshuizen, H. C., & Van Staveren, W. A. (2005). Effect size estimates of lifestyle and dietary changes on allcause mortality in coronary artery disease patients: A systematic review. *Circulation*, 112, 924–934. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.503995
- Jallinoja, P., Absetz, P., Kuronen, R., et al. (2007). The dilemma of patient responsibility for lifestyle change: Perceptions among primary care physicians and nurses. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care, 25*(4), 244–249. https://doi.org/10.1080/02813430701691778
- Jansink, R., Braspenning, J., van der Weijden, T., Elwyn, G., & Grol, R. (2010). Primary care nurses struggle with lifestyle counseling in diabetes care: A qualitative analysis. *BMC Family Practice, 11*, 41. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-11-41
- Janssen, V., De Gucht, V., van Exel, H., & Maes, S. (2013). Beyond resolutions? A randomized controlled trial of a self-regulation lifestyle programme for post-cardiac rehabilitation patients. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology, 20*, 431–441. https://doi.org/10.1177/2047487312441728
- Karyotaki, E., Ebert, D. D., Donkin, L., et al. (2018). Do guided internet-based interventions result in clinically relevant changes for patients with depression? An individual participant data meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review, 63*, 80-92. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cpr.2018.06.007

- Kotseva, K., De Backer, G., De Bacquer, D., et al. (2019). Lifestyle and impact on cardiovascular risk factor control in coronary patients across 27 countries: Results from the European Society of Cardiology ESC-EORP EUROASPIRE V registry. *European Journal* of Preventive Cardiology, 26(8), 824-835. https://doi.org/10.1177/2047487318825350
- Krebs, P., Prochaska, J. O., & Rossi, J. S. (2010). A meta-analysis of computer-tailored interventions for health behavior change. *Preventive Medicine*, 51(3-4), 214-221. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.06.004
- Latkin, C. A., & Knowlton, A. R. (2015). Social network assessments and interventions for health behavior change: A critical review. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 41(3), 90-97. https://doi.org/10.1080/08964289.2015.1034645
- Lunde, P., Nilsson, B. B., Bergland, A., Kværner, K. J., & Bye, A. (2018). The effectiveness of smartphone apps for lifestyle improvement in noncommunicable diseases: Systematic review and meta-analyses. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(5), e162. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9751
- Martin, D. J., Garske, J. P., & Davis, M. K. (2000). Relation of the therapeutic alliance with outcome and other variables: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68(3), 438-450. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.3.438
- McBrien, K. A., Naugler, C., Ivers, N., Weaver, R. G., Campbell, D., Desveaux, L., et al. (2017). Barriers to care in patients with diabetes and poor glycemic control – A cross-sectional survey. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(5), e0176135. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0176135
- Miller, T. A., & DiMatteo, M. R. (2013). Importance of family/social support and impact on adherence to diabetic therapy. *Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome and Obesity: Targets and Therapy, 6,* 421. https://doi.org/0.2147/DMSO.S36368
- Nagelhout, G. E., de Korte-de Boer, D., Kunst, A. E., et al. (2012). Trends in socioeconomic inequalities in smoking prevalence, consumption, initiation, and cessation between 2001 and 2008 in the Netherlands. Findings from a national population survey. BMC Public Health, 12(1), 303. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-303
- Piepoli, M. F., Hoes, A. W., Agewall, S., et al. (2016). 2016 European guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: The sixth joint task force on the European society of cardiology and other societies on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. *European Heart Journal*, 37(29), 2315–2381. https://doi.org/10.1093/ eurheartj/ehw106
- Qiu, R., Schick-Makaroff, K., Tang, L., Wang, X., Zhang, Q., & Ye, Z. (2020). Chinese hospitalized cardiovascular patients' attitudes towards self-management: A qualitative study. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, 14, 287-300. https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S236348
- Reinwand, D. A., Crutzen, R., & Zank, S. (2018). Online activities among elder informal caregivers: Results from a cross-sectional study. *Digital Health, 4*, 2055207618779715. https://doi.org/10.1177/2055207618779715
- Revalidatiecommissie Nederlandse Vereniging Voor Cardiologie/Nederlandse Hartstichting. (2011). Multidisciplinaire Richtlijn Hartrevalidatie 2011. Retrieved October 20, 2021, from https://harteraad.nl/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Multidisciplinaire-Richtlijn-Hartrevalidatie.pdf
- Richards, D., & Richardson, T. (2012). Computer-based psychological treatments for depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review, 32*(4), 329-342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.02.004

- Sucala, M., Schnur, J. B., Constantino, M. J., Miller, S. J., Brackman, E. H., & Montgomery, G. H. (2012). The therapeutic relationship in e-therapy for mental health: A systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(4), e110. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2084
- Ter Hoeve, N., Huisstede, B. M., Stam, H. J., van Domburg, R. T., Sunamura, M., & van den Berg-Emons, R. J. (2015). Does cardiac rehabilitation after an acute cardiac syndrome lead to changes in physical activity habits? Systematic review. *Physical Therapy*, 95(2), 167-179. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130509
- van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E., Nijland, N., van Limburg, M., Ossebaard, H. C., Kelders, S. M., Eysenbach, G., & Seydel, E. R. (2011). A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 13(4), e111. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1672
- Virani, S. S., Alonso, A., Benjamin, E. J., et al. (2020). Heart disease and stroke statistics—2020 update: A report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 141(9), e139-e596. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.000000000000757
- Vosbergen, S., Janzen, J., Stappers, P. J., van Zwieten, M. C., Lacroix, J., Idema, K., et al. (2013). A qualitative participatory study to identify experiences of coronary heart disease patients to support the development of online self-management services. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 82(12), 1183-1194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijmedinf.2013.09.001
- Walsh, D. M., Moran, K., Cornelissen, V., Buys, R., Cornelis, N., & Woods, C. (2018). Electronic health physical activity behavior change intervention to self-manage cardiovascular disease: Qualitative exploration of patient and health professional requirements. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(5), e9181. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9181
- Wilkins, E., Wilson, L., Wickramasinghe, K., Bhatnagar, P., Leal, J., Luengo-Fernandez, R., Burns, R., Rayner, M., & Townsend, N. (2017). European Cardiovascular Disease Statistics 2017. European Heart Network. Retrieved August 13, 2019, from https://ehnheart. org/cvd-statistics/cvd-statistics-2017.html
- World Health Organization. (2017). Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). Retrieved February 7, 2019, from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds)
- Yousaf, O., Grunfeld, E. A., & Hunter, M. S. (2015). A systematic review of the factors associated with delays in medical and psychological help-seeking among men. *Health Psychology Review*, 9(2), 264-276. https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2013.840954
- Zhang, X., Guo, X., Lai, K. H., Guo, F., & Li, C. (2014). Understanding gender differences in m-health adoption: A modified theory of reasoned action model. *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 20(1), 39-46. https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2013.0092

CHAPTER 3 | APPENDIX 1

1. Multivariate logistic regression analyses of demographic variables predictors on preference for being self-supportive (without coach, app/internet, or family/friends).

	χ2			df	Р	-value	
Model	25.47	76		7	.(001*	
	В	SE	Wald	P-value	Exp (B)	95% CI f	or Exp (B)
						Lower	Upper
Gender (female)	647	.229	7.969	.005*	.524	.334	.821
Age	.022	.009	5.714	.017*	1.022	1.004	1.041
Education							
Middle (vs. low)	.011	.257	.002	.966	1.011	.611	1.673
High (vs. low)	129	.248	.269	.604	.879	.541	1.430
Income							
Middle (vs. low)	523	.251	4.360	.037*	.593	.363	.968
High (vs. low)	334	.277	1.458	.227	.716	.416	1.231
Social support	.096	.085	1.295	.255	1.101	.933	1.299

CI, confidence interval; *, significant values (p < .05)

2. Multivariate logistic regression analyses of demographic variables predictors on preference for a coach in a group.

	χ2	df	P-value
Model	12.224	7	.093

	В	SE	Wald	P-value	Exp (B)	95% CI	for Exp (B)
						Lower	Upper
Gender (female)	.178	.226	.615	.433	1.194	.766	1.862
Age	014	.009	2.768	.096	.986	.969	1.003
Education							
Middle (vs. low)	.549	.300	3.346	.067	1.732	.691	3.120
High (vs. low)	.642	.289	4.940	.026*	1.900	1.079	3.346
Income							
Middle (vs. low)	.133	.258	.267	.605	1.142	.690	1.893
High (vs. low)	129	.298	.189	.664	.879	.490	1.575
Social support	009	.086	.010	.920	.991	.837	1.174
				()			

3. Multivariate logistic regression analyses of demographic variables predictors on preference for a coach individually.

	χ2			df	P	-value	
Model	45.18	5		7	.0	00*	
	В	SE	Wald	P-value	Exp (B)	95% CI f	or Exp (B)
						Lower	Upper
Gender (female)	.390	.230	2.875	.090	1.476	.941	2.317
Age	035	.009	15.639	.000*	.966	.950	.983
Education							
Middle (vs. low)	126	.293	.185	.667	.882	.497	1.565
High (vs. low)	053	.279	.036	.849	.948	.549	1.639
Income							
Middle (vs. low)	015	.264	.003	.955	.985	.588	1.652
High (vs. low)	.295	.302	.956	.328	1.343	.744	2.425
Social support	318	.083	14.523	.000*	.728	.618	.857

CI, confidence interval; *, significant values (p < .05)

4. Multivariate logistic regression analyses of demographic variables predictors on preference for a coach via an app or internet.

	χ2			df	Р	-value	
Model	31.66	5		7	.()00*	
	В	SE	Wald	P-value	Exp (B)	95% CI f	or Exp (B)
						Lower	Upper
Gender (female)	.870	.256	11.554	.001*	2.386	1.445	3.940
Age	-0.24	.009	6.669	.010*	.976	.958	.994
Education							
Middle (vs. low)	.156	.343	.208	.648	1.169	.597	2.288
High (vs. low)	.376	.323	1.350	.245	1.456	.773	2.744
Income							
Middle (vs. low)	.333	.291	1.317	.251	1.396	.790	2.467
High (vs. low)	.087	.347	.063	.801	1.091	.553	2.155
Social support	010	.099	.010	.921	.990	.816	1.202

5. Multivariate logistic regression analyses of demographic variables predictors on preference for support by family and friends.

	χ2			df	Р	-value	
Model	14.81	3		7	.0)38*	
	В	SE	Wald	P-value	Exp (B)	95% CI f	for Exp (B)
						Lower	Upper
Gender (female)	469	.286	2.675	.102	.626	.357	1.097
Age	.007	.011	.383	.536	1.007	.985	1.029
Education							
Middle (vs. low)	.059	.320	.034	.853	1.061	.567	1.986
High (vs. low)	.034	.305	.013	.910	1.035	.569	1.883
Income							
Middle (vs. low)	.127	.318	.159	.690	1.135	.609	2.117
High (vs. low)	194	.362	.288	.591	.823	.405	1.673
Social support	.291	.118	6.058	.014*	1.338	1.061	1.688

CI, confidence interval; *, significant values (p < .05)

6. Multivariate logistic regression analyses of demographic variables predictors on preference for working independently via an app or internet.

	χ2			df	Р	-value	
Model	13.13	7		7	.C	69	
	В	SE	Wald	P-value	Exp (B)	95% CI f	or Exp (B)
						Lower	Upper
Gender (female)	.278	.272	1.040	.308	1.320	.774	2.251
Age	009	.010	.798	.372	.991	.971	1.011
Education							
Middle (vs. low)	577	.363	2.530	.112	.561	.276	1.144
High (vs. low)	.048	.316	.023	.880	1.049	.565	1.947
Income							
Middle (vs. low)	.242	.330	.538	.463	1.274	.667	2.433
High (vs. low)	.594	.366	2.640	.104	1.811	.885	3.709
Social support	182	.099	3.341	.068	.834	.686	1.013

7. Multivariate logistic regression analyses of demographic variables predictors on preference for having contact with other CVD patients via an app or internet.

	χ2			df	Р	-value	
Model	9.05	7		7	.2	49	
	В	SE	Wald	P-value	Exp (B)	95% CI f	or Exp (B)
						Lower	Upper
Gender (female)	061	.367	.027	.869	.941	.458	1.933
Age	017	.013	1.599	.206	.983	.958	1.009
Education							
Middle (vs. low)	.308	.439	.491	.483	1.360	.575	3.216
High (vs. low)	055	.446	.015	.902	.947	.395	2.268
Income							
Middle (vs. low)	.257	.403	.407	.524	1.293	.587	2.850
High (vs. low)	340	.509	.445	.505	.712	.262	1.932
Social support	196	.130	2.258	.133	.822	.637	1.061
Lifestyle support preferences of patients with cardiovascular diseases



4

EFFECTIVENESS OF HUMAN-SUPPORTED AND SELF-HELP EHEALTH LIFESTYLE INTERVENTIONS FOR PATIENTS WITH CARDIOMETABOLIC RISK FACTORS: A META-ANALYSIS

This chapter is published in Psychosomatic Medicine as:

Cohen Rodrigues, T. R., Breeman, L. D., Kinik, A., Reijnders, T., Dusseldorp, E., Janssen, V. R., Kraaijenhagen, R. A., Atsma, D. E., & Evers, A. W. M. (2023). Effectiveness of human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions for patients with cardiometabolic risk factors: A meta-analysis. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *85*(9), 795-804.

ABSTRACT

Background: eHealth is a useful tool to deliver lifestyle interventions for patients with cardiometabolic diseases. However, there are inconsistent findings about whether these eHealth interventions should be supported by a human professional, or whether self-help interventions are equally effective.

Methods: Databases were searched between January 1995 and October 2021 for randomized controlled trials on cardiometabolic diseases (cardiovascular disease, chronic kidney disease, type 1 and 2 diabetes mellitus) and eHealth lifestyle interventions. A multilevel meta-analysis was used to pool clinical and behavioral health outcomes. Moderator analyses assessed the effect of intervention type (self-help vs. human-supported), dose of human support (minor vs. major part of intervention), and delivery mode of human support (remote vs. blended). 107 papers fulfilled eligibility criteria and 102 unique (*N*=20,781) studies were included.

Results: The analysis showed a positive effect of eHealth lifestyle interventions on clinical and behavioral health outcomes (p<.001). However, these effects were not moderated by intervention type (p=.169), dose (p=.698), or delivery mode of human support (p=.557).

Conclusion: This shows that self-help eHealth interventions are equally effective as human-supported ones in improving health outcomes among cardiometa-bolic disease patients. Future studies could investigate whether higher quality eHealth interventions compensate for a lack of human support.

Keywords: cardiovascular disease; chronic kidney disease; type l diabetes mellitus; type 2 diabetes mellitus; eHealth; lifestyle change; human support

INTRODUCTION

Cardiometabolic diseases, i.e. diseases to the heart, are an increasing threat to patients' health and quality of life (Danaei et al., 2014; WHO, 2021). This includes cardiovascular diseases (CVD) and type 1 and 2 diabetes mellitus (TIDM and T2DM), and comprises of conditions such as chronic kidney disease (CKD). These diseases share similar underlying clinical risk factors, such as adiposity, high blood pressure, cholesterol levels, and blood glucose levels (Ryden et al., 2014; Suckling & Gallagher, 2012). Moreover, these four diseases have similar behavioral risk factors, such as smoking, physical inactivity, unhealthy diet, and use of alcohol, which is why a healthy lifestyle is the preferred management strategy for all (Ryden et al., 2014; Suckling & Gallagher, 2012). Participating in lifestyle interventions can, therefore, improve patients' health and quality of life (Piepoli et al., 2016).

Nevertheless, many patients who have participated in cardiac rehabilitation experience difficulties in maintaining a healthy lifestyle in the long-term (Janssen et al., 2013). Research suggests that the use of home-based interventions is more suitable for durable lifestyle change compared to traditional face-toface interventions (ter Hoeve et al., 2015). For that reason, the implementation of eHealth could be beneficial. eHealth can be defined as the use of information and communication technology, such as the internet, to support or enhance health and health care by means of remote or automated support (Barak et al., 2009). eHealth lifestyle interventions show to be effective in improving cardiometabolic risk factors. For example, eHealth interventions aimed at physical activity or nutrition can improve clinical risk factors such as blood glucose levels (Liang et al., 2011) and blood pressure (Liu et al., 2013), and behavioral risk factors such as fat, fruit and vegetable consumption, and physical activity (Carvalho de Menezes, 2016). Another advantage of eHealth over face-to-face interventions is that the former is easier to implement in a larger and more varied audience. Especially self-help interventions are suitable for widespread implementation, as no human care professional needs to be involved (Barak et al., 2009). Selfhelp interventions could help reduce the workload for care professionals, and the costs of treatment (Srivastava et al., 2015). Furthermore, studies show that eHealth interventions with low or even no involvement of care professionals are effective in improving clinical and behavioral risk factors among people with CVD (Coorey et al., 2018).

Despite these advantages, previous meta-analyses and reviews showed mixed results regarding the effect of self-help interventions through eHealth. Notably, some studies have found higher effect sizes for digital interventions in which the feedback was provided by a human (Lau et al., 2020). This meant that interventions with fully remote human support (Joiner et al., 2017) or those that additionally incorporated face-to-face human support (otherwise called blended interventions) had more effect (i.e., higher effect sizes) than self-help

eHealth interventions without any form of human support. In previous studies, authors have argued that human supported interventions are more effective compared to interventions with only automated feedback because they are tailored to the patient's needs (Lau et al., 2020). Furthermore, human support is found to increase adherence to interventions (Joiner, 2017). In addition, blended interventions would be more effective than fully remote supported interventions because behavior change maintenance is more successful in when they involve face-to-face interactions (Beishuizen et al., 2016). In other studies, however, no differences were found in achieving lifestyle behavior change between human-supported and self-help only lifestyle interventions (Lustria et al., 2013), blended interventions compared to remotely-supported ones (Kloek et al., 2017), and interventions with automated feedback compared to those with human-generated feedback (Webb et al., 2010). These discrepancies in research findings could be explained by the varying 'support dose' (e.g., frequency of contact) within the human-supported interventions. Previous meta-analyses regarding eHealth lifestyle interventions have simply categorized studies into self-help or human-supported, or into blended and remote support. In particular, these meta-analyses made no distinction between the type and channel of human support; This meant that studies in which a clinical psychologist gives daily feedback on assignments, studies in which psychology students give monthly telephone calls based on a script, or studies in which patients have the option to contact a therapist were all treated alike. In contrast, various meta-analyses regarding psychological interventions have looked at these variables in more detail. One of these meta-analyses found that interventions with greater amounts of therapeutic contact encountered lower dropout rates (Pearcy et al., 2016). Other studies found that both administrative support by a layperson and therapeutic support by a professional are equally effective in treating symptoms and preventing dropout (Baumeister et al., 2014; Richards & Richardson, 2012). Similar results have been found in a meta-analysis regarding digital mental health interventions (Leung et al., 2022). Other meta-analyses regarding eHealth interventions revealed that higher intensity of support improves intervention adherence rates (Hoppen et al., 2021; Koelen et al., 2022).

To our knowledge, no other studies have yet focused on the effectiveness of (human-supported and self-help) eHealth lifestyle interventions for multiple cardiometabolic risk factors, or investigated whether the dose of human support in eHealth lifestyle interventions is related to the effectiveness of these interventions. Therefore, the aims of this meta-analysis are: (1) investigating the effectiveness of eHealth lifestyle interventions for people with or at risk of CVD, CKD, T1DM and T2DM on clinical and behavioral health outcomes, (2) investigating whether there is a difference in the effectiveness of human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions on clinical and behavioral health outcomes, and (3) investigating whether moderating factors such as dose and

delivery mode of human support influence the effectiveness of eHealth lifestyle interventions on clinical and behavioral health outcomes.

METHODS

We preregistered our meta-analysis in the PROSPERO database (PROSPERO 2021 CRD42021269263; Cohen Rodrigues et al., 2021). The meta-analysis was conducted in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA; Page et al., 2021).

Search and Study Selection

A systematic literature search was conducted within multiple databases (see Figure 1). With the help of the university's librarian, a search string was created with key search terms related to (1) eHealth, (2) clinical and behavioral outcomes, (3) cardiometabolic diseases, and (4) randomized controlled trials (see Appendix 1 for the full search string). The search was conducted for studies from 1995 (given the increasing use of Internet from that year onward), and was lastly updated on 6 October 2021. After removal of duplicates, titles and abstracts were screened by two of the three independent researchers to identify studies meeting the inclusion criteria. Inconsistencies were resolved in weekly discussions.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria were established with the help of the PICO statement (population, intervention, comparator, outcome; Schardt et al., 2007). Participants of the included studies were required to be (1) 18 years or older, and (2) either have one or more cardiometabolic risk factors, (as determined and specifically mentioned by the authors of the paper) or be diagnosed with CVD, CKD, TIDM or T2DM. Given the primary focus of our study on cardiometabolic patients we decided to, in case of a population with cardiometabolic risk factors only, exclude studies if cardiometabolic patients were explicitly excluded from participation. Furthermore, studies were included if the intervention (3) aimed at improving one or more lifestyle behaviors (physical activity, nutrition, smoking, alcohol intake, sleep), (4) was delivered via eHealth tools such as through a website or mobile-based application (phone, text-messages: videoconferencing could be used, but not as main mode of communication), (5) provided education or skills training (e.g., using behavior change techniques), and (6) was interactive (involving actions of a user and reactions from the program in response to a user's actions). In addition to this, we only included (7) randomized controlled trials, which used as comparator either a passive control (wait-list or usual care), a non-web- or mobile-based intervention, or a less extensive web- or mobile-based intervention. Finally, studies were included if they (8) reported minimally one self-reported or objectively observed clinical (e.g. blood pressure) or behavioral health outcome (e.g., step count), and (9) the full-text was available in English or Dutch. These inclusion and exclusion

criteria were used to check for study eligibility, which was again conducted by two of the three independent researchers. Disagreements were resolved in weekly meetings, and if needed, with the help of a third independent researcher. If two papers reported on the same study, we included the one reporting the outcomes most extensively. After the systematic search, we conducted a forward citation search to find relevant papers that either cited one of our included studies or that were written by one of the authors of our included studies. Finally, we ran a backward citation search to look at articles cited by the authors included in our study. In case original data were not available in the manuscript we contacted the relevant authors in writing to ask for the data. Authors were contacted a maximum of two times over a period of three months.

Data Extraction

A predefined coding form was used to extract the data. We extracted (1) study characteristics, (2) population characteristics at baseline, (3) characteristics of each condition (control and intervention), and (4) self-reported or objectively observed clinical or behavioral outcome data. For the population characteristics, we coded the diagnosis of the participants (CVD, T1DM, T2DM, CKD, at-risk population (without diagnosis, but with cardiometabolic risk factors), or mixed patient population), mean age of the participants per group, percentage of female participants per group, and educational level of the participants per group. For the condition characteristics, we coded the type of control condition (passive or active), intervention length (duration of the intervention in weeks irrespective of pre-post design or longer term follow-ups), the type of intervention (self-help or human-supported), dose of human support (minor or major part of intervention), and delivery mode of human support (remote or blended). Type of intervention was coded as 'self-help" 'if the study investigated an intervention without any involvement from another human coach and could be followed completely independently, and as 'human-supported' if a human coach (healthcare professional or layperson) was involved to support the participant in following the intervention. Dose of human support was coded as 'minor'' if the study investigated an intervention that was delivered through an eHealth tool, which the patient could practice independently or with some additional involvement of a human coach. It was coded as "major" if the study investigated an intervention which was delivered by a human coach, in which eHealth served as an additional tool that supported the human guidance. Delivery mode was coded as "remote" if human support was solely delivered via mediated forms of communication (e.g. text messages), and as "blended" if the human support was delivered both via digital communication tools and in face-to-face settings. For the outcome data, all self-reported or objectively observed clinical (blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight, CVD composite score, physical activity capacity) and behavioral (physical activity behavior, smoking, nutrition, alcohol, sleep and relaxation) outcome data were extracted. We decided to treat physical activity capacity, such as distance walked in a specific amount of time or oxygen uptake during physical effort (VO2max), as a clinical variable and physical activity behavior, such as steps or minutes of physical activity per day, as a behavioral variable. For each outcome variable baseline and follow-up measures, mean differences (pre-post measure within one group), or change scores (difference between control and experimental group) were extracted. In case of multiple intervention conditions, all conditions were extracted, and in case of multiple control conditions, only the least extensive condition was extracted. To assess the methodological quality, we used the latest Cochrane Risk of Bias tool (RoB 2.0) to extract and assess potential risks at study level regarding the randomization process, deviations from intended interventions (effect of assignment), missing outcome data, measurement of the outcome, and selection of the reported result (Sterne et al., 2019). Studies were assessed as "low", "some concerns", or "high" risk of bias in the above mentioned domains. For each study, two of the three independent researchers conducted both the data extraction and risk of bias assessment, and compared their outcomes (interrater reliability of 78%). Possible differences were all resolved in regular meetings, and if needed, with the help of a third independent researcher. Corresponding authors were contacted in case of missing information on key variables.

Statistical Analyses

An important feature differentiating this study from existing meta-analyses on the effectiveness of eHealth lifestyle interventions for cardiometabolic diseases is our use of a multilevel approach. Rather than conducting a meta-analysis for each outcome separately, a three-level model allowed us to combine different outcome variables from the same study as it can deal with interdepency of effect sizes (Assink & Wibbelink, 2016). The analyses were performed with the Metafor package in RStudio (version 1.4.1103). We estimated pooled effects for all clinical and behavioral outcome variables, using a random effects multilevel model (Assink & Wibbelink, 2016). We used a three-level model to take into account that multiple effect sizes can be nested within a sample. This model allows for effect size variance (level 1), nested in effect sizes (level 2), nested in study samples (level 3). Thus, all outcomes of each study were included in the analysis, and coded with the same study ID. For continuous variables, standardized mean differences (Hedges' G) with 95% confidence intervals were calculated (Hedges & Olkin, 1985). For categorical variables, we calculated odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals, and transformed those to standardized mean differences (Polanin & Snilstveit, 2016). Variances were calculated based on the provided standard deviations or confidence intervals (Higgins et al., 2019). In case outcomes were measured at multiple time points, we included the outcome directly measured after the end of the intervention as defined by the studies. The intention was to prevent a large variety in long-term measurements.

We assessed publication bias by inspecting funnel plots and performed an Egger's test (Egger et al., 1997) with the Metafor package in RStudio. Publication bias results from studies reporting statistically or clinical significant results more often than non-significant results (Egger et al., 1997). Hence, the effect sizes of studies included in the meta-analysis can differ from the general effect size if all (including non-significant) studies would be considered. We determined statistical heterogeneity using log-likelihood-ratio tests for both within-study variance (level 2) and between-study variance (level 3) (Assink & Wibbelink, 2016). Additionally, we conducted moderator analyses to assess the effectiveness of self-help and human-supported eHealth lifestyle interventions, and the effect of dose and delivery mode of human support on the effectiveness of eHealth lifestyle interventions on clinical and behavioral health outcomes. For this, the three-level random effects model was extended to a three-level mixed effects model (Assink & Wibbelink, 2016) with the following moderators: type of intervention (self-help vs. human-supported), dose of human support (minor vs. major part of intervention), and delivery mode of human support (remote vs. blended). Furthermore, we conducted a moderator analysis with the risk of bias-scores (low risk of bias, some concerns, and high risk of bias) and study, intervention and population characteristics (control condition type, intervention length, patient age and diagnosis).

RESULTS

Study Selection

The search resulted in 4593 papers without duplicates. After abstract screening, a total of 600 full-texts were screened for eligibility. 498 papers did not meet the eligibility criteria and were, therefore, excluded. Five more papers were identified during the forward search, which resulted in a total of 107 papers fulfilling eligibility criteria, corresponding with 102 unique studies. The study selection process is summarized in Figure 1 (Pages et al., 2021).

Study Characteristics

The 102 studies produced 809 effect sizes, which all reflected the association between the use of an eHealth lifestyle intervention and either a clinical or behavioral outcome. A total of N = 20,781 patients were included in the studies, of which were N = 3428 CVD patients (26 studies), N = 72 T1DM patients (1 study), N = 7.143 T2DM patients (38 studies), N = 365 CKD patients (3 studies), N = 3,648 people at-risk (19 studies), and N = 6,125 patients from a sample with a combination of two or more of the before-mentioned diseases (15 studies).





Sample sizes ranged from 20 to 2724. The mean age of the patients ranged from 35.2 to 75.9 years old. All studies included a combination of female and male patients. The duration of the interventions ranged from 1.5 to 24 months. The majority of the studies investigated the effect of interventions aimed either at physical activity (25), or a combination of multiple lifestyle behaviors (70). 30 investigated interventions (29%) were self-help, while 85 interventions (83%) offered some form of human support. See Appendix 2 for an overview of all studies included in the meta-analysis.

Risk of Bias Assessment & Publication Bias

The methodological quality of the included studies varied, but was overall sufficient. Almost all studies scored 'some concerns' on one of the domains in the Risk of Bias assessment, resulting in a 'some concerns' overall score for the majority of the studies (see Appendix 3). We found that the risk of bias-score did not moderate the association between eHealth lifestyle interventions and clinical and behavioral health outcomes (F(2, 829) = .637, p = .529). This indicates that there were no significant differences in mean effect size between studies with a low risk of bias-, some concerns-, or high risk of bias-score.

Possible publication bias was initially examined by visual inspection of a funnel plot. The funnel plot showed some asymmetry (indicating possible publication bias). Next, we tested funnel plot asymmetry by regressing the standard normal deviation against the estimate's precision (Egger et al., 1997). The analysis confirmed the visual inspection of the funnel plot, and showed that the intercept significantly deviated from zero, t(808) = 3.12, p < .001. This means that there are reasons to believe there is a publication bias for studies on eHealth lifestyle interventions.

Effectiveness of eHealth lifestyle interventions

The overall mean effect size of eHealth lifestyle interventions on clinical and behavioral health outcomes is 0.10 (expressed in Hedges' g; p < .001). A standardized mean difference of 0.10 is considered as small (Cohen, 1988). This indicates that patients with cardiometabolic diseases who follow an eHealth lifestyle intervention show more improvement in clinical and behavioral health outcomes compared to patients in control conditions. The overall mean effect size of eHealth lifestyle interventions on clinical outcomes only, as well as behavioral outcomes only, were 0.09 (p < .001) and 0.13 (p < .001), (see Table 1). We did not find a significant difference between the mean effect sizes of eHealth lifestyle interventions on clinical health outcomes (p = 0.051).

We conducted additional analyses for each outcome category separately. For the clinical outcome measures, we found significant mean effect sizes of eHealth lifestyle interventions on glucose outcomes (0.16, p = .022), weight outcomes (0.12, p = .015), and physical activity capacity outcomes (0.14, p < .001), but not for eHealth lifestyle interventions on blood pressure outcomes, cholesterol outcomes, and composite score outcomes. For the behavioral outcome measures, we found significant mean effect sizes of eHealth lifestyle interventions and physical activity outcomes (0.17, p < .001), and nutrition outcomes (0.13, p = .007), but not for eHealth lifestyle interventions on smoking outcomes, alcohol outcomes, and sleep and relaxation outcomes. See Table 1 for all mean effect sizes of eHealth lifestyle interventions on each outcome category.

Outcome category	Nr. of studies	Nr. of ES	Mean ES (SE)	95% CI	t-Value	<i>p</i> -Value	Within-study variance	Between-study variance
All outcomes	102	809	.100 (.018)	0.065; 0.135	5.635	<.001***	.056***	.014***
Clinical outcomes	92	597	(610.) 980.	0.050; 0.123	4.672	<.001***	.066***	.010**
Blood pressure	49	66	.067 (.042)	-0.016; 0.150	1.597	101.	.034***	.047***
Glucose	55	84	.161 (.069)	0.024; 0.298	2.343	.022*	000	.220***
Cholesterol	44	157	007 (.026)	-0.057; 0.044	-0.270	.788	.003	.016***
Weight	60	138	.117 (.048)	0.023; 0.211	2.463	.015*	.026***	.098***
CVD composite score	б	Ш	.025 (.031)	-0.044; 0.095	0.814	.435	000	000
PA capacity	24	61	.138 (.036)	0.065; 0.211	3.794	<.001***	.022*	000
Behavioral outcomes	60	212	(180.) 181.	0.069; 0.193	4.165	<.001***	.020***	.031***
PA behavior	49	611	.170 (.038)	0.094; 0.246	4.453	<.001***	000.	.045***
Smoking	П	12	086 (.056)	-0.209; 0.037	-1.533	.154	000	.013
Nutrition	24	74	.133 (.048)	0.037; 0.229	2.756	.007**	.040***	.020*
Alcohol	ю	ю	085 (.085)	-0.449; 0.279	-1.004	.279	000.	000
Sleep & relaxation	ო	4	.081 (.126)	-0.320; 0.482	0.641	.567	000.	.018
<i>Note</i> . ES = effect size (Hedg	ges' G); SE =	standard e	error; CI = confic	lence interval; PA	= physical	activity; * p	< .05; ** p < .01; **	* p < .001

Table 1. Mean effect sizes (expressed in Hedges' G) for each outcome category.

Heterogeneity

Given the three-level model, we assessed both between-study heterogeneity (variance between studies) and within-study heterogeneity (variance between effect sizes from the same study). For all outcomes, we found significant between-study heterogeneity ($\sigma^2 = .014$, χ^2 (1) = 29.53, p < .001), as well as with-in-study heterogeneity ($\sigma^2 = .055$, χ^2 (1) = 499.77, p < .001). For clinical outcomes, the between-study heterogeneity ($\sigma^2 = .010$, χ^2 (1) = 8.92, p = .003) and with-in-study heterogeneity ($\sigma^2 = .064$, χ^2 (1) = 440.83, p < .001) were also significant. Also, for behavioral outcomes we found a significant between-study heterogeneity ($\sigma^2 = .034$, χ^2 (1) = 22.83, p < .001) and within-study heterogeneity ($\sigma^2 = .021$, χ^2 (1) = 26.07, p < .001). Given these significant heterogeneity values, we conducted moderator analyses for all outcomes combined, for clinical outcomes, and for behavioral outcomes separately (see Table 1).

Moderator Analyses

Intervention Type, Delivery Mode, and Dose of Support

To test the effect of intervention type (self-help vs. human-supported), dose of human support (minor vs. major), and delivery mode of human support (remote vs. blended) on the relationship between eHealth lifestyle interventions and clinical and behavioral health outcomes, we conducted moderator analyses. We found that intervention type did not moderate the mean effect size of eHealth lifestyle interventions on all health outcomes (clinical and behavioral health outcomes combined; p = .169) (see Table 2). Moreover, both dose (p = .698) and delivery mode of human support (p = .557) did not moderate the mean effect size eHealth lifestyle interventions on all health outcomes (clinical and behavioral health outcomes combined). We performed the same moderator analyses on the mean effect size of eHealth lifestyle interventions, and on both clinical and behavioral outcomes separately (see Table 2). For clinical outcomes, we again found no significant moderator effect of intervention type (p = .374), dose of human support (p = .439), or delivery mode (p = .308). For behavioral outcomes, we also found no significant moderator effect of intervention type (p = .080), dose of human support (p = .272), or delivery mode (p = .144).

Study, Intervention and Population Characteristics

We conducted several additional moderator analyses to explore whether study, intervention or population characteristics could explain this heterogeneity (see Table 3). Control condition type (passive vs. active; p = 0.344), intervention length (p = .588), mean sample age (p = .053), or diagnosis (CVD, T1DM, T2DM, CKD, at-risk, or mixed; p = .197) did not significantly moderate the mean effect size of eHealth lifestyle interventions on all health outcomes, or on either clinical or behavioral health outcomes separately (see Table 3).

Table 2. Results for the moderator analyses of intervention type, dose of human support, and delivery mode of human support on the association between eHealth interventions and clinical and behavioral health outcomes.

Moderator	Nr. of studies	Nr. of ES	Overall test	<i>p</i> -Value of overall test	Mean ES (SE)	95% CI	t-Value	p-Value of ES
All outcomes								
Intervention type	102	809	F(1, 807) = 1.900	.169				
Self-help interventions					.137 (.032)	0.074; 0.201	4.241	<.001***
Human-supported interventions					.086 (.020)	0.047; 0.125	4.292	<.001***
Dose of human support	76	590	F(1, 588) = .150	.698				
Minor level					.105 (.036)	0.034; 0.176	2.907	.004**
Major level					.087 (.031)	0.027; 0.147	2.839	.005**
Delivery mode of human support	75	586	F(1, 584) = .346	.557				
Remote					.102 (.026)	0.052; 0.152	3.988	<.001***
Blended					.080 (.036)	0.010; 0.150	2.250	.025*
Clinical outcomes								
Intervention type	92	597	F(1, 595) = .792	.374				
Self-help interventions					.113 (.035)	0.044; 0.182	3.204	.001**
Human-supported interventions					.077 (.021)	0.035; 0.118	3.610	<:00]***

Effectiveness of human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions

Moderator	Nr. of studies	Nr. of ES	Overall test	<i>p</i> -Value of overall test	Mean ES (SE)	95% CI	t-Value	p-Value of ES
Dose of human support	69	440	F(1, 438) = .599	.439				
Minor level					(140.) III.	0.030; 0.191	2.696	.007**
Major level					.068 (.037)	-0.005; 0.142	1.834	.067+
Delivery mode of human support	68	436	F(1, 434) = 1.041	.308				
Remote					.099 (.029)	0.042; 0.157	3.386	<.001***
Blended					.063 (.038)	-0.012; 0.137	1.653	+660.
Behavioral outcomes								
Intervention type	60	212	F(1, 210) = 3.100	.080				
Self-help interventions					.207 (.053)	0.102; 0.312	3.886	<.001***
Human-supported interventions					.101 (.034)	0.034; 0.167	2.993	.003**
Dose of human support	44	150	F(1, 148) = 1.215	.272				
Minor level					.038 (.058)	-0.076; 0.153	0.662	.509
Major level					.117 (.042)	0.034; 0.201	2.790	**900.
Delivery mode of human support	44	150	F(1, 148) = 2.159	.144				
Remote					.062 (.038)	-0.014; 0.138	1.614	.109
Blended					.167 (.062)	0.044; 0.290	2.679	.008**
<i>Note</i> . ES = effect size (Hedges'	G); SE = sto	andard err	or; CI = confidenc	:e interval; + <	.10; * <i>p</i> < .05; **	p < .01; *** p < .	100	

Chapter 4

Table 2. Continued

Table 3. Results for the moderator analyses of study, intervention and population characteristics on the association between eHealth interventions and clinical and behavioral health outcomes.

Aoderator	Nr. of studies	Nr. of ES	Overall test	<i>p</i> -Value of overall test	Mean ES (SE)ª	95% CI	t-Value	<i>p</i> -Value of ES
All outcomes								
Outcome type	102	809	F(1, 807) = 3.810	.051+				
Clinical outcomes					.086 (019)	0.049; 0.124	4.500	<.001***
Behavioral outcomes					.142 (.028)	0.087; 0.196	5.109	<.001***
Control condition type	102	809	F(1, 807) = .897	.344				
Passive					.110 (.021)	0.070; 0.151	5.320	<.001***
Active					.071 (.036)	-0.000; 0.142	1.959	.050+
Intervention length	101	805	F(1, 803) = .294	.588	.117 (.031)	0.056; 0.177	3.792	<.001***
Mean sample age	16	750	F(1, 748) = 3.758	.053+	.198 (.053)	0.095; 0.301	3.760	<.001***
Diagnosis	102	809	F(5, 803) = 1.470	197.				
CVD					.146 (.037)	0.075; 0.218	4.000	<.001***
TIDM					.034 (.212)	-0.382; 0.450	.161	.872
T2DM					.104 (.030)	0.046; 0.162	3.497	<.001***
CKD					.024 (.098)	-0.168; 0.215	.242	808.
At-risk					.126 (.038)	0.051; 0.202	3.286	.00]**
Mixed patient group					.002 (.046)	-0.089; 0.092	.040	.968
Clinical outcomes								
Control condition type	92	597	F(1, 595) = .653	.420				

Effectiveness of human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions

Moderator	Nr. of studies	Nr. of ES	Overall test	<i>p</i> -Value of overall test	Mean ES (SE)ª	95% CI	t-Value	<i>p</i> -Value of ES
Passive					.095 (.021)	0.053; 0.137	4.451	<.001***
Active					.059 (.039)	-0.016; 0.135	1.538	.125
Intervention length	16	596	F(1, 594) = .025	.873	.094 (.033)	0.029; 0.158	2.864	.004**
Mean sample age	83	551	F(1, 549) = 2.750	.098	.179 (.058)	0.065; 0.292	3.095	.002**
Diagnosis	92	597	F(5, 591) = 1.244	.287				
CVD					.135 (.039)	0.059; 0.211	3.490	<.001***
TIDM					.183 (.378)	-0.560; 0.926	.483	.629
T2DM					.095 (.031)	0.034; 0.156	3.062	.002**
CKD					.028 (.096)	-0.161; 0.218	.295	.768
At-risk				360.	; (.040)	0.017; 0.173	2.390	.017*
Mixed patient group				-10	5 (.050)	-0.114; 0.083	015	.762
Behavioral outcomes								
Control condition type	60	212	F(1, 210) = .211	.646				
Passive				.141.	(038)	0.066; 0.217	3.692	<.001***
Active				.109	(.058)	-0.004; 0.223	1.900	.059+
Intervention length	59	209	F(1, 207) = 1.242	.266 .188	(.057)	0.076;0.301	3.298	<.001**
Mean sample age	55	199	F(1, 197) = 2.441	.120 .243	(.082)	0.081; 0.405	2.960	.003**

Chapter 4

Table 3. Continued

Table 3. Continued

Moderator	Nr. of studies	Nr. of ES	Overall test	<i>p</i> -Value of overall test	Mean ES (SE)ª	95% CI	t-Value	p-Value of ES
Diagnosis	60	212	F(5, 206) = .508	.770				
CVD				.122	(.062)	-0.001; 0.245	1.955	.052+
TIDM				016	i (.253)	-0.514; 0.482	063	.950
T2DM				.155	(090)	0.037; 0.273	2.595	*010*
CKD				00	3 (.212)	-0.420; 0.415	013	066.
At-risk				.196	(070)	0.058; 0.334	2.803	**900.
Mixed patient group				.064	(.076)	-0.086; 0.215	.843	.400
<i>Note</i> . ES = effect size (Hedges' ^a For continuous predictors: rep	G); SE = stc presents th	andard erro e ES size of	or; Cl = confidenc a participant wit	:e interval; * < :h an average	.10; * <i>p</i> < .05; * • value on the	* <i>p</i> < .01; *** <i>p</i> < . corresponding	.001 predictor	

DISCUSSION

Our multilevel meta-analysis demonstrated that eHealth interventions are effective in improving cardiometabolic health outcomes. Yet, overall effect size, both on clinical and behavioral health outcomes, was small. The small effect sizes are comparable to other meta-analyses investigating eHealth lifestyle interventions (e.g. 0.139 in Lustria et al. (2013); 0.16 in Webb et al. (2010)). More specifically, eHealth lifestyle interventions positively influenced the clinical health outcomes glucose, weight and physical activity capacity (but not blood pressure, cholesterol and CVD composite score), and the following behavioral health outcomes: physical activity behavior, and nutrition (but not smoking, alcohol and sleep or relaxation).. Furthermore, we found that study, intervention or sample characteristics did not impact the positive effect of eHealth lifestyle interventions on health outcomes. Finally, control group type, intervention length, mean sample age, and diagnosis did not influence the effect of eHealth lifestyle interventions on clinical and behavioral health outcomes.

Contrary to our expectations, our meta-analysis did not show the expected difference between human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions. Both human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions were effective in improving clinical and behavioral health outcomes. Our results contrast other meta-analyses (Beishuizen et al., 2016; Joiner et al., 2017; Lau et al., 2020) which did find a stronger effect of human support in eHealth interventions on improving cardiometabolic risk factors, or a more pronounced effect of blended interventions compared to remotely supported ones. Instead, our results are more in line with studies that indicated that there is no difference in the improvement of cardiometabolic risk factors between human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions (Lustria et al., 2013; Webb et al., 2010), or blended and remotely supported eHealth interventions (Kloek et al., 2017). Although one of the aims of this meta-analysis was to find an explanation for the inconsistent results of human support in eHealth interventions in these different meta-analyses, our results with regard to dose and delivery mode of the support did not provide this explanation. However, these inconsistencies could be due to population-, outcome- or intervention-related factors.

Regarding the first factor that could provide an explanation to inconsistent results of human support, the study population, meta-analyses focusing on the general population did not find a difference between human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions (Lustria et al., 2013; Webb et al., 2010). However, contrary to our results, those studies that focused on a patient or at-risk population did encounter differences between human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions (Beishuizen et al., 2016; Joiner et al., 2017; Lau et al., 2020). Our meta-analysis with patients and an at-risk population did not find these differences, and also no differences between conditions. We did however find that age had a borderline significant effect. Possibly, patients are generally older,

and therefore, more in need of human support when using eHealth compared to the general population (Crouch & Gordon, 2019).

With regard to outcome-related factors, our study showed no difference between human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions in the outcome measure we used: effectiveness. Possibly, we would have found a difference if we used intervention adherence as an outcome measure. Multiple studies have shown that self-help eHealth interventions suffer from low levels of intervention adherence, which refers to the extent to which the individual uses the intervention as intended (Kelders et al., 2012; Kelders et al., 2011; Murray et al., 2013; Wangberg et al., 2008). However, meta-analyses on multiple studies investigating intervention adherence to eHealth interventions are difficult to conduct because only a small proportion of the studies report eHealth intervention adherence (Sieverink et al., 2017). As intervention adherence is related to intervention effectiveness (Donkin et al., 2011), the level of intervention adherence could possibly be the missing explanation for the inconsistent results found in previous meta-analyses regarding the possible added contribution of human support to self-help eHealth interventions.

Finally, the effectiveness of human support in eHealth interventions could depend on the characteristics of the specific interventions. In our study, the inclusion criteria was that the tested intervention was delivered via a website or mobile-based application, provided education or skills training, and was interactive. This narrowed down the type of interventions included in our analyses, which may have positively influenced the quality of both human-supported and self-help interventions, and consequently reduced the difference in effectiveness between the two. Some meta-analyses did find a lower effectiveness of self-help eHealth interventions, possibly because they included a broader variety of interventions, including interventions lacking important behavior change techniques or lower quality of interactive components. For example, Beishuizen and colleagues (2016) included interventions without education or skills training, Lau and colleagues (2020) included interventions that were not interactive, and Joiner and colleagues (2017) included any intervention that used some form of digital communication (including social media, DVDs, or videoconferencing). We know that interventions that are more elaborate, for example because they incorporate multiple behavior change techniques, are more effective in improving health behavior (Webb et al., 2010). It is therefore not surprising that automated support is frequently combined with behavior change techniques and persuasive system design principles (Asbjørnsen et al., 2019). Furthermore, an advantage of self-help interventions is that users can customize what behavior change technique features are used in their eHealth intervention, which users appreciate (Coorey, 2018). This means that cardiometabolic patients themselves can decide whether their eHealth lifestyle intervention shows motivational messages (e.g. through push messages on their smartphone) or not, in what frequency they want to track their behaviors (e.g. filling in a food diary daily or weekly) or whether they want to watch all the educational videos or whether they already have enough knowledge on the topic. So the more thorough implementation of behavior change techniques and interactive components as well as the freedom for the user to choose, could positively affect the quality of self-help eHealth interventions.

Finally, it is important to note that our hypotheses with regard to the dose and delivery mode of support were based on findings in mental health interventions. Based on meta-analyses focusing on both eHealth and regular interventions or eHealth interventions only, aimed at patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder (Pearcy et al., 2016), depression and anxiety (Etzelmueller et al., 2020; Karyotaki et al., 2018; Richards & Richardson, 2012) or mental disorders in general (Baumeister et al., 2014) found that human-supported interventions are more effective, and that higher levels of support lead to higher effect sizes. Our me-ta-analysis however, focused on lifestyle interventions showed contradictory results. Possibly, mental health issues require more complex interventions that might require more human support than self-help interventions. Future studies could investigate whether interventions aimed at mental health improvement necessitate (more extensive) human support compared to interventions aimed at lifestyle behavior change.

Strengths, Limitations and Future Research

A strength of our study is that we used a precise definition of eHealth as a study eligibility criteria. As noted previously, many other meta-analyses on eHealth included a larger variety of digital tools (e.g. DVDs and videoconferencing) or less elaborate types of eHealth interventions (e.g., without interactive or educational components). Our definition created more homogeneity in the inclusion of eHealth studies. Another strength would be the inclusion of four different types of cardiometabolic diseases. Not only is there a high comorbidity between CVD, CKD, TIDM and T2DM, but they also share similar underlying risk factors and have a similar management strategy (i.e. lifestyle modifications; Ryden et al., 2014; Suckling, 2012). Finally, another advantage of our study was our multi-level approach for the meta-analysis. Other studies concerning eHealth lifestyle interventions for people with cardiometabolic diseases used a more traditional univariate approach, and conducted a meta-analysis for each outcome separately. We contributed to these studies by applying a three-level model approach (Assink & Wibbelink, 2016), which does not only deal with interdependency of effect sizes, but also presents an overall picture of the effect of eHealth lifestyle interventions on clinical and behavioral health outcomes.

A number of limitations need to be considered. Firstly, our sensitivity analyses revealed that there was some publication bias. This may have caused the mean effect sizes in our study to be different from the true effect sizes for the effect of eHealth interventions on clinical and behavioral cardiometabolic health outcomes. The results should, therefore, be interpreted with caution. Another limitation of the study was the methodological quality of the included studies. The Risk of Bias assessment resulted in a generally good evaluations of the studies, and we found that Risk of Bias assessment had no moderating effect on the relation between eHealth intervention and clinical and behavioral health outcomes. Since self-management interventions cannot be blinded, almost all studies lacked double blinding, leading to a possible risk of bias due to deviations from the intended interventions and in measurement of the outcome (e.g. health professionals measuring participants blood pressure or weight). Furthermore, only a minority of the studies preregistered their study and analyses, which may cause a risk of bias in selection of the reported results. As another limitation, we should mention that the included studies were substantially heterogeneous on several levels. With regard to the control group, some of the studies had a passive control group (waitlist or care as usual), while in other studies patients in the control group received another intervention. Furthermore, there was a large variety in intervention duration, which ranged from 1.5 to 24 months. There were also big differences in mean age of the study samples, which varied from 35.2 to 75.9 years. In spite of this, our analyses revealed that control group type, intervention length, and mean sample age had no moderating effect on the relation between eHealth intervention and clinical and behavioral health outcomes.

Our study has raised new questions regarding eHealth interventions and human support that would be interesting to address in future research. Adherence to interventions is still poorly defined and underreported. Therefore, we suggest that future randomized controlled trials evaluating eHealth lifestyle interventions implement better intervention adherence measures. This would also enable the investigation of the relationship between human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions on intervention adherence. In contrast to previous meta-analyses, our study did not find a difference between these human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions. As stated before, this inconsistency could be due to the quality of eHealth interventions, as we had strict inclusion and exclusion criteria with regard to the way eHealth interventions were designed and executed. Future meta-analyses could investigate what components make self-help eHealth interventions as effective as human-supported eHealth interventions, and whether lower-quality eHealth interventions benefit more from applying human support. Another suggestion for future research would be to further investigate the need for human support for specific subgroups of patients. For example it is important to specifically examine implementation, intervention adherence and effects of eHealth interventions for patients of lower socioeconomic status including those with less digital literacy or resources (van der Vaart et al., 2019). These variables were reported inconsistently among the included studies and require more attention in future studies.

Moreover, meta-analyses on interventions for psychological outcomes instead of lifestyle outcomes indicate that human support is particularly important for cognitive-behavioral interventions focusing on psychological distress and related outcomes (Baumeister et al., 2014; Etzelmueller et al., 2020; Karyotaki et al., 2018; Pearcy et al., 2016; Richards & Richardson, 2012). Therefore, it would be interesting to investigate whether mental health also influences the need for support in eHealth lifestyle interventions. Finally, the studies included in our analyses were heterogenous in regard to patient groups and outcomes. Most studies focused on CVD and T2DM patients, and to a lesser degree on patients with TIDM and CKD. Despite alcohol use and sleep and relaxation being important risk factors to be address in cardiometabolic disease management, only very few studies targeted these health outcomes. It would, therefore, be important for eHealth researchers to also focus on these less represented patients groups and behavioral risk factors in future studies.

CONCLUSION

Our meta-analysis demonstrated that eHealth lifestyle interventions are effective in improving clinical and behavioral health outcomes among people with cardiometabolic diseases. However, there was no difference between self-help and human-supported eHealth interventions' effectiveness. Neither dose nor delivery mode of support affected human-supported intervention effectiveness. Several population-, outcome-, and intervention-related factors were ruled out as possible moderators of these relationships. These findings add substantially to our understanding of the role of human support in lifestyle eHealth interventions, which is important to make lifestyle interventions accessible for a larger and more varied audience. Although further research is required to unravel the possible added contribution of human support for specific eHealth interventions in subgroups of patients, our results seem promising for the broad application of self-help eHealth interventions in cardiometabolic diseases.

REFERENCES CHAPTER 4

- Asbjørnsen, R. A., Smedsrød, M. L., Nes, L. S., Wentzel, J., Varsi, C., Hjelmesæth, J., & van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E. (2019). Persuasive system design principles and behavior change techniques to stimulate motivation and adherence in electronic health interventions to support weight loss maintenance: scoping review. *Journal of medical Internet research, 21*(6), e14265. https://10.2196/14265
- **Assink**, M., & Wibbelink, C. J. (2016). Fitting three-level meta-analytic models in R: A step-by-step tutorial. *The Quantitative Methods for Psychology*, *12*(3), 154-174. https://10.20982/tqmp.12.3.p154
- Barak, A., Klein, B., & Proudfoot, J. G. (2009). Defining internet-supported therapeutic interventions. Annals of behavioral medicine, 38(1), 4-17. https://10.1007/s12160-009-9130-7
- Baumeister, H., Reichler, L., Munzinger, M., & Lin, J. (2014). The impact of guidance on Internet-based mental health interventions: A systematic review. *Internet interventions*, 1(4), 205-215. https://10.1016/j.invent.2014.08.003
- Beishuizen, C. R., Stephan, B. C., van Gool, W. A., Brayne, C., Peters, R. J., Andrieu, S., ... & Richard, E. (2016). Web-based interventions targeting cardiovascular risk factors in middle-aged and older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 18(3), e5218. https://10.2196/jmir.5218
- **Carvalho de Menezes**, M. (2016). Interventions directed at eating habits and physical activity using the TRANSTHEORETICAL model: A systematic review. *Nutrición Hospitalaria*, 33(5). https://10.20960/nh.586
- **Cohen,** J. (1992). A power primer. *Psychological bulletin*, *112*(1), 155–159. https:// 10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.155
- Cohen Rodrigues, T. R., Breeman, L. D., Reijnders, T., Kinik, A., Janssen, V. R., Kraaijenhagen, R. A., Atsma, D. E., Evers, A. W. M. Effectiveness of eHealth lifestyle support interventions for patients with cardiometabolic diseases and the role of human support: A meta-analysis. PROSPERO 2021 CRD42021269263 Available from: https://www.crd.york. ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php?ID=CRD42021269263
- Coorey, G. M., Neubeck, L., Mulley, J., & Redfern, J. (2018). Effectiveness, acceptability and usefulness of mobile applications for cardiovascular disease self-management: Systematic review with meta-synthesis of quantitative and qualitative data. European journal of preventive cardiology, 25(5), 505-521. https://10.1177/2047487317750913
- **Crouch** E, Gordon NP. Prevalence and Factors Influencing Use of Internet and Electronic Health Resources by Middle-Aged and Older Adults in a US Health Plan Population: Cross-Sectional Survey Study. JMIR Aging 2019;2(1):e11451. https:// 10.2196/11451
- Danaei, G., Lu, Y., Singh, G. M., Carnahan, E., Stevens, G. A., Cowan, M. J., ... & Kobayashi, J. (2014). Cardiovascular disease, chronic kidney disease, and diabetes mortality burden of cardiometabolic risk factors from 1980 to 2010: a comparative risk assessment. *Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology*, 2(8), 634–647.
- Donkin, L., Christensen, H., Naismith, S. L., Neal, B., Hickie, I. B., & Glozier, N. (2011). A systematic review of the impact of adherence on the effectiveness of e-therapies. *Journal* of medical Internet research, 13(3), e52. https://10.2196/jmir.1772
- Egger, M., Smith, G. D., Schneider, M., & Minder, C. (1997). Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *British Medical Journal, 315*, 629–634. https://10.1136/ bmj.315.7109.629

- Etzelmueller, A., Vis, C., Karyotaki, E., Baumeister, H., Titov, N., Berking, M., ... & Ebert, D. D. (2020). Effects of internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy in routine care for adults in treatment for depression and anxiety: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of medical Internet research, 22*(8), e18100. https://10.2196/18100
- Hedges, L. V., & Olkin, I. (1985). Statistical methods for meta-analysis. Orlando: Academic Press.
- Higgins, J. P., Thomas, J., Chandler, J., Cumpston, M., Li, T., Page, M. J., & Welch, V. A. (Eds.). (2019). Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. John Wiley & Sons.
- Ter Hoeve, N., Huisstede, B. M., Stam, H. J., van Domburg, R. T., Sunamura, M., & van den Berg-Emons, R. J. (2015). Does cardiac rehabilitation after an acute cardiac syndrome lead to changes in physical activity habits? Systematic review. *Physical Therapy*, 95(2), 167–179. https://10.2522/ptj.20130509
- Hoppen, L. M., Kuck, N., Bürkner, P. C., Karin, E., Wootton, B. M., & Buhlmann, U. (2021). Low intensity technology-delivered cognitive behavioral therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder: a meta-analysis. *BMC psychiatry*, 21(1), 1-17. https://10.1186/s12888-021-03272-5
- Janssen, V., De Gucht, V., van Exel, H., & Maes, S. (2013). Beyond resolutions? A randomized controlled trial of a self-regulation lifestyle programme for post-cardiac rehabilitation patients. *European journal of preventive cardiology*, 20(3), 431-441. https://10.1177/2047487312441728
- Joiner, K. L., Nam, S., & Whittemore, R. (2017). Lifestyle interventions based on the diabetes prevention program delivered via eHealth: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Preventive medicine, 100,* 194-207. https://10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.04.033
- Karyotaki, E., Ebert, D. D., Donkin, L., Riper, H., Twisk, J., Burger, S., ... & Cuijpers, P. (2018). Do guided internet-based interventions result in clinically relevant changes for patients with depression? An individual participant data meta-analysis. *Clinical psychology review*, 63, 80-92. https://10.1016/j.cpr.2018.06.007
- Kelders, S. M., Kok, R. N., Ossebaard, H. C., & Van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E. (2012). Persuasive system design does matter: a systematic review of adherence to web-based interventions. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 14(6), e152. https://10.2196/jmir.2104
- Kelders, S. M., Van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E., Werkman, A., Nijland, N., & Seydel, E. R. (2011). Effectiveness of a Web-based intervention aimed at healthy dietary and physical activity behavior: a randomized controlled trial about users and usage. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 13(2), e32. https://10.2196/jmir.1624
- Kloek, C., Bossen, D., De Bakker, D. H., Veenhof, C., & Dekker, J. (2017). Blended interventions to change behavior in patients with chronic somatic disorders: systematic review. Journal of medical Internet research, 19(12), e418. https://10.2196/jmir.8108
- Koelen, J. A., Vonk, A., Klein, A., de Koning, L., Vonk, P., de Vet, S., & Wiers, R. (2022). Man vs. machine: A meta-analysis on the added value of human support in text-based internet treatments ("e-therapy") for mental disorders. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 102179. https://10.1016/j.cpr.2022.102179
- Lau, Y., Chee, D. G. H., Chow, X. P., Cheng, L. J., & Wong, S. N. (2020). Personalised eHealth interventions in adults with overweight and obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Preventive medicine*, 132, 106001. https://10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106001

- Leung, C., Pei, J., Hudec, K., Shams, F., Munthali, R., & Vigo, D. (2022). The Effects of Nonclinician Guidance on Effectiveness and Process Outcomes in Digital Mental Health Interventions: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 24(6), e36004. https://10.2196/36004
- Liang, X., Wang, Q., Yang, X., Cao, J., Chen, J., Mo, X., ... & Gu, D. (2011). Effect of mobile phone intervention for diabetes on glycaemic control: a meta-analysis. *Diabetic medicine*, 28(4), 455-463. https://10.1111/j.1464-5491.2010.03180.x
- Liu, S., Dunford, S. D., Leung, Y. W., Brooks, D., Thomas, S. G., Eysenbach, G., & Nolan, R. P. (2013). Reducing blood pressure with Internet-based interventions: a meta-analysis. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology*, *29*(5), 613-621. https://10.1016/j.cjca.2013.02.007
- Lustria, M. L., Noar, S. M., Cortese, J., Van Stee, S. K., Glueckauf, R. L., & Lee, J. (2013). A meta-analysis of web-delivered tailored health behavior change interventions. *Journal* of *Health Communication*, *18*, 1039-1069. https://10.1080/10810730.2013.768727
- Murray, E., White, I. R., Varagunam, M., Godfrey, C., Khadjesari, Z., & McCambridge, J. (2013). Attrition revisited: adherence and retention in a web-based alcohol trial. Journal of medical Internet research, 15(8), e162. https://10.2196/jmir.2336
- Page, M. J., McKenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow, C. D., ... & Moher, D. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *Bmj*, 372(71). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n71
- Pearcy, C. P., Anderson, R. A., Egan, S. J., & Rees, C. S. (2016). A systematic review and meta-analysis of self-help therapeutic interventions for obsessive-compulsive disorder: Is therapeutic contact key to overall improvement?. *Journal of behavior therapy and experimental psychiatry*, *51*, 74-83. https://10.1016/j.jbtep.2015.12.007
- Piepoli, M. F., Hoes, A. W., Agewall, S., Albus, C., Brotons, C., Catapano, A. L., ... & Binno, S. (2016). 2016 European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: The sixth joint task force on the European society of cardiology and other societies on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. *European Heart Journal*, 37(29), 2315–81. https://10.1093/eurheartj/ehw106
- Polanin, J. R., & Snilstveit, B. (2016). Converting between effect sizes. *Campbell Systematic Reviews, 12*(1), 1-13. https://10.4073/cmpn.2016.3
- Richards, D., & Richardson, T. (2012). Computer-based psychological treatments for depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical psychology review*, 32(4), 329-342. https://10.1016/j.cpr.2012.02.004
- Ryden, L., Grant, P. J., Anker, S. D., Berne, C., Cosentino, F., Danchin, N., ... & Neyses, L. (2014). ESC guidelines on diabetes, pre-diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases developed in collaboration with the EASD-summary. *Diabetes & vascular disease research*, 11(3), 133-73. https://10.1177/1479164114525548
- Schardt, C., Adams, M. B., Owens, T., Keitz, S., & Fontelo, P. (2007). Utilization of the PICO framework to improve searching PubMed for clinical questions. *BMC medical informatics and decision making*, 7(1), 1-6. https://10.1186/1472-6947-7-16
- Sieverink, F., Kelders, S. M., & van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E. (2017). Clarifying the concept of adherence to eHealth technology: systematic review on when usage becomes adherence. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 19(12), e8578. https://10.2196/jmir.8578
- Srivastava, S., Pant, M., Abraham, A., & Agrawal, N. (2015). The Technological Growth in eHealth Services. Computational and Mathematical Methods in Medicine, 894171, 1–18. https://10.1155/2015/894171

Chapter 4

- Sterne, J. A., Savović, J., Page, M. J., Elbers, R. G., Blencowe, N. S., Boutron, I., ... & Higgins, J. P. (2019). RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *bmj*, 366. https://10.1136/bmj.14898
- Suckling, R., & Gallagher, H. (2012). Chronic kidney disease, diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease: risks and commonalities. *Journal of renal care*, 38, 4-11. https://10.1111/j.1755-6686.2012.00274.x
- Wangberg, S. C., Bergmo, T. S., & Johnsen, J. A. K. (2008). Adherence in Internet-based interventions. *Patient preference and adherence*, *2*, 57-65.
- Van der Vaart R, van Driel D, Pronk K, Paulussen S, te Boekhorst S, Rosmalen JGM, Evers AWM. The Role of Age, Education, and Digital Health Literacy in the Usability of Internet-Based Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Chronic Pain: Mixed Methods Study. JMIR Form Res 2019;3(4):e12883. https:// 10.2196/12883
- Webb, T., Joseph, J., Yardley, L., & Michie, S. (2010). Using the internet to promote health behavior change: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the impact of theoretical basis, use of behavior change techniques, and mode of delivery on efficacy. *Journal* of medical Internet research, 12(1), e1376. https://10.2196/jmir.1376
- World Health Organization. (2017). Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). Retrieved February 7, 2019, from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds)

CHAPTER 4 | APPENDIX 1

Search string.

Randomized controlled trials about eHealth lifestyle interventions to promote lifestyle modification in cardiometabolic disease patients.

(("app"[tiab] OR "apps"[tiab] OR "digital"[ti] OR "e health"[tiab] OR "econsult*"[tiab] OR "e-consult*" [tiab] OR "ehealth" [tiab] OR "e-health" [tiab] OR "electronic communication*"[tiab] OR "Electronic Learning"[tiab] OR "iCBT"[tiab] OR "internet"[ti] OR "m health"[tiab] OR "mhealth"[tiab] OR "m-health"[tiab] OR "mobile app"[tiab] OR "mobile application"[tiab] OR "mobile application"[tiab] OR "mobile applications" [tiab] OR "mobile apps" [tiab] OR "mobile health" [tiab] OR "mobile"[ti] OR "on line"[ti] OR "online therapy"[tiab] OR "online"[ti] OR "on-line"[ti] OR "personal digital assistant"[tiab] OR "remote communication"[tiab] OR "remote computer"[tiab] OR "remote computers"[tiab] OR "remote consultation"[tiab] OR "remote health care" [tiab] OR "remote healthcare" [tiab] OR "remote monitoring"[tiab] OR "remote system"[tiab] OR "remote systems"[tiab] OR "remote technologies"[tiab] OR "remote technology"[tiab] OR "remote"[tiab] OR "smart technol*"[tiab] OR "smart technology"[tiab] OR "tele health"[tiab] OR "telecare"[tiab] OR "tele-care" [tiab] OR "teleconsult*" [tiab] OR "teleconsultation" [tiab] OR "telehealth"[tiab] OR "tele-health"[tiab] OR "telemed*"[tiab] OR "Telemedicine"[majr] OR "telemedicine"[tiab] OR "telemonitoring"[tiab] OR "tele-monitoring"[tiab] OR "telenurs*"[tiab] OR "telenursing"[tiab] OR "telerehabilitation"[tiab] OR "wearable technologies"[tigb] OR "wearable technology"[tigb] OR "web access"[tigb] OR "web application" [tiab] OR "web applications" [tiab] OR "web based" [tiab] OR "web portal*"[ti] OR "web"[ti] OR "webapp*"[tiab] OR "webbased"[tiab] OR "web-based"[tiab] OR "webpage"[tiab] OR "webpages"[tiab] OR "website"[ti] OR "websites"[tiab] OR "mobile application"[tiab] OR "computer application"[tiab] OR "internet" [tiab] OR "telecommunications" [tiab] OR "mobile applications" [tiab] OR "computer applications" [tiab] OR "internet" [majr] OR "telecommunications"[mair]) AND ("Life style"[mair] OR "life style"[tiab] OR "lifestyle"[tiab] OR "life-style" [tiab] OR "life styles" [tiab] OR "lifestyles" [tiab] OR "life-styles" [tiab] OR "Health behavior" [majr] OR "health behaviour" [tiab] OR "health behavior" [tiab] OR "Health promotion" [mair] OR "health promotion" [tiab] OR "self-management"[tiab] OR "self management"[tiab] OR "Exercise"[majr] OR "exercise"[tiab] OR "physical activity" [tiab] OR "Diet" [majr] OR "Diet Therapy" [majr] OR "diet" [tiab] OR "diets" [tiab] OR "dietary" [tiab] OR "fat" [tiab] OR "salt" [tiab] OR "natrium" [tiab] OR "sodium"[tiab] OR "Dietary Carbohydrates"[majr] OR carbohydrate*[tiab] OR "calories"[tiab] OR "Dietary Proteins"[majr] OR "proteins"[tiab] OR "fat intake"[tiab] OR "salt intake"[tiab] OR "Eating"[majr] OR "eating"[tiab] OR "Nutrition Therapy"[majr] OR "nutrition"[tiab] OR "Smokina"[majr] OR "smokina"[tiab] OR "Tobacco use" [majr] OR "tobacco" [tiab] OR "nicotine" [tiab] OR "cigarettes" [tiab] OR "cigarette" [tiab] OR "Drinking Behavior" [mair] OR "alcohol drinking" [mair] OR "Alcohol Abstinence" [tiab] OR "Alcohol Drinking" [tiab] OR "alcohol" [tiab] OR "drinking"[majr] OR "drinking"[tiab] OR "Sleep"[majr] OR "sleep"[tiab] OR "sedentary"[tiab] OR "Medication Adherence"[majr] OR "Medication Adherence"[tiab] OR "medication" [tiab] OR "Body Weight" [majr] OR "weight" [tiab] OR "body weight"[tiab] OR "Blood glucose"[majr] OR "blood glucose"[tiab] OR "BMI"[tiab] OR "Body mass index" [majr] OR "body mass index" [tiab] OR "overweight" [majr] OR "overweight" [tiab] OR "obesity" [mair] OR "obesity" [tiab] OR "obese" [tiab] OR "Blood pressure"[mair] OR "Hypertension"[mair] OR "blood pressure"[tiab] OR "blood pressure determination" [majr] OR "Cholesterol" [majr] OR "cholesterol" [tiab] OR "trialycerides" [mair] OR "trialycerides" [tiab] OR "trialyceride" [tiab] OR "alvcated hemoalobin A"[tiab] OR "hemoalobin A1c"[tiab] OR "HbA1c"[tiab] OR "glomerular filtration rate" [tiab] OR "GFR" [tiab] OR "glucoregulation" [tiab] OR "cardiac rehabilitation"[tiab]) AND ("Cardiovascular Diseases"[majr] OR "cardiovascular disease"[tiab] OR "cardiovascular diseases"[tiab] OR "CVD"[tiab] OR "cardiac"[tiab] OR "heart disease"[tiab] OR "coronary heart disease"[tiab] OR "coronary artery disease" [tiab] OR "myocardial infarction" [tiab] OR "myocard infarct"[tiab] OR "myocard infarction"[tiab] OR "myocardial infarct"[tiab] OR "myocardial ischemia" [tiab] OR "angina pectoris" [tiab] OR "angina" [tiab] OR "heart infarct"[tiab] OR "heart infarction"[tiab] OR "heart attack"[tiab] OR "heart failure"[tiab] OR "cardiomyopathy"[tiab] OR "Stroke"[majr] OR "stroke"[tiab] OR "cerebrovascular accident"[tiab] OR "transient ischaemic attack"[tiab] OR "transient ischemic attack" [tiab] OR "TIA" [tiab] OR "cerebrovascular accidents" [tiab] OR "transient ischaemic attacks" [tiab] OR "transient ischemic attacks" [tiab] OR "TIAs"[tiab] OR "percutaneous angioplasty"[tiab] OR "PTCA"[tiab] OR "PCI"[tiab] OR "coronary bypass surgery"[tiab] OR "coronary artery bypass graft"[tiab] OR "aortic aneurysm" [majr] OR "aortic aneurysm" [tiab] OR "peripheral artery disease"[tiab] OR "peripheral arterial disease"[tiab] OR "peripheral vascular disease"[tiab] OR "Reversible Ischemic Neurological Deficit"[tiab] OR "RIND"[tiab] OR Cardiometabolic*[tiab] OR "Renal Insufficiency, Chronic"[majr] OR "renal insufficiency"[tiab] OR "kidney insufficiency"[tiab] OR "kidney disease"[tiab] OR "renal disease" [tiab] OR "kidney diseases" [tiab] OR "renal diseases" [tiab] OR "kidney failure" [tiab] OR "renal failure" [tiab] OR "chronic kidney" [tiab] OR "chronic renal"[tiab] OR "end stage kidney"[tiab] OR "end-stage kidney"[tiab] OR "end stage renal"[tiab] OR "end-stage renal"[tiab] OR "advanced kidney"[tiab] OR "advanced renal" [tiab] **OR "ESRD" [tiab]** OR "Renal Replacement Therapy" [majr] OR "Renal Dialysis" [majr] OR "renal dialysis" [tiab] OR "Peritoneal Dialysis" [majr] OR "peritoneal dialysis" [tiab] OR "pre-dialysis" [tiab] OR "predialysis" [tiab] OR "dialysis"[tiab] OR "hemodialysis"[tiab] OR "haemodialysis"[tiab] OR "hemodiafiltration"[tiab] OR "Kidney Transplantation"[majr] OR kidney transplant*[tiab] OR renal transplant*[tiab] OR "RRT"[tiab] OR "CKD"[tiab] OR "CKF"[tiab] OR "CRD"[tiab] OR "CRF"[tiab] OR "ESKD"[tiab] OR "ESRD"[tiab] OR "ESKF"[tiab] OR "ESRF"[tiab] OR "Diabetes Mellitus, Type 2"[majr:noexp] OR type 2 diab*[tiab] OR type

II diab*[tiab] OR non-insulin-dependent diab*[tiab] OR adult-onset diab*[tiab] OR "T2DM"[tiab] OR "T2D"[tiab] OR "TIIDM"[tiab] OR "TIID"[tiab] OR "DM2"[tiab] OR "Diabetes Mellitus"[majr] OR "diabetes mellitus"[tiab] OR "Diabetes Mellitus, Type I"[majr:noexp] OR type I diab*[tiab] OR type I diab*[tiab] OR insulin-dependent diab*[tiab] OR juvenile diab*[tiab] OR juvenile-onset diab*[tiab] OR juvenile onset diab*[tiab] OR "IDDM"[tiab] OR "TIDM"[tiab] OR "TIDM"[tiab] OR autoimmune diab*[tiab] OR "IDDM"[tiab] OR "TIDM"[tiab] OR "TIDM"[tiab] OR autoimmune diab*[tiab] OR "DM1"[tiab]) AND ("Randomized Controlled Trial"[Publication Type] OR "randomized"[ti] OR "randomised"[ti] OR "RCT"[ti] OR random*[ti] OR "single blind"[ti] OR "double blind"[ti] OR "triple blind"[ti] OR single blind*[ti] OR double blind*[ti] OR triple blind*[ti] OR "Equivalence Trial"[I] OR "Pragmatic Clinical Trial"[ti] OR "Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic"[Mesh] OR "superiority trial"[ti] OR "non-inferiority trial"[ti]) AND (english[Ia] OR dutch[Ia]) AND ("1995/01/01"[PDAT] : "3000/12/31"[PDAT]))

5	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Supporttype	Control group	Outcomes types
	50 T2DM and hypertension patients	64.1	44.5	2-arm; Canada	4-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity, nutrition, and sleep	Human-supported, blended, major, layperson	Usual care	Glucose, physical activity behavior
	223 T2DM patients	51.8	47.5	2-arm; Canada	3-month mobile-based intervention, aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Self-help	Waitlist	Glucose
	66 T2DM patients	52.5	72.3	3-arm*; Finland	2-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, remote only, minor, layperson	Usual care	Glucose, cholesterol, weight, physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior
	415 CVD patients	54.0	63.6	3- arm; USA	24-month web-based interventions aimed at physical activity and nutrition	 Human- supported, remote, minor, professional Human- supported, blended, major, professional 	Usual care	Weight
	840 T2DM patients	59.3	60.0	3- arm; USA	12-month web-based interventions aimed at physical activity and nutrition	(1) Self-help (2) Human- supported, remote, minor, professional	Usual care	Weight
	20 T2DM patients	56.0	45.0	2-arm; UK	2-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Self-help	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, weight, physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior
	101 CVD patients	54.4	47.5	2-arm; USA	3-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, blended, minor, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, weight

Chapter 4

CHAPTER 4 | APPENDIX 2

Table 4. Continued

Study	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Supporttype	Control group	Outcomes types
Bennett 2018	351 hypertension, diabetes, hyperlipidemia, and obesity patients	50.7	68.0	2-arm; USA	12-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition	Human-supported, blended, minor, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight
Bond2007	62 TIDM and T2DM patients	67.2	45.0	2-arm; USA	6-month web-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight
Bozorgi 2021	120 patients with hypertension	51.8	41.0	2-arm; Iran	2-month mobile-based intervention almed at nutrition and smoking	self-help	Usual care	Blood pressure, weight, physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior, nutrition
Cai 2021	100 CVD patients	57.0	35.0	2-arm; China	3-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, remote, minor, professional	Usual care	Physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior
Chao2019	121 T2DM patients	N.A.	39.0	2-arm; Taiwan	18-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, remote, minor, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, weight
Choi2019	100 CVD patients	56.9	38.9	2-arm; USA	3-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition	Human-supported, blended, major, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight
Chow2021	41 at-risk population	Ч. И	49.4	2-arm; USA	4-month mobile-based intervention aimed at smoking, physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Other eHealth intervention	Physical activity behavior, nutrition

Effectiveness of human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions

4

Study	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Supporttype	Control group	Outcomes types
Connely2017	31 T2DM patients	66.7	41.7	3-arm; UK	6-month web-based intervention almed at physical activity	 (1) Self-help (2) Human- supported, blended, minor, professional 	Non eHealth intervention	Weight, glucose, physical activity behavior
Dorje2019	312 CVD patients	60.5	18.5	2-arm; China	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, remote, minor, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure , cholesterol, weight
Dorsch2020	50 CVD patients	57.4	59.5	2-arm; USA	2-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition	Self-help	Usual care	Blood pressure, nutrition
Duan2018	114 CVD patients	48.7	53.2	2-arm; USA	2-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, remote, minor, professional	Waitlist	Physical activity behavior, nutrition
Duscha2018	32 CVD patients	63.2	52.1	2-arm; China	3-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Usual care	Physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior
Engelen2020	208 CVD patients	63.5	31.5	2-arm; The Netherlands	12-month Web-based intervention almed at smoking, alcohol, and physical activity	Self-help	Usual care	Blood pressure, cholesterol, weight, physical activity behavior, nutrition, alcohol
Fuku oka 2015	61 at-risk population	55.3	1.77	2-arm; USA	5-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, blended, major, layperson	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight
Glasgow2012	463 T2DM patients	58.7	77.4	3-arm; USA	4-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	(1) Self-help (2) Human supported, remote, major, professional	Other eHealth intervention	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight, cardiovascular compost score, physical activity behavior, nutrition

Table 4. Continued

Table 4. Continued

Study	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Supporttype	Control group	Outcomes types
Gong2020	187 T2DM patients	56.9	41.8	2-arm; Australia	12-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, remote, minor, layperson	Waitlist	Glucose, weight
Grau-Pellicer 2020	41 CVD patients	65.8	49.4	2-arm; Spain	3-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, blended, major, professional	Usual care	Physical activity behavior
Gunawardena 2019	67 TIDM and T2DM patients	52.5	40.0	2-arm; Sri Lanka	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Self-help	Usual care	Glucose
Hansel2017	120 T2DM patients	56.6	66.7	2-arm; France	4-month web-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Self-help	Usual care	Glucose, cholesterol, weight, nutrition
Haste2017	61 T2DM patients	N.A.	N.A.	2-arm; UK	12-month web-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Human-supported, remote, minor, professional	Usual care	Weight
Hilmarsdóttir 2021	37 T2DM patients	51.2	63.4	2-arm; Iceland	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition, stress and physical activity	Human-supported, remote, minor, layperson	Waitlist	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight
Höchsmann 2019	36 T2DM patients	N.A.	52.8	2-arm; Switzerland	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Self-help	Non eHealth intervention	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight, physical activity behavior
Holmen2014	151 T2DM patients	57.3	36.5	3-arm; Norway	12-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Self-help	Usual care	Glucose, weight

Effectiveness of human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions

Study	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Supporttype	Control group	Outcomes types
Houchen- Wolloff2018	60 CVD patients	61.5	10.0	2-arm; UK	2-month web-based intervention almed at physical activity, nutrition, stress and smoking	Human-supported, remote, minor, professional	Usual care	Physical activity capacity
Humalda2020	99 CKD patients	56.7	16.0	2-arm; The Netherlands	9-month web-based intervention aimed at nutrition	Human-supported, blended, major, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, nutrition
Imanaka2014	193 at-risk population	50.2	14.0	2-arm; Japan	3-month web-based intervention aimed at nutrition	Human-supported, remote, major,	Non eHealth intervention	Weight
Jahangiry2017	160 at-risk population	44.0	27.0	2-arm; Iran	3-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Self-help	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight
Javaheri2020	34 CVD patients	71.6	25.7	2-arm; USA	1.5-month web-based intervention aimed at sleep	Self-help	Waitlist	Blood pressure, sleep and relaxation
Johnston2016	174 CVD patients	57.6	19.3	2-arm; Sweden	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at weight management, smoking and physical activity	Self-help	Other eHealth intervention	Cholesterol, weight, smoking
Keyserling2014	385 CVD patients	62.0	48.0	2-arm; USA	4-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity, nutrition, and smoking	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, cholesterol, weight, cardiovascular composite score, physical activity behavior, smoking , nutrition

Chapter 4

Table 4. Continued
study	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Supporttype	Control group	Outcomes types
Khanji2019	402 CVD patients	65.5 5	37.0	2-arm; The Netherlands	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at alcohol consumption, smoking, physical activity, weight, nutrition, stress management	Human-supported, remote only, minor, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight
Kim2006	73 T2DM patients	N.A.	N.A.	3-arm*; South Korea	3-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, blended, minor, professional	Usual care	Glucose, physical activity behavior, alcohol
Kim 2016	160 patients with hypertension, diabetes, or cardiac arrhythmia	57.6	0.89	2-arm; south Korea	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at alcohol consumption, smoking and physical activity	Human-supported, remote, minor, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, physical activity behavior, smoking, alcohol
Kim 2019	151 T2DM patients	N.A.	52.0	2-arm; South Korea	2-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition management, physical activity.	Human-supported, blended, major, professional	Non eHealth intervention	Glucose
Kirwan2013	72 TIDM patients	35.2	61.1	2-arm; Australia	4-month mobile-based intervention aimed at diet and physical activity.	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Usual care	Glucose, nutrition
Kooiman2018	72 T2DM patients	56.3	N.A.	2-arm; The Netherlands	3-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, remote, minor, professional	Usual care	Glucose, weight
Kouwenhoven- Pasmooij2018	491 at risk- population	51.0	19.3	2-arm; The Netherlands	6-month web-based intervention, aimed depending on patient's profile	Human-supported, blended, major, professional	Other eHealth intervention	Weight, physical activity behavior

Effectiveness of human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions

Study	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Support type	Control group	Outcomes types
Ku2020	40 T2DM patients	50.0	65.0	2-arm; South Korea	3-month web-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Non eHealth intervention	Glucose, physical activity behavior, nutrition
Kulick2013	61 at-risk population	52.2	75.3	2-arm; USA	3-month web-based intervention aimed at nutrition	Self-help	Waitlist	Cholesterol, weight, cardiovascular composite score, nutrition
Kumar 2020	300 T2DM patient	64.65	0.09	2-arm; India	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition	Self-help	Usual care	Glucose
Lear2014	78 CVD patients	60.0	15.0	2-arm; Canada	4-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight, physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior, smoking
Lee2018	148 T2DM patients	52.0	36.5	2-arm; South- Korea	6-month mobile and web-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure cholesterol, physical activity behavior, smoking, nutrition
Lee2020	72 T2DM patients	51.6	29.3	2-arm; South- Korea	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Usual care	Glucose, cholesterol, weight, smoking, nutrition
Li2019	462 at-risk population	61.5	62.8	2-arm; China	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition, physical activity, smoking, alcohol intake.	Human-supported, remote, major, layperson	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose
Li2020	60 CKD patients	51.3	26.5	2-arm; Taiwan	3-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Usual care	Cholesterol, weight

~
0
Q
5
~
t
5
5
2
O
÷.
N
¢
-
2
o
Ĕ

Study	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Supporttype	Control group	Outcomes types
Liebreich2009	49 T2DM patients	54.1	N.A.	2-arm; Canada	3-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Other eHealth intervention	Physical activity behavior
Lim2021	204 T2DM patients	51.2	35.2	2-arm; Singapore	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, remote, major, layperson	Non eHealth intervention	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight, nutrition
Lindberg2017	166 T2DM patients	66.6	29.5	2-arm; Sweden	19-month web-based intervention aimed at. nutrition, physical activity, smoking and alcohol consumption	Human-supported, blended, major, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol
Lisón2020	105 at-risk population	53.2	N.A.	2-arm; Spain	3-month web-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Human-supported, blended, minor, layperson	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, weight, physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior
Little2017	826 at-risk population	53.7	63.6	3-arm; UK	6-month web-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	 Human- supported, blended, minor, professional Human- supported, remote, minor, professional 	Other eHealth intervention	Glucose, cholesterol, weight, physical activity behavior, nutrition
Lorig2006	958 CVD patients	57.5	71.4	2-arm; USA	1,5-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity an stress management	Human-supported, remote, major, layperson	Usual care	Physical activity behavior, sleep
Lorig 2010	761 T2DM patient	54.3	72.7	3- arm; USA	1,5-month web-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	 (1) Human- supported, remote, major, layperson (2) Human- supported, remote, major, layperson 	Usual care	Glucose, physical activity behavior

Effectiveness of human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions

Study	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Supporttype	Control group	Outcomes types
Lunde2020	113 CVD patients	59.0	22.2	2-arm; Norway	12-month mobile-based intervention aimed at target behavior set by patient	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose cholesterol, weight, physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior
Maddison2015	171 CVD patients	60.2	19.0	2-arm; New Zealand	6-month Physical activity mobile based and web-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, remote, minor, layperson	Usual care	Physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior
Maddison2019	162 CVD patients	61.3	14.2	2-arm; New Zealand	3-month Physical activity mobile based and web-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose cholesterol, weight, physical activity capacity physical activity behavior
McDermott2018	200 CVD patients	70.3	52.5	2-arm; USA	6-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, blended, major, professional	Usual care	Physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior
McKay2001	78 T2DM patients	N.A.	N.A.	2-arm; USA, Canada	2-month Physical activity web-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Non eHealth intervention	Glucose cholesterol, nutrition
McKay2002	160 T2DM patients	59°5	53.2	4-arm; USA	2-month web-based intervention aimed at nutrition and others	 Self-help Human supported, remote, major, professional 3) Human supported, remote, major, professional Human 	Non eHealth intervention	Glucose cholesterol, nutrition

Chapter 4

Table 4. Continued

Study	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Supporttype	Control group	Outcomes types
McLeod2020	429 T2DM and pre-diabetes patients	62.1	50.9	2-arm; New Zealand	13-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Usual care	blood pressure, glucose, weight, physical activity behavior, nutrition
McMahon2012	152 T2DM patients	61.0	7.0	3-arm*; USA	12-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Non eHealth intervention	Glucose, cholesterol, weight
Mensorio2019	106 at-risk population	N.A.	N.A.	2-arm; Spain	3-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Self-help	Usual care	Weight, physical activity behavior
Murray2018	374 T2DM patients	64.8	71.0	2-arm; UK	12-month web-based interventions aimed at physical activity, nutrition, smoking, alcohol intake.	Self-help	Other eHealth intervention	Blood pressure, glucose
Nolan2018	264 at-risk population	57.6	58.5	2-arm; Canada	3-month Web-based intervention aimed at nutrition, smoking and physical activity	Self-help	Other eHealth intervention	Blood pressure, cholesterol, cardiovascular composite score
Orsama2013	56 T2DM patients	61.9	46.0	2-arm; Finland	10-month Web-based and mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Human-supported, remote, minor, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure glucose, weight,
Paldán2021	47 CVD patients	65.1	46.0	2-arm; Germany	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Self-help	Usual care	Physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior

Effectiveness of human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions

Study	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Support type	Control group	Outcomes types
Park2021	60 CVD patients	66.8	21.5	2-arm; USA	2-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, remote, major, layperson	Non eHealth intervention	Physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior
Peacock2020	204 at-risk population	63.5	36.0	2-arm; UK	3-month Web-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, blended, major, professional	Non eHealth intervention	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight, physical activity behavior
Plotnikoff2017	84 T2DM and at-risk patients	44.7	70.2	2-arm; Australia	5-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, blended, major, professional	Waitlist	Blood pressure, weight, physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior
Quinn2011	213 T2DM patients	52.6	50.0	4-arm*; USA	12-month web-based and mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Self-help	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol
Riangkam2021	129 TIDM patients	51.5	39.6	3-arm; Thailand	3-month mobile-based intervention aimed at	Human-supported, blended, major, layperson	Usual care	Glucose
Richard 2019	2724 CVD, diabetes or at- risk patients	69.0	47.7	2-arm; The Netherlands, Finland, France	18-month web-based intervention aimed at nutrition, smoking and physical activity	Human-supported, remote, minor, professional	Other eHealth intervention	Cholesterol, cardiovascular composite score, physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior, smoking, nutrition
Siebmanns2021	48 CVK patients	72.5	35.5	2-arm; Sweden	2-month web-based intervention aimed at sleep	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Other eHealth intervention	Sleep

study	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Supporttype	Control group	Outcomes types
Skobel2017	118 CVD patients	59.0	11.0	2-arm; Spain, Germany, UK	6-month web and mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, remote, minor, professional	Usual care	Cholesterol, physical activity capacity
Smith 2009	41 at-risk population	43.5	N.A.	2-arm; USA	4-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, remote, minor, layperson	Waitlist	Blood pressure, glucose, insulin, cholesterol, weight, cardiovascular composite score, physical activity capacity, physical activity behavior
Spring2017	96 at-risk population	40.2	86.0	3-arm; USA	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Human-supported, blended, major, professional	Non eHealth intervention	Weight
Su2021	146 CVD patients	55.8	32.9	2-arm; China	3-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition, stress, smoking	Human-supported, remote, minor, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, weight, physical activity behavior
Tanaka2018	112 at-risk population	46.7	0.7	2-arm; Japan	2-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Waitlist	Blood pressure, cholesterol, weight, nutrition
Tang2013	415 T2DM patients	53.8	40.1	2-arm; USA	12-month Web-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Human-supported, remote, major, layperson	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight, cardiovascular composite score
Thomas2015	154 at-risk population	53.2	79.9	2-arm; USA	3-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, blended, minor, professional	Other eHealth intervention	Blood pressure, glucose, weight
Tjam2006	57 TIDM and T2DM patients	N.A.	53.2	2-arm; USA	12-month Web-based intervention aimed at	Human-supported, major, remote, professional	Usual care	Glucose, Cholesterol

Effectiveness of human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions

Study	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Supporttype	Control group	Outcomes types
Tomita2009	40 CVD patients	75.9	68.8	2-arm; USA	12-month web-based intervention aimed at	Human-supported, minor, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, sleep
Turnin2021	282 T2DM patients	59.6	36.9	2-arm; France	12-month web-based and mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Self-help	Usual care	Glucose
Van der Weegen2013	199 TIDM and T2DM patients	58.4	53.4	3-arm; The Netherlands	6-month web-based and mobile-based intervention	Human-supported, major, blended, professional	Usual care	Physical activity behavior
Vluggen2021	478 T2DM patients	60.2	32.5	2-arm; The Netherlands	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity and nutrition	Self-help	Waitlist	Physical activity behavior
Vogel2017	36 CVD patients	62.8	0	2-arm; Austria	1.5-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Self-help	Usual care	Physical activity capacity
Watson2015	65 at-risk population	52.2	55.5	2-arm; UK	12-month web-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Self-help	Usual care	Blood pressure, cholesterol, weight, nutrition
Wayne2015	131 T2DM patients	53.2	72.5	2-arm; Canada	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Human-supported, blended, major, professional	Non eHealth intervention	Glucose, weight
Widmer2017	80 CVD patients	63.1	18.5	2-arm; USA	3-month mobile- and web-based intervention aimed at physical activity, nutrition, and smoking	Self-help	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight, physical activity behavior, nutrition

Chapter 4

Table 4. Continued

study	Participants	Age (mean)	Gender (% female)	RCT setting	Intervention group(s)	Supporttype	Control group	Outcomes types
Widyanata2019	65 T2DM patients	N.A.	56.7	2-arm; Indonesia	3-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Self-help	Waitlist	Glucose, insulin cholesterol,
Wong2020	438 CVD patients	52.4	34.5	2-arm; China	6-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Self-help	Usual care	Blood pressure, cholesterol physical activity behavior
Wong2021	77 at-risk population	59.0	55.8	2-arm; China	3-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity, stress and nutrition	Self-help	Non eHealth intervention	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight, physical activity behavior
Wongrochan- anan 2015	126 T2DM patients	52.5	46.8	2-arm; Thailand	3-month web-based intervention aimed at physical activity, and nutrition.	Self-help	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, cholesterol, weight, nutrition
Yu 2019	92 T2DM patients	52.3	29.7	2-arm; China	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Usual care	Blood pressure, glucose, weight
Yudi2021	206 CKD patients	56.5	31.2	2-arm; USA	2-month mobile-based intervention aimed at physical activity	Human-supported, remote, minor, professional	Usual care	Glucose, cholesterol, weight, physical activity behavior, smoking
Zhang2019	156 TIDM and T2DM patients	53.5	39.1	2-arm; China	6-month mobile-based intervention aimed at nutrition and physical activity	Human-supported, remote, major, professional	Usual care	Glucose, cholesterol, weight

CVD = cardiovascular disease; CKD = chronic kidney disease; TIDM = type 1 diabetes mellitus; T2DM = type 2 diabetes mellitus *multiple control conditions, only the least extensive condition was extracted

Effectiveness of human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions

CHAPTER 4 | APPENDIX 3

Table 5. Risk of bias assessment of the included studies.

Study	DI	D2	D3	D4	D5	Overall
Agarwal2019(a)	1	!	+	+	+	!
Agarwal2019(b)	1	1	+	+	+	1
Akinci2019	+	+	+	+	+	+
Appel2011	1	-	-	1	+	-
Baer2020	+	+	1	+	+	1
Bailey2020	1	1	+	+	+	1
Bennett2010	+	+	+	+	1	1
Bennett2018	+	+	+	+	1	1
Bond2007	1	1	+	+	1	1
Bozorgi2021	+	1	+	1	1	1
Cai2021	1	1	+	+	1	1
Chao2019	1	1	+	-	1	-
Choi2019	1	+	+	+	+	1
Chow2020	1	1	+	+	1	1
Connely2017	+	1	+	+	+	1
Dorje2019	+	+	+	+	+	+
Dorsch2020	1	1	+	1	+	1
Duan2018	1	1	+	1	1	1
Duscha2018	1	+	+	+	1	1
Engelen2020	+	+	-	1	1	-
Fukuoka2015	+	1	+	1	1	1
Glasgow2012	+	+	+	1	1	1
Gong2020	+	+	+	+	!	1
Grau-Pellicer2020	1	1	+	1	1	1
Gunawardena2019	+	+	1	+	1	1
Hanswel2017	1	+	+	+	1	1
Haste2017	+	1	1	+	1	1
Hilmarsdóttir2021	+	+	+	+	1	1
Höchsmann2019	+	+	+	+	+	+

Study	DI	D2	D3	D4	D5	Overall
Holmen2014	+	+	+	+	+	+
Houchen-Wolloff2018	+	!	!	+	1	1
Humalda2020	+	+	+	+	1	1
Imanaka2014	1	+	+	+	1	!
Jahangiry2015	1	+	-	+	1	-
Javaheri2020	1	!	+	+	+	1
Johnston2016	1	!	+	+	+	1
Keyserling2014	-	!	+	!	!	-
Khanji2019	+	+	+	+	+	+
Kim2006	1	!	+	+	+	!
Kim2016	+	!	•	1	+	!
Kim2019	+	1	!	+	!	1
Kirwan2013	1	!	+	+	1	1
Kooiman2018	1	+	+	+	1	1
Kouwenhoven-Pasmooij2018	+	+	•	1	-	-
Ku2020	!	1	+	+	1	1
Kulick2013	+	1	+	!	1	1
Kumar2020	+	!	+	+	1	1
Lear2014	+	+	+	+	!	1
Lee2018	+	!	+	!	!	1
Lee2020	+	!	+	!	!	1
Li2019	-	1	+	+	+	-
Li2020	1	!	+	+	1	1
Liebreich2009	!	+	+	!	!	1
Lim2021	+	+	+	+	+	+
Lindberg2017	+	+	-	+	-	-
Lisón2020	+	+	!	+	!	1
Little2017	+	+	+	+	1	1
Lorig2006	1	1	+	!	1	1
Lorig2010	1	+	+	1	1	1
Lunde2020	+	!	+	+	1	1

Study	DI	D2	D3	D4	D5	Overall
Maddison2015	+	+	1	1	+	1
Maddison2019	+	+	+	+	+	+
McDermott2018	1	+	+	+	+	1
McKay2001	1	1	+	1	1	1
МсКау2002	!	1	+	1	1	1
McLeod2020	+	+	+	+	+	+
McMahon2012	+	+	+	+	1	1
Mensorio2019	+	+	-	+	+	-
Murray2018	!	+	+	+	1	1
Nolan2018	+	+	1	+	1	1
Orsama2013	1	1	1	+	1	1
Paldán2021	1	1	+	+	+	1
Park2021	1	1	1	+	1	1
Peacock2020	+	+	+	+	+	+
Plotnikoff2017	+	+	1	+	+	1
Quinn2011	!	+	-	+	+	-
Riangkam2021	+	+	+	+	1	1
Richard2019	1	+	+	+	+	1
Siebmanns2021	1	+	1	1	1	1
Skobel2017	1	1	-	+	1	-
Smith2009	1	+	+	+	1	1
Spring2017	+	+	-	+	1	-
Su2021	+	!	+	+	+	1
Tanaka2018	1	+	+	+	1	1
Tang2013	1	+	+	+	1	1
Thomas2015	+	+	+	1	1	1
Tjam2006	1	!	1	+	!	1
Tomita2009	!	+	+	1	1	1
Turnin2021	!	+	+	+	1	1
Van der Weegen2013	+	+	1	+	+	1
Vluggen2021	+	+	+	1	+	1

Study	Dl	D2	D3	D4	D5	Overall
Vogel2017	+	+	+	+	!	1
Watson2015	+	+	+	+	!	1
Wayne2015	+	+	+	+	!	1
Widmer2017	1	1	!	+	!	1
Widyanata2019	1	1	-	+	!	-
Wong2020	1	+	+	+	1	1
Wong2021	+	+	+	+	1	1
Wongrochananan2015	1	+	!	1	!	1
Yu2019	+	+	+	+	!	1
Yudi2021	+	+	+	+	+	+
Zhang2019	+	+	+	+	1	1

Domain 1: Risk of bias arising from the randomization process Domain 2: Risk of bias due to deviations from the intended interventions Domain 3: Risk of bias due to missing outcome data Domain 4: Risk of bias in measurement of the outcome Domain 5: Risk of bias in selection of the reported result



Low risk

Some concerns

High risk



5

USE INTENTION AND USER EXPECTATIONS OF HUMAN-SUPPORTED AND SELF-HELP EHEALTH INTERVENTIONS: AN INTERNET-BASED RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIAL

This chapter is published in JMIR Formative research as:

Cohen Rodrigues, T. R., Reijnders, T., Breeman, L.D., Janssen, V. R., Kraaijenhagen, R. A., Atsma, D. E., & Evers, A. W. M. (2024). Use Intention and user expectations of Human-Supported and Self-Help eHealth Interventions: Internet-based Randomized Controlled Trial. *JMIR Formative Research, 8*, e38803.

ABSTRACT

Background: Self-help eHealth interventions provide automated support to change health behaviors without any further human assistance. The main advantage of self-help eHealth interventions is that they have the potential to lower the workload of health care professionals. However, one disadvantage is that they generally have a lower uptake. Possibly, the absence of a relationship with a health care professional (referred to as the working alliance) could lead to negative expectations that hinder the uptake of self-help interventions. The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) identifies which expectations predict use intention. As there has been no previous research exploring how expectations affect the adoption of both self-help and human-supported eHealth interventions, this study is the first to investigate the impact of expectations on the uptake of both kinds of eHealth interventions.

Objective: This study investigated the intention to use a self-help eHealth intervention compared to a human-supported eHealth intervention and the expectations that moderate this relationship.

Methods: A total of 146 participants were randomly assigned to 1 of 2 conditions (human-supported or self-help eHealth interventions). Participants evaluated screenshots of a human-supported or self-help app-based stress intervention. We measured intention to use the intervention-expected working alliance and the UTAUT constructs: performance expectancy, effort expectancy, and social influence.

Results: Use intention did not differ significantly between the 2 conditions ($t_{1,42}$ =-1.133; *P*=.26). Performance expectancy ($F_{1,140}$ =69.269; *P*<.001), effort expectancy ($F_{1,140}$ =3.961; *P*=.049), social influence ($F_{1,140}$ =90.025; *P*<.001), and expected working alliance ($F_{1,140}$ =26.435; *P*<.001) were positively related to use intention regardless of condition. The interaction analysis showed that performance expectancy ($F_{1,140}$ =4.363; *P*=.04) and effort expectancy ($F_{1,140}$ =4.102; *P*=.045) more strongly influenced use intention in the self-help condition compared to the human-supported condition.

Conclusions: As we found no difference in use intention, our results suggest that we could expect an equal uptake of self-help eHealth interventions and human-supported ones. However, attention should be paid to people who have doubts about the intervention's helpfulness or ease of use. For those people, providing additional human support would be beneficial to ensure uptake. Screening user expectations could help health care professionals optimize self-help eHealth intervention uptake in practice.

Keywords: eHealth, use intention, human support, working alliance, UTAUT

INTRODUCTION

eHealth provides the opportunity to provide remote or automated health care support through digital tools (Barak et al., 2009). eHealth is becoming increasingly relevant, for example, because of the physical restrictions during the recent COVID-19 outbreak (Bokolo, 2021). During this pandemic, the demand for health care support increased too. Especially vulnerable groups experienced increased mental health difficulties (Browning et al., 2021; Husky et al., 2020), which require professional support. However, health care professionals already have a high workload and pressure (Simionato & Simpson, 2018) and, in some cases, even experience an additional workload from using eHealth (Bellicha et al., 2017). Self-help eHealth interventions might provide a potential solution to these problems. Self-help eHealth interventions are defined as interventions in which automated support instead of human assistance is provided (Barak et al., 2009). As this means that no human professionals are involved, self-help eHealth interventions are easier and cheaper to widely implement (Barak et al., 2009).

Despite these advantages, self-help interventions generally deal with low levels of adherence (Kelders et al., 2012; Kelders et al., 2011; Murray et al., 2013; Wangberg et al., 2008) and low uptake (Lillevol et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2018). People generally show a higher intention to start with lifestyle changes using an intervention with additional human assistance compared to a self-help intervention (Apolinário-Hagen, 2017). While there has been extensive research on the factors contributing to nonadherence, there is a notable gap in our understanding when it comes to expectations that influence whether individuals will choose to use an intervention before starting. This information is important, as a growing number of eHealth tools are being developed and proven to be effective but hardly used (Ross et al., 2016; Van Gemert-Pijnen et al., 2011). Therefore, the aim of this study is to investigate whether there is a difference in use intentions between self-help and human-supported eHealth interventions and if user expectations influence the intention to use the intervention. If we know what expectations drive people's intention to either use self-help or human-supported eHealth interventions, we could predict and even influence their actual uptake (Venkatesh et al., 2003).

A possible explanation for the low use intention of self-help interventions could be the lack of a relationship with a health care professional (Brandt et al., 2018). This so-called working alliance, the degree to which a health care professional and patient is involved in a useful and collaborative working relationship (Hatcher & Barends, 2006), is an important predictor of intervention adherence and effectiveness (Goldberg et al., 2013; Martin et al., 2000). People are more engaged with the intervention and motivated to work on their goals when they feel supported. This effect is not exclusive to face-to-face settings; it is also evident when internet-based human assistance is involved in the use of eHealth interventions (Flückiger et al., 2018; Sucala et al., 2012). It is even shown to be present in self-help eHealth interventions with automated support, using, for example, a human avatar (Bickmore et al., 2010; Clarke et al., 2016; Hauser-Ulrich et al., 2020). Thus, people can form relationships not only with other people but also with technology (Nass & Moon, 2000). Therefore, we predict that people's expectations toward a potential future working alliance when using an eHealth intervention will influence their intention to use that intervention.

Other important expectations that may influence the use intention of human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions can be found within the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) (Venkatesh et al., 2003). According to this model, 3 different types of expectations explain people's intention to start with an eHealth intervention. These UTAUT expectations are (1) performance expectancy: the extent to which someone expects that the eHealth intervention will be helpful in reaching their goals; (2) effort expectancy: the extent to which someone expects that the eHealth intervention will be easy to use; and (3) social influence: the extent to which someone expects that important others believe one should use the eHealth intervention (Venkatesh et al., 2003). Although the UTAUT model has been used to explain people's intention to use eHealth in general (Alharbi, 2021; Duarte & Pinho, 2019), to our knowledge, no studies have used this model to investigate differences in people's intention to use either human-supported or self-help eHealth interventions.

In this study, we aim to investigate (1) whether there is a difference in use intention between human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions, (2) whether the expected working alliance predicts the use intention of human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions, and (3) what UTAUT constructs predict the use intention of human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Design and Sample

In an experiment, people were presented with a sham stress management app. In this app, people would either be supported by a human coach or by an automated coach. We decided to use a student sample, as they experience high levels of stress and could therefore benefit from an eHealth stress intervention (Stallman, 2010), especially given their increased need for support during the COVID-19 pandemic (Browning et al., 2021; Husky et al., 2020). They were asked to evaluate the screenshots of the app and measure their use intention, the 3 UTAUT constructs (performance expectancy, effort expectancy, and social influence), and their expected working alliance. We used a randomized between-participants design with 2 experimental conditions (human-supported or self-help eHealth interventions). Healthy participants aged 18 years or older, who had a sufficient level of grasp in English, were recruited on the campus of Leiden University with internet-based and offline flyers. Power calculations (Faul et al., 2007) identified a minimum sample size of 119 to detect a medium effect ($f^2=0.15$) with an α of .05, based on a linear multiple regression with 3 predictors.

Procedure and Manipulation

Interested participants could open the internet-based questionnaire and would be offered the internet-based consent form. After reading and agreeing to the informed consent, participants were automatically randomized into 1 of 2 experimental conditions (human-supported or self-help eHealth interventions). In both conditions, participants were instructed to evaluate a nonexistent stress management app for students called "Bye Bye Stress." They were asked to carefully assess the screenshots of the app and give feedback to help the researchers make the app fit the needs of students. Although the design of the app and the content of the intervention were identical in both conditions, the conditions differed in the type of support that would be offered in the app. In the human-supported condition, the description of the app explained how a human coach would support the participants and provide them feedback. The screenshots of the app showed a picture of a human coach and messages with a human tone of voice (Figure 1). In the self-help condition, the description of the app explained how participants would receive automated feedback. In the screenshots, there was no picture of a human being, and the messages had a neutral tone of voice (Figure 1). All screenshots used in both conditions can be found in Multimedia Appendix 1. After this, participants were asked to complete the questionnaire.

Figure 1. Example screenshot of the app for human-supported (left) and self-help conditions (right).



Measures

Use Intention

The behavioral intention subscale of the UTAUT questionnaire (Venkatesh et al., 2003) was used to assess use intention. The subscale consists of 3 items (eg, "I would intend to use 'Bye Bye Stress' in the next 6 months.") measured on a Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). A higher score indicates a higher intention to use the app. The scale showed a high internal consistency (Cronbach α =.953).

Expected Working Alliance

The expected working alliance was measured with an adjusted version of the Working Alliance Inventory–Short Revised form (WAI-SR) (Hatcher & Gillaspy, 2006), which consists of 12 items measured on a 5-point Likert-type scale rang-

ing from 1 (seldom) to 5 (always). Questions were adjusted to fit the context of the study by using the words "coach," "lifestyle," and "intervention" and being written in the future tense (eg, "The coach and I will collaborate on setting lifestyle goals."). A higher score indicates a stronger expected working alliance. The adjusted version had a high internal consistency (Cronbach α =.917).

Performance Expectancy, Effort Expectancy, Social Influence

The constructs predicting behavioral intention according to the UTAUT model– performance expectancy, effort expectancy, and social influence–were measured with the corresponding UTAUT subscales (Venkatesh et al., 2003). Each subscale consisted of 4 items (eg, "I find 'Bye Bye Stress' useful."), measured with a Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). A higher score indicates a higher expectation of the app's efficacy in helping the participant, a higher expectation toward the ease of use of the app, and a higher expectation that important others will approve the use of the app. The performance expectancy, effort expectancy, and social influence subscales all had sufficient internal consistency (Cronbach α of .764, .730, .792, respectively).

Manipulation Check

To assess whether participants carefully read the information and whether the manipulation had worked, they were asked to complete a manipulation check question ("During the intervention, I would be supported by..." followed by several options, such as "doctor" or "chatbot").

Analyses

To test whether there was a difference in use intention between conditions, we ran a 2-tailed independent-sample *t* test with use intention as the dependent variable and condition (human-supported vs self-help eHealth interventions) as the independent variable. To test whether the association between condition and use intention differed for different levels of the working alliance, we conducted a univariate general linear model (GLM) analysis with interactions. We added use intention as the dependent variable, condition as a fixed factor, and expected working alliance as a covariate. We analyzed both the main effects of condition and expected working alliance, as well as their interaction effect on use intention. To further investigate the interaction patterns found in the data, we conducted a simple slopes analysis. To formulate the simple slope equations for both the human-supported condition and the self-help condition, the intercept and the slope were obtained from the parameter estimates of the GLM analysis testing the association between expected working alliance and use intention.

To test whether the association between condition and use intention differed for different levels of the UTAUT constructs of performance expectancy, effort expectancy, and social influence, we conducted 3 univariate GLM analyses with interactions. We added use intention as dependent variable, condition as fixed factor, and each of the UTAUT constructs (performance expectancy, effort expectancy, or social influence) as a covariate in 3 separate analyses. We analyzed both the main effects of condition and the UTAUT construct, as well as their interaction effect on use intention. To further investigate the interaction patterns found in the data, we again conducted 3 simple slopes analyses: the intercept and the slope were obtained for both conditions from the parameter estimates of the GLM analyses testing the association between the UTAUT construct and use intention.

Statistical analyses were conducted with SPSS (version 26; IBM Corp) with a significance level set at P≤.05.

Ethical Considerations

The study was approved by the Psychology Research Ethics Committee of Leiden University (CEP19-1125/557). Furthermore, the study was preregistered through the Center for Open Science (Cohen Rodrigues & Reijnders, 2021). Before the start of the study, participants were asked to sign an informed consent form. After completing all the questionnaires, they were debriefed and provided with a few examples of real internet-based stress management interventions in case they needed one. As compensation, participants received course credits.

RESULTS

Demographics

A total of 146 students participated in our study and completed the questionnaire. Their mean age was 21.8 (SD 4.51) years, 103 (70.5%) were female, and 104 (71.2%) were of Dutch nationality (Table 1). There were no significant differences in demographic characteristics between the 2 groups. Use intention and user expectations of human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions

Variable	Total sample (N = 146)	Human-supported condition (n = 73)	Self-help condition (n = 73)
Age (years), mean (SD)	21.8 (4.5)	22.0 (4.6)	21.6 (4.4)
Female, n (%)	103 (70.5)	47 (66.2)	56 (76.7)
Nationality, n (%)			
Dutch	104 (71.2)	49 (67.1)	55 (75.3)
European (non-Dutch)	37 (10)	20 (27.4)	17 (23.3)
Other	5 (3.4)	4 (5.5)	1 (1.4)

Table 1. Baseline demographic characteristics.

Use intention per condition

We found no significant difference in use intention between the human-supported condition and self-help condition (t_{142} =-1.133; *P*=.26; Table 2). Furthermore, we found no differences between the 2 conditions in any of the other constructs (Table 2).

Table 2. Mean scores and SDs of use intention and its predictors.

Variable (scoring range)	Human-supported condition (n = 73), mean (SD)	Self-help condition (n = 73), mean (SD)	P value
Use intention (3-15)	7.5 (3.6)	8.2 (3.6)	.26
Expected working alliance (12-60)	42.3 (8.2)	40.3 (8.7)	.16
Performance expectancy (4-20)	13.8 (2.9)	14.0 (2.5)	.69
Effort expectancy (4-20)	16.9 (2.4)	16.8 (2.3)	.94
Social influence (4-20)	12.5 (2.9)	12.9 (3.1)	.66

Working Alliance and Use Intention

The GLM showed no significant association between condition and expected working alliance ($F_{1,140}$ =0.051; P=.82; η^2 =0). However, we did find a significant positive association between expected working alliance and use intention ($F_{1,140}$ =26.435; P<.001; η^2 =0.159). We found no significant interaction effect of condition and expected working alliance on use intention ($F_{1,140}$ =0.367; P=.55; η^2 =0.003; Figure 2).



Figure 2. Simple slopes of the effects of expected working alliance, performance expectancy, effort expectancy, and social influence on use intention.

UTAUT Constructs and Use Intention

The GLM showed no significant association between condition and performance expectancy ($F_{1,140}$ =3.34; P=.07; η^2 =0.024). We did, however, find a significant positive association between performance expectancy and use intention ($F_{1,140}$ =69.269; P<.001; η^2 =0.331) and a significant interaction effect of condition and performance expectancy on use intention ($F_{1,140}$ =4.363; P=.04; η^2 =0.030). An increase in performance expectancy was related to a greater increase in use intention in the self-help condition compared to the human-supported condition (Figure 2).

We also found no significant association between condition and effort expectancy ($F_{1,140}$ =3.4086; P=.07; η^2 =0.024). However, again, we did find a significant positive association between effort expectancy and use intention ($F_{1,140}$ =3.96]; P=.049; η^2 =0.028) and a significant interaction effect of condition and effort expectancy on use intention ($F_{1,140}$ =4.102; P=.045; η^2 =0.028). An increase in effort expectancy was related to a greater increase in use intention in the self-help condition but not in the human-supported condition (Figure 2).

Again, we found no significant association between condition and social influence ($F_{1,140}$ =0.003; P=.96; η^2 =0). We did find a significant positive association between social influence and use intention ($F_{1,140}$ =90.025; P<.001; η^2 =0.391) but this time we found no significant interaction effect of condition and social influence on use intention ($F_{1,140}$ =0.020; P=.89; η^2 =0; Figure 2).

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Overview

In our study, we asked university students to evaluate a sham stress management app. We aimed to investigate whether there is a difference in use intention for self-help eHealth interventions compared to human-supported ones and what user expectations may influence this. We found that people were as likely to start using a self-help eHealth intervention as an eHealth intervention with human support. More than with human-supported interventions, the perception that the intervention might be ineffective or difficult to use limits the intention to start using self-help interventions. See Figure 3 for an overview of the findings.

Figure 3. Overview of study findings.



Although previous studies show a relatively low uptake and use intention of self-help eHealth interventions (Apolinário-Hagen, 2017; Lillevol et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2018), we did not find differences in use intentions between the selfhelp and human-supported interventions. Possibly, the health beliefs, perceptions, and skills of our student sample might have played a role in this (van der Waal et al., 2022). Not only do perceptions about the effectiveness or ease of use of an eHealth tool affect the start of an intervention but also perceptions about the risks of getting health-related problems and actually performing the health-promoting behavior (Rosenstock, 1974). Furthermore, a younger age and higher educational level are related to a higher intention to start eHealth interventions in general (Apolinário-Hagen, 2017). Our sample might therefore have been more open to using eHealth interventions and were less influenced by the presence, or lack thereof, of human support. Future research could focus on investigating the role of age and educational level on use intentions of selfhelp and human-supported eHealth interventions. Another explanation for the differences in findings between our and previous studies (Lillevol et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2018) could be the use of different outcome measures. Although the UTAUT model predicts that use intention can predict actual use, studies do show that people have difficulties translating their intentions into actual behavior (Webb & Sheeran, 2006). The objective measure of uptake might therefore have led to different results compared to the more subjective measure of use intention we used, which would be interesting to additionally take into account. Finally, the study that did find a difference in use intention between self-help and human-supported interventions focused on interventions for mental health, such as depression (Apolinário-Hagen, 2017). It would be interesting to test if the need for social support during eHealth interventions depends on the goal of the intervention (eg, psychological vs lifestyle improvements).

Interestingly, we found that an expected working alliance has an equally strong effect on the intention to use either a human-supported or self-help intervention. This result is in line with previous studies showing a positive effect of working alliance on intervention effectiveness and adherence, both within human-supported (Flückiger et al., 2018; Sucala et al., 2012) and self-help eHealth interventions with automated support (Bickmore et al., 2010; Clarke et al., 2016; Hauser-Ulrich et al., 2020). Our findings show that working alliance is not important only during an intervention but even before the intervention has started in the form of expectations. The similar effect of the expected working alliance in both conditions suggests that people not only are able to actually have relationships with technology (Nass & Moon, 2000) but also seem to expect building one with the technology they are about to interact with. These results would also mean that improving the expected working alliance before the start of an intervention (eg, by designing a digital character that would welcome the user) would be a way to possibly increase the uptake of self-help eHealth interventions.

Finally, we found that performance and effort expectancy had a stronger effect on the use intention of self-help interventions compared to human-supported interventions. Not only the UTAUT model but also models such as the Health Belief model show that perceived benefits and perceived barriers affect whether people start with a health-promoting behavior, such as stress management (van der Waal et al., 2022). What is new, though, is that the perceived effectiveness and ease of use of the intervention have a more pronounced impact on intention to use an intervention for interventions with an absence of human support compared to interventions where human support is available. This suggests that the perception that the intervention might be ineffective or difficult to use diminishes the intention to start using a self-help intervention but not the intention to start using a human-supported intervention. Meta-analyses show that the mere presence of a human being (even a nonprofessional) is a key ingredient in intervention effectiveness and the prevention of dropout (Etzelmueller et al., 2020; Kayotaki et al., 2018; Richards & Richardson, 2012). Just the option of having someone available to provide procedural support (related to performance expectancy) or technical support (related to effort expectancy) seems to be enough for people to be motivated to start something new. The presence of a human coach could act as a buffer against negative expectations, which would make it easier for these people to adhere to the intervention (Miller & DiMatteo, 2013). Possibly, the mere presence of social support in the human-supported intervention could compensate for a lack of self-efficacy (the extent to which one believes in his or her own capabilities (Bandura et al., 1999)) that people may feel when using a new intervention (Fernández et al., 2014; Zhou et al., 2017). This could lower the perceived barriers and increase willingness to start using the intervention (van der Waal et al., 2022). Exploring this further is crucial in a clinical context because individuals with limited social support tend to experience reduced adherence to health interventions and demonstrate less favorable intervention outcomes (Lindfors et al., 2014; Miller & DiMatteo, 2013). Even despite the relatively high use intention of self-help eHealth interventions, these results indicate that it is important to take the user's needs and wishes into account when deciding on the level of human support to provide during an intervention.

Self-help eHealth interventions will become more and more important in health care practice. To ensure uptake of new eHealth interventions, professionals could screen the user's expectations toward the intervention's helpfulness and ease of use beforehand (Table 3). If the user's expectations turn out to be low, it would be useful to incorporate some level of human support into the eHealth intervention to prevent people from dropping out even before the start of the intervention. Additionally, designers of self-help eHealth interventions could pay extra attention toward its perceived helpfulness and ease of use. Preventing negative user expectations toward the intervention's performance or effort expectancy could help increase the uptake of self-help eHealth interventions. **Table 3.** Items of the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology subscales:performance expectancy (PE) and effort expectancy (EE).

Item	Statement
PE1	I find [name eHealth technology] useful.
PE2	Using [name eHealth technology] enables me to [target behaviour].
PE3	Using [name eHealth technology] will [target behaviour].
PE4	If I use [name eHealth technology] I will know how to [target behaviour].
EE1	My interaction with [name eHealth technology] is clear and understandable.
EE2	It would be easy for me to develop the skills needed to use [name eHealth technology].
EE3	I think [name eHealth technology] would be easy to use.
EE4	It would be easy to learn how to operate [name eHealth technology].

Strengths and Limitations

Our study was not without limitations. For example, although the screenshots of the app were adjusted to the experiences and interests of our sample, it is plausible that the topic of stress management was not equally relevant for all students, which could also have affected use intentions. For future studies, it would be better to tailor the goal of the eHealth intervention (eg, decreasing stress or improving physical activity) to the actual interests of the individual participants to investigate if and how this affects a participant's use intention. Second, we used a university student population to test our hypotheses. People with a younger age and higher educational level have a more favorable attitude toward eHealth interventions in general (Apolinário-Hagen, 2017). To be able to generalize our findings, future research should investigate whether the same effects are found in other populations. It would be interesting to replicate this study with a target population who would benefit the most from eHealth interventions, for example, older patients with a chronic disease, to see if their expectations toward either human or automated support have similar effects on their intention to start with such interventions.

Conclusions

In our study, we investigated what expectations drive the intention to start using self-help and human-supported eHealth interventions. The results suggest that expectations toward the intervention's helpfulness and ease of use are especially relevant regarding the use of self-help interventions. This means that people who have doubts about the intervention's usefulness or usability would benefit the most from additional human support. The question, however, remains whether such expectations are also relevant for actual uptake. Our study pro-

vides a basis to further investigate user expectations within a clinical sample, which will provide health care practitioners with the tools to influence the uptake of eHealth interventions.

REFERENCES CHAPTER 5

- Alharbi, F. (2021). The use of digital healthcare platforms during the COVID-19 pandemic: The consumer perspective. *Acta Informatica Medica*, *29*(1), 51-58. https://10.5455/ aim.2021.29.51-58
- Apolinário-Hagen, J., Kemper, J., & Stürmer, C. (2017). Public acceptability of e-mental health treatment services for psychological problems: A scoping review. JMIR Mental Health, 4(2), e10. https://10.2196/mental.6186
- Bandura, A., Freeman, W. H., & Lightsey, R. (1999). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy, 13(2), 158. https://10.1891/0889-8391.13.2.158
- Barak, A., Klein, B., & Proudfoot, J. G. (2009). Defining internet-supported therapeutic interventions. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 38(1), 4–17. https://10.1007/s12160-009-9130-7
- Bellicha, A., Macé, S., & Oppert, J. M. (2017). Prescribing of electronic activity monitors in cardiometabolic diseases: Qualitative interview-based study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(9), e328. https://10.2196/jmir.8107
- Bickmore, T. W., Mitchell, S. E., Jack, B. W., Paasche-Orlow, M. K., Pfeifer, L. M., & Odonnell, J. (2010). Response to a relational agent by hospital patients with depressive symptoms. *Interacting with Computers*, 22(4), 289–298. https://10.1016/j.intcom.2009.12.001
- **Bokolo**, A. J. (2021). Application of telemedicine and eHealth technology for clinical services in response to COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Technology*, 11(2), 359-366. https://10.1007/ s12553-020-00516-4
- Brandt, C. J., Søgaard, G. I., Clemensen, J., Søndergaard, J., & Nielsen, J. B. (2018). Determinants of successful eHealth coaching for consumer lifestyle changes: Qualitative interview study among health care professionals. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(7), e237. https://10.2196/jmir.9791
- Browning, M. H., Larson, L. R., Sharaievska, I., et al. (2021). Psychological impacts from COVID-19 among university students: Risk factors across seven states in the United States. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(1), e0245327. https://10.1371/journal.pone.0245327
- **Clarke,** J., Proudfoot, J., Whitton, A., et al. (2016). Therapeutic alliance with a fully automated mobile phone and web-based intervention: Secondary analysis of a randomized controlled trial. *JMIR Mental Health*, *3*(1), e10. https://10.2196/mental.4656
- **Cohen Rodrigues**, T. R., & Reijnders, T. (2021, July 6). Intended use of human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions. https://10.17605/OSF.IO/N47CZ
- Duarte, P., & Pinho, J. C. (2019). A mixed methods UTAUT2-based approach to assess mobile health adoption. *Journal of Business Research, 102*, 140-150. https://10.1016/j.jbus-res.2019.05.022
- **Etzelmueller,** A., Vis, C., Karyotaki, E., et al. (2020). Effects of internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy in routine care for adults in treatment for depression and anxiety: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 22*(8), e18100. https://10.2196/18100
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, *39*(2), 175-191. https://10.3758/BF03193146

- Fernández, B. R., Montenegro, E. M., Knoll, N., & Schwarzer, R. (2014). Self-efficacy, action control, and social support explain physical activity changes among Costa Rican older adults. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 11(8), 1573–1578. https://10.1123/ jpah.2013–0175
- Flückiger, C., Del Re, A. C., Wampold, B. E., & Horvath, A. O. (2018). The alliance in adult psychotherapy: A meta-analytic synthesis. *Psychotherapy (Chic)*, 55(4), 316-340. https://10.1037/pst0000172
- Goldberg, S. B., Davis, J. M., & Hoyt, W. T. (2013). The role of therapeutic alliance in mindfulness interventions: Therapeutic alliance in mindfulness training for smokers. *Journal* of Clinical Psychology, 69(9), 936-950. https://10.1002/jclp.21973
- Hatcher, R. L., & Barends, A. W. (2006). How a return to theory could help alliance research. *Psychology and Psychotherapy, 43*(3), 292. https://10.1037/0033-3204.43.3.292
- Hatcher, R. L., & Gillaspy, J. A. (2006). Development and validation of a revised short version of the Working Alliance Inventory. *Psychotherapy Research, 16*(1), 12–25. https://10.10 80/10503300500352500
- Hauser-Ulrich, S., Künzli, H., Meier-Peterhans, D., & Kowatsch, T. (2020). A smartphone-based health care chatbot to promote self-management of chronic pain (SELMA): Pilot randomized controlled trial. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 8(4), el5806. https://10.2196/15806
- Husky, M. M., Kovess-Masfety, V., & Swendsen, J. D. (2020). Stress and anxiety among university students in France during Covid-19 mandatory confinement. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, *102*, 152191. https://10.1016/j.comppsych.2020.152191
- Karyotaki, E., Ebert, D. D., Donkin, L., et al. (2018). Do guided internet-based interventions result in clinically relevant changes for patients with depression? An individual participant data meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review, 63*, 80-92. https://10.1016/j.cpr.2018.06.007
- Kelders, S. M., Kok, R. N., Ossebaard, H. C., & Van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E. (2012). Persuasive system design does matter: A systematic review of adherence to web-based interventions. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(6), e152. https://10.2196/jmir.2104
- Kelders, S. M., Van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E., Werkman, A., Nijland, N., & Seydel, E. R. (2011). Effectiveness of a web-based intervention aimed at healthy dietary and physical activity behavior: A randomized controlled trial about users and usage. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 13(2), e32. https://10.2196/jmir.1624
- Lillevoll, K., Vangberg, H. C. B., Griffiths, K. M., & Eisemann, M. R. (2014). Uptake and adherence of a self-directed internet-based mental health intervention with tailored e-mail reminders in senior high schools in Norway. *BMC Psychiatry*, 14(1), 1-11. https://10.1186/1471-244X-14-14
- Lin, J., Faust, B., Ebert, D. D., Krämer, L., & Baumeister, H. (2018). A web-based acceptancefacilitating intervention for identifying patients' acceptance, uptake, and adherence of internet- and mobile-based pain interventions: Randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(8), e244. https://10.2196/jmir.9925
- Lindfors, O., Ojanen, S., Jääskeläinen, T., & Knekt, P. (2014). Social support as a predictor of the outcome of depressive and anxiety disorder in short-term and long-term psychotherapy. *Psychiatry Research, 216*(1), 44–51. https://10.1016/j.psychres.2013.12.050
- Martin, D. J., Garske, J. P., & Davis, M. K. (2000). Relation of the therapeutic alliance with outcome and other variables: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *68*(3), 438-450. https://10.1037/0022-006X.68.3.438

- Miller, T. A., & DiMatteo, M. R. (2013). Importance of family/social support and impact on adherence to diabetic therapy. *Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome and Obesity: Targets and Therapy, 6,* 421-426. https://10.2147/DMSO.S36368
- Murray, E., White, I. R., Varagunam, M., Godfrey, C., Khadjesari, Z., & McCambridge, J. (2013). Attrition revisited: Adherence and retention in a web-based alcohol trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 15(8), e162. https://10.2196/jmir.2336
- Nass, C. I., & Moon, Y. (2000). Machines and mindlessness: Social responses to computers. Journal of Social Issues, 56(1), 81-103. https://10.1111/0022-4537.00153
- Richards, D., & Richardson, T. (2012). Computer-based psychological treatments for depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review, 32*(4), 329-342. https://10.1016/j.cpr.2012.02.004
- Rosenstock, I. M. (1974). The health belief model and preventive health behavior. *Health Education Monographs, 2*(4), 354–386. https://doi.org/10.1177/109019817400200405
- **Ross,** J., Stevenson, F., Lau, R., & Murray, E. (2016). Factors that influence the implementation of e-health: A systematic review of systematic reviews (an update). *Implementation Science*, *11*(1), 1-12. https://10.1186/s13012-016-0510-7
- Simionato, G. K., & Simpson, S. (2018). Personal risk factors associated with burnout among psychotherapists: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 74(9), 1431–1456. https://10.1002/jclp.22615
- Stallman, H. M. (2010). Psychological distress in university students: A comparison with general population data. *Australian Psychologist*, 45(4), 249–257. https://10.1080/00 050067.2010.482109
- Sucala, M., Schnur, J. B., Constantino, M. J., Miller, S. J., Brackman, E. H., & Montgomery, G. H. (2012). The therapeutic relationship in e-therapy for mental health: A systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(4), e110. https://10.2196/jmir.2084
- van der Waal, N. E., de Wit, J., Bol N., Ebbers, W., Hooft, L., Metting, E., van der Laan, L. N. (2022). Predictors of contact tracing app adoption: integrating the UTAUT, HBM and contextual factors. *Technology in Society, 71*, 102101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2022.102101
- van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E., Nijland, N., van Limburg, M., Ossebaard, H. C., Kelders, S. M., Eysenbach, G., & Seydel, E. R. (2011). A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 13(4), e111. https://10.2196/jmir.1672
- Venkatesh, V., Morris, M. G., Davis, G. B., & Davis, F. D. (2003). User acceptance of information technology: Toward a unified view. *MIS Quarterly, 27*(3), 425-478. https://10.2307/30036540
- Wangberg, S. C., Bergmo, T. S., & Johnsen, J. A. (2008). Adherence in internet-based interventions. *Patient Preference and Adherence, 2*, 57-65.
- Webb, T. L., & Sheeran, P. (2006). Does changing behavioral intentions engender behavioral change? A meta-analysis of the experimental evidence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 132(2), 249-268. https://10.1037/0033-2909.132.2.249
- **Zhou,** G., Gan, Y., Hamilton, K., & Schwarzer, R. (2017). The role of social support and selfefficacy for planning fruit and vegetable intake. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior, 49*(2), 100-106. https://10.1016/j.jneb.2016.09.005

Use intention and user expectations of human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions

CHAPTER 5 | APPENDIX 1



Screenshots shown in human-supported and self-help condition.



Use intention and user expectations of human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions




Use intention and user expectations of human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions





6

HUMAN CUES IN EHEALTH TO PROMOTE LIFESTYLE CHANGE: AN EXPERIMENTAL FIELD STUDY TO EXAMINE ADHERENCE TO SELF-HELP INTERVENTIONS

This chapter is accepted for publication in Internet Interventions as:

Cohen Rodrigues, T. R., de Buisonjé, D. R., Reijnders, T., Santhanam, P., Kowatsch, T., Breeman, L. D., Janssen, V. R., Kraaijenhagen, R. A., Atsma, D. E., & Evers, A. W. M. (2024). Human cues in eHealth to promote lifestyle change: An experimental field study to examine adherence to self-help interventions

ABSTRACT

eHealth lifestyle interventions without human support (self-help interventions) are generally less effective, as they suffer from lower adherence levels. To solve this, we investigated whether (1) using a text-based conversational agent (TCA) and applying human cues contribute to a working alliance with the TCA, and whether (2) adding human cues and establishing a positive working alliance increase intervention adherence. Participants (N=121) followed a TCA-supported app-based physical activity intervention. We manipulated two types of human cues: visual (i.e., message appearance) and relational (i.e., message content). We employed a 2 (visual cues: yes, no) x 2 (relational cues: yes, no) between-subjects design, resulting in four experimental groups: (1) visual and relational cues, (2) visual cues only, (3) relational cues only, or (4) no human cues. We measured the working alliance with the Working Alliance Inventory Short Revised form and intervention adherence as the number of days participants responded to the TCA's messages. Contrary to expectations, the working alliance was unaffected by using human cues. Working alliance was positively related to adherence (t(78)=3.606, p=.001). Furthermore, groups who received visual cues showed lower adherence levels compared to those who received relational cues only or no cues (U=1140.5, z=-3.520, p<.001). We replicated the finding that establishing a working alliance contributes to intervention adherence, independently of the use of human cues in a TCA. However, we were unable to show that adding human cues impacted the working alliance and increased adherence. The results indicate that adding visual cues to a TCA may even neqatively affect adherence, possibly because it may create confusion concerning the true nature of the coach, which may prompt unrealistic expectations..

Keywords: eHealth; digital health; lifestyle change; physical activity; intervention; conversational agent; chatbot; adherence; working alliance.

INTRODUCTION

A healthy lifestyle has a positive effect on the number of disease-free years in an adult's life (Nyberg et al., 2020). A multicohort study showed that meeting the recommended physical activity levels, BMI, smoking behavior, and alcohol consumption would lead to an increase of 9.9 disease-free years for men and 9.4 of disease-free years for women (Nyberg et al., 2020). Lifestyle interventions are therefore widely recommended to improve health outcomes such as blood pressure or cholesterol levels (Piepoli et al., 2016). Long-term maintenance of recommended lifestyle behaviors is difficult for most people, yet the uptake and maintenance of lifestyle behaviors can be facilitated by the use of eHealth, which can be defined as the use of new information and communication technology, especially internet technology, to support or enhance health and health care (Barak et al., 2009). An increasing amount of eHealth lifestyle interventions are being developed (Thomas & Bond, 2014), which are shown to be effective in improving lifestyle behaviors (e.g., physical activity) and consequently reduce risk factors that are associated with lifestyle-related diseases (e.a., high blood pressure, high cholesterol) (Beishuizen et al., 2016; Lunde et al., 2018). Within eHealth interventions, support can either be provided by a human professional (human-supported interventions), or automatically through computer technology, meaning that there is no human guidance or human professional involved. Interventions in which there is no support offered through human contact, but only automated support by computer technology, are defined as self-help interventions (Barak et al., 2009). For this reason, self-help interventions are generally easier and cheaper to widely implement to a larger and more varied audience as they require no involvement from healthcare professionals, who may lack time or insufficient experience to additionally offer lifestyle support (Brotons et al., 2005; Jallinoja et al., 2007; Jansink et al., 2010).

There is however a downside to self-help interventions. Adherence, or the extent to which a person uses the eHealth intervention as intended, is often problematic (Kelders et al., 2012; Kelders et al., 2011; Murray et al., 2013; Wangerg et al., 2008). This means that people use self-help interventions less frequently or stop using it earlier than necessary for the intervention to be optimally effective. However, this does not imply that support of a healthcare professional is always necessary for optimal results. Meta-analyses revealed that human contact with a nonprofessional is enough to both ensure intervention (Etzelmueller et al., 2020; Kayotaki et al., 2018; Richards & Richardson, 2012; Smith et al., 2012). It seems that the mere involvement of another human being, or something that is perceived as having human traits (Haslam et al., 2008), rather than professional guidance is the key ingredient within human-supported interventions. The underlying reason for the found effects of human contact within interventions.

provider (Brandt et al., 2018). In clinical practice this relationship is called the working alliance, which is defined as the degree to which a healthcare professional and patient are involved in a useful and collaborative working relationship (Hatcher & Barends, 2006). Although the concept of working alliance originated within psychotherapy (Bordin, 1979), it has more recently been applied to the domain of lifestyle interventions (Goldberg et al., 2013; Hauser-Ulrich et al., 2020; Kowatsch et al., 2021b). The quality of the working alliance depends on several factors such as the level of agreement on treatment goals, on tasks that must be performed to reach treatment goals, and on the guality of the relationship between healthcare professional and patient (Bordin, 1979; Horvath & Greenber, 1989). The establishment of a good working alliance promotes intervention adherence and effectiveness, both in face-to-face interventions (Goldberg et al., 2013; Martin et al., 2000) as well as in eHealth interventions with human contact (Flückiger et al., 2018; Sucala et al., 2012). In addition, individuals are also able to form a working alliance with computers (Nass & Moon, 2000; Reeves & Nass, 2000). Individuals can interact with computers as they would do with human beings and apply similar social rules and heuristics. For example, people tend to communicate with their smartphone (e.g., Apple's Siri) in a similar way as they would do with another human being. The establishment of a working alliance in eHealth interventions can also lead to more positive treatment outcomes (Bickmore et al., 2010; Clarke et al., 2016; Hauser-Ulrich et al., 2020; Kowatsch et al., 2021a; Kowatsch et al., 2021b).

So, how can we establish a working alliance in self-help interventions without human contact? For this, so-called conversational agent (CA) can be employed. CAs can be defined as computer-based agents which can mimic human-like conversational behavior such as responding to input, generate output, apply turn-taking) (Cassell et al., 1999). With these characteristics, they can provide automated support in eHealth interventions (e.g., home exercising; Kowatsch et al., 2021b) to promote adherence to lifestyle behaviors. An embodied conversational agent (ECA) is visually present on screen and can provide non-verbal cues (e.g., hand gestures), while a text-based conversational agent (TCA) is able to communicate with text only (Kowatsch et al., 2020). A TCA has the advantage of being easier to develop, being easier to apply in a mobile app, and is therefore more suitable for widespread implementation (Kowatsch et al., 2020). Studies demonstrate that people show more relational behaviors such as facial expressions, and are more positive about the interaction when they believe that their interaction partner is a human being rather than a computer technology (Aharoni & Fridlund, 2007; Appel et al., 2012). To enhance these perceptions while interacting with CAs, human cues could be applied, such as an avatar of a human being, a human tone-of-voice (Sah & Peng, 2015), or lower speed of feedback (Kelders et al., 2015). Furthermore, human cues in textual communication could be mimicked by adding emoticons (Walther & D'Addario, 2001). Besides the appearance of the messages, human cues could also be applied to the content of its messages. Conversation rules which are often used by humans to established a relationship, such as humor, empathy and small talk could also be incorporated as human cues in CA (Bickmore et al., 2005; Schulman & Bickmore, 2009). Studies with CAs show that applying such human cues to the interaction increases the working alliance users experience with the CA (Bickmore et al., 2005) and their intention to use the CA (Lisetti et al., 2013).

To conclude, self-help intervention studies with TCAs have been conducted before to examine their effect on psychological outcomes, only a small number of them focused on improving lifestyle behaviors (Tudor et al., 2020). Furthermore, the effects of human cues are predominantly tested with ECAs (e.g. Bickmore et al., 2005; Lisetti et al., 2013). Therefore, little is known about how human cues affect the working alliance when applied in TCAs, or how the working alliance affects adherence to TCA-supported interventions. Furthermore, the majority of studies tested the effects of either using human cues or not (e.g. Bickmore et al., 2005; Kelders et al., 2015; Lisetti et al., 2013; Sah & Peng, 2015; Schulman & Bickmore, 2009), while it is more interesting to test the effect of different types of human cues and possible interaction effects when combining human cues.

The Present Study

In this study, we will examine the impact of human cues in TCA on establishing a working alliance in a self-help lifestyle intervention. In addition, we will examine the impact of human cues and the working alliance on participant's intervention adherence. With regard to human cues, we will focus on both visual cues (i.e., appearance of the message and TCA) and relational cues (i.e., content of the message). We will test the following hypotheses. First, human cues will improve the working alliance people experience with TCA. Second, an established working alliance and application of human cues will promote participants' adherence to the lifestyle intervention. Finally, the working alliance will mediate the effect of human cues on adherence. To test our hypotheses, we developed a self-help intervention mobile application with which the participant could interact with a TCA and in which we manipulated both visual and relational cues.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study Design and Procedure

The three-week field experiment was conducted in March and April 2020. To test our hypotheses, we employed a 2 (visual cues: yes, no) x 2 (relational cues: yes, no) between-subjects design, resulting in four experimental groups: (1) visual and relational cues, (2) visual cues only, (3) relational cues only, or (4) no human cues. Power calculations (G*Power) (Faul et al., 2007) identified that we needed a minimum sample size of 128 to detect a medium between-group effect (f = .25) of cue-type with an alpha of .05 (ANOVA with 4 groups). Given the high attrition rates in similar studies (e.g., Hauser-Ulrich et al., 2020; Kramer et al., 2019), we aimed to recruit about double the required number of participants (i.e., 256).

We recruited healthy participants using voluntary response sampling with flyers on the university campus and via social media (e.g., personal social media channels of thesis students involved in the project, public student social media groups). Inclusion criteria were that participants should be aged between 18 and 30 years old, were able to work on their level of physical activity (i.e., based on a negative response to all questions of the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PAR-Q) (Thomas et al., 1992), willing to work on their level of physical activity, have access to a smartphone running iOS or Android, and would have sufficient proficiency in English. Participants were promised that after completion of the experiment, they would enroll in a lottery with the chance of winning one of three Fitbit devices, or one of 100 webshop vouchers worth €10,-. In addition, first-year students could receive credits required to complete their first bachelor year for their participation.

After recruitment, participants joined a waitlist until the start of the screening and onboarding on Monday March 16th 2020. A 3-week intervention duration was chosen as this would be enough time to establish a working alliance with the TCA (given that a relationship can be established after a single interaction, e.g. Bickmore et al., 2010; Schulman & Bickmore, 2009), and to be able to measure changes in adherence to the intervention. Participants had to wait a maximum of three weeks before the start of the experiment. A week before the start of the experiment, participants were asked to provide digital informed consent and fill in the screening survey assessing the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Immediately after providing their consent and being screened as eligible to participate, participants received a link to the iOS or Android app store to download the Benefit StepCoach app. Once the app was downloaded, participants were asked to go through the onboarding procedure to correctly configure the app (e.g., allowing push messages and access to step count data via Apple Health or Google Fit), and to complete the baseline survey. Participants were reminded through emails and text messages to complete the onboarding and baseline survey (measuring demographics and baseline characteristics) after 3, 4 and

5 days. Participants were excluded if they did not finish onboarding before the start of the experiment. An automated mechanism within the app allocated participants to one of the four conditions. All participants would start simultaneously in the three-week (21 days) experiment on Monday March 23rd 2020. Each day, the TCA would send the participants one or several short exercises to complete that day (e.g., quiz or worksheet, see Appendix 1 for an overview of daily exercises) via a push notification. After completing the final survey on day 22 (measuring working alliance), participants would receive the debriefing. The study was approved by the Psychology Research Ethics Committee of Leiden University (2020-02-06-T. Reijnders-V2-2056), and the analyses were preregistered via the Center for Open Science (Cohen Rodrigues & Reijnders, 2020).

Participants

In total, 269 participants were recruited during the wait list period, and were invited to the screening survey. Of these, 43 participants did not meet the inclusion criteria. Of the remaining 226 eligible participants, 127 participants downloaded the app, after which 121 participants completed the baseline measurement (attrition rate of 45%). We were unable identify reasons for dropping out between the recruitment and baseline measurement.

Benefit StepCoach Intervention

The aim of the intervention was to enhance participants' physical activity levels by increasing daily step counts. The intervention was based on a combination of important behavior change techniques (BCTs) (Michie et al., 2013), such as providing participants with information on health consequences, setting and reviewing of health behavior goals, and providing social rewards such as appraisal of the participant's efforts. These are intervention components designed to regulate behavior (such as physical activity) by reinforcing factors that facilitate behavior change, and mitigating factors that hinder behavior change (Michie et al., 2013). Participants would receive daily exercises based on BCTs, which would take about 5 to 10 minutes each day to complete (see Appendix 1 for an overview of all daily exercises). The Transtheoretical Model of health behavior change (Prochaska & Velicer, 1997) was used to develop specific exercises that match each phase of the model, as research shows that choosing exercises that fit within the pre-contemplation, contemplation, preparation, action, and maintenance stage stimulates user adherence and effective behavior change. Furthermore, the model would be applicable to our intervention as it has been previously used to target a wide range of health behaviors, including physical activity (Prochaska et al., 1994). For example, in the pre-contemplation phase we let participants formulate why they would like to improve their physical activity, and in the contemplation phase we let participants formulate pros and cons of behavior change. Later, in the preparation phase, we asked participants

to formulate a concrete step goal. In the action phase, participants received action-planning and problem-solving exercises to help them reach their goal. Finally, in the maintenance phase, participants reviewed their previous successes to help them maintain the new behavior in the future. For an overview of all the exercises (i.e., active ingredients of the intervention) per phase of the Transtheoretical model, see Appendix 1. The mobile application for our self-help intervention was developed with use of the open-source software of Mobile-Coach (www.mobile-coach.eu) (Filler et al., 2015; Kowatsch et al., 2017), which has been previously used for smartphone-based and chatbot-delivered behavioral interventions (e.g. Stieger et al., 2021; Tinschert et al., 2019). See Appendix 2 for more information about the technical implication. As we developed our own intervention, it was important to test whether it was actually effective in improving participants' physical activity levels. Therefore, we conducted some additional analyses, which showed us that the intervention significantly increased participants' step count independently of the experimental condition (see Appendix 3 for more details).

Text-based Conversational Agent

Participants interacted daily with a TCA, the virtual coach who delivered the intervention and offered various conversational turns. Via the chat feature, the TCA delivered daily exercises (see Appendix 1) and would respond to messages of the participants via conversational turns (see Figure 1). All conversational turns were scripted. Each day would consist of two to four conversational turns. The first message would be sent in the morning at 9:00 am, and the following messages after a reply of the participant. If the participant would not reply on time, the TCA would send a reminder in the afternoon at 3:00 pm.

Across the experimental groups, the exercises and feedback were identical, but the conversational turns differed in cue type the TCA used. We manipulated two types of human cues: (1) visual cues, which were related to the appearance of the message and the TCA (human avatar, use of emoticons, human tone-of-voice, and response delay), and (2) relational cues, which were related to the content of the messages, and to what extent these followed social scripts and human conversation rules (e.g., showing empathy, self-disclosure, humor, small talk, and meta-relational communication) (see Figure 2).

Figure I. Scieensilous of Denenic Stephologici dor	Fiaure	1. Screensh	ots of Bene	efit StepC	oach a	pp.
--	---------------	-------------	-------------	------------	--------	-----

	Chat with Tina			Chat w	ith Tina	
	To increase your step count, I will help you set your SMART goal, which means specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant and Time-bound.		You toda the	haven't completed your exercise for y yet. Please do so before the end of day! 302 PM		
			JUNE 10, 2020			
			Hi Asena! I have your third exercise ready for you example. you make a change, such as increasing physical activity, I think it is important to think through to think through its pros and cons. I think a decisional balance scheme is a great way to do so!			
	Yes, I would like to set that as a goal			Not Changing Behavior	Changing Behavior	
	3:15 PM 🛷			Box 1: What is something good that could come from not taking this action?	Box 4: What is something good that could come from faking this action?	
	Great! Now you have a measurable and achievable goal.		Pros			
	To make the goal specific and time-bound too, I would suggest you will aim to walk 10000 steps a day for 1 week. 3:15 PM		Cons	Box 2: What is something had that could come from not liaining this action?	Box 3: What is something bad that could come from taking this action?	
	Would you like to try this goal for the coming week? 🥪					
					9:00 AM	
	Yes, I think I can do that!		l thi in ti	nk this can help to mes of stress or t	o hang on to your plan emptation 😅 9:00 AM	
No, I think this would be too much.			So fa co acti	first of all, could yo on of not increasir vity?	ou name a pro and ng your physical	
					9:00 AM	

Figure 2. Example of conversational turns per condition.



Measures

Baseline Measures

During the onboarding week before the start of the intervention, participants were asked to fill in several demographic questions on gender, age, nationality, and educational background. Furthermore, baseline level of physical activity was measured with the International Physical Activity Questionnaire Short Form (IPAQ-SF) (Lee et al., 2011). The questionnaire consists of seven items asking the participants about their time spent on vigorous and moderate physical activities, walking, and sitting during the previous week. The output is a MET (metabolic equivalent of task) score, representing the amount of energy used to carry out the reported physical activities. A higher score indicates a higher level of physical activity. The IPAQ-SF has been shown to have a high test-retest reliability, but minimal concurrent validity (Lee et al., 2011; Craig et al., 2003). Therefore, baseline objective step count data was additionally retrieved from the participant's smartphone during the onboarding week.

Working Alliance

Participants' working alliance with the TCA was measured with a revised version of the Working Alliance Inventory Short Revised form (WAI-SR) (Hatcher & Gillaspy, 2006). The WAI-SR consists of 12 items to measure the experienced quality of the working relationship between patient and professional. All items were measured on a 5-point Likert-scale ranging from 1 (seldom) to 5 (always), subdivided in 3 subscales: agreement on tasks, agreement on goals, and bond. Questions were revised to fit the context of the study by using the words "coach", "lifestyle" and "intervention" (e.g., "The coach and I collaborate on setting lifestyle goals."). A higher score indicates a better working alliance with the TCA. The WAI-SR has been shown to have sufficient test-retest reliability and criterion validity (Hatcher & Gillaspy, 2006), and our revised version showed to have a high internal consistency (Cronbach's $\alpha = .95$).

Adherence

Participants were marked as "adherent" for a particular day if they had replied to the final message of the TCA before the end of the day (12:00 pm at midnight). The final adherence measure was based on the number of days participants finished each daily session of conversational turns with the TCA. Given the 21 day duration of the intervention, the level of adherence over the whole study could range between 1 and 21 days, with higher number of days indicating a higher level of adherence.

Data Analysis

All statistical analyses were conducted with SPSS (version 26; IBM Corp). We used pairwise exclusion to deal with missing data and a standard P-value of .05 was chosen to determine statistical significance. For the first hypothesis (human cues will improve the working alliance people experience with TCA), we performed a Kruskal-Wallis test, with working alliance as our outcome measure and cue condition as independent variable. We chose to conduct non-parametric tests given the small sample size of some groups (N < 25) and a non-normal distribution of our data. For the next hypothesis (working alliance and human cues will promote adherence to the intervention), we ran a regression analysis with working alliance as independent variable and adherence as outcome measure and performed a Kruskal-Wallis test with cue condition as independent variable and adherence as outcome measure. This was followed up by the analyses of specific post-hoc analyses to compare different cue groups in the form of Mann-Whitney U tests. For the final hypothesis (working alliance will mediate the effect of human cues on adherence) we planned to conduct a mediation analysis. However, the lack of significant differences in working alliances between groups made this analysis obsolete.

In our preregistration (Cohen Rodrigues & Reijnders, 2020) we also proposed to test intervention effectiveness. Our power calculations identified a minimum sample size of 128 to detect the expected effects of experimental groups on effectiveness. However, as we needed both a valid baseline step count and a minimum of 5 days of step count registered in the final week to calculate intervention effectiveness, we did not have enough power to run these analyses and detect this effect due to insufficient respondents. We therefore decided to report the analyses concerning intervention effectiveness only in Appendix 3.

RESULTS

Demographics

A total of 121 participants completed the baseline measurement. These participants were on average 22.7 years (SD = 2.8) old, 84/121 (69%) were female, 73/121 (60%) were of Dutch nationality, and of 91/121 (75%) their current or highest education level was bachelor's degree or higher. Comparative analyses of the demographic characteristics at baseline showed no significant differences between groups (see Table 1).

Chapter 6

Table 1. Baseline demographic characteristics (N = 121)

Variable	Visual & relational cues (n = 31)	Visual cues (n = 24)	Relational cues (n = 29)	No cues (n = 37)	P value
Age in years					
Median (IQRª)	22 (4)	23 (3)	22 (3)	23 (4)	.968 ^d
Mean (SD ^b)	22.65 (2.84)	22.71 (2.79)	22.76 (2.70)	22.54 (3.01)	
Gender, female, n (%)	26 (84)	12 (50)	21 (75)	25 (68)	.055°
Nationality, n (%)					.743°
Dutch	19 (61)	15 (63)	14 (48)	25 (67.5)	
German	3 (10)	3 (13)	6 (21)	5 (13.5)	
Other	9 (29)	6 (25)	9 (31)	7 (19)	
Education level, n (%)					.306°
High school	4 (13)	6 (25)	6 (21)	11 (30)	
Vocational school	1 (3)	1 (4)	0 (0)	1 (3)	
Bachelor's degree	17 (55)	14 (58)	21 (72)	18 (49)	
Master's degree or higher	9 (29)	3 (13)	2 (7)	7 (19)	
Physical activity level					
MET° score (per week)					
Median (IQRª)	2552 (4150)	1506 (2986)	2268 (4730)	2477 (4331)	.134 ^d
Mean (SD▷)	4556 (5324)	2928 (5370)	3800 (3373)	3854 (3804)	
Average steps per day					
Median (IQRª)	2453 (2840)	1531 (2685)	3224 (3222)	2382 (2382)	.357°
Mean (SD▷)	3282 (2289)	1912 (1557)	3266 (1601)	3361 (2616)	

°IQR = interquartile range; ^bSD = standard deviation; ^cMET = metabolic equivalent of task; ^dKruskal-Wallis test; ^eFisher's Exact test

Working Alliance

We found no significant difference in working alliance between the cue conditions, H(3) = 4.194, p = .24 (see Table 2 for median and IQR per group). However, we did find a positive relationship between working alliance and adherence, β = .378, t(78) = 3.606, p = .001, 95% CI [0.108; 0.374]. These outcomes indicate that that adding human cues did not lead to a difference in working alliance with the TCA, but that participants who reported a better working alliance were more adherent to the intervention.

Table 2. Median and IQR^a per group of working alliance (measured after the final day of the intervention with the Working Alliance Inventory Short Revised form) and adherence (number of days participants finished the session of conversational turns).

Variable	Visual & relational cues	Visual cues	Relational cues	No cues	P value
Working alliance ^a					
Median (IQR ^b)	34 (18)	45 (18)	42 (8)	34 (13)	.24°
Adherence					
Median (IQR ^b)	6 (12)	7 (14)	16 (14)	14 (15)	.004°

^oThe N for working alliance (due to missing data): visual & relational cues: n=19; visual cues: n=14; relational cues: n=22; no cues: n=25

^bIQR = interquartile range; ^cKruskal-Wallis test

Adherence

We found a significant difference in adherence between the cue conditions, H(3) = 13.125, p = .004 (see Table 2 for median and IQR per group). By visually inspecting the medians, we saw that the differences between groups were not as expected (see Figure 3). The contrast analyses showed that in the relational cues- and no cues-conditions there was a significantly higher adherence than in the other two conditions, U = 1140.5, z = -3.520, p < .001. However, adherence in the relational cues condition was not higher than in the no human cues condition U = 478.0, z = -.760, p = .45. So contrary to what was expected, participants were less adherent to the intervention in the groups in which the TCA used visual cues compared to the groups without visual cues. Furthermore, when the TCA used relational cues, participants were not more adherent than when the TCA used no human cues at all.

Figure 3. Boxplots of adherence (number of days participants finished the session of conversational turns) for the four experimental conditions.



DISCUSSION

We investigated the impact of human cues in TCA on establishing a working alliance and in turn that impact on improving the adherence in a self-help lifestyle intervention. We found no differences in the effect of no, visual and/or relational human cues on establishing a higher quality working alliance with the TCA. Also, using visual or relational human cues did not lead to higher adherence. On the contrary, we found that the use of visual cues could even lead to lower adherence. However, we did find that a higher quality working alliance was related to a better adherence to the lifestyle intervention.

Our results did not show an effect of human cues on the reported working alliance with the CA. What is important to note is that many studies that did find this relationship concern ECAs (Bickmore et al., 2005; Bickmore et al., 2010), while we used a TCA. ECAs generally outperform text-based ones (Lisetti et al., 2013; Zalake et al., 2019), which can be explained by the additional range of design characteristics an ECA can make use of (Loveys et al., 2020). In one study though, there was no difference found between a TCA and an ECA, which the authors argued was due to the lack of incorporating non-verbal communication in the latter one (Friederichs et al., 2014). The inability of our (or any) TCA to use non-verbal communication, may be a reason that we did not find the effect of our TCA with human cues on working alliance as studies with ECAs did. Similar patterns occur in computer-mediated communication between humans, where

people are limited in their use of non-verbal communication (Daft & Lengel, 1986). Text-based communication would not be rich enough to transfer ambiguous communication, such as communication aimed at relationship building (Daft & Lengel, 1986), and relationship building requires more time in text-based environments to reach the same quality as in face-to-face situations (Walther, 1992). This might also explain why we did not find an effect of using relational cues on adherence, a finding that contradicts previously mentioned studies with ECAs (Bickmore et al., 2005; Schulman & Bickmore, 2009). Moreover, in studies that did find an improved working alliance with a CA, either the interactions with the agent or in the intervention itself were longer compared to our study (Hauser-Ulrich et al., 2020; Bickmore et al., 2010). In other studies in which a high working alliance was reported within shorter periods of time, the interactions with the CA followed after introduction by a human healthcare professional (Bickmore et al. 2010; Kowatsch et al., 2021b). Therefore it seems likely that a TCA is less able to build a relationship with the user due to lack of non-verbal communication, however it could be that it requires either a longer time period or an introduction in a face-to-face setting to do so. So even though our findings do support that working alliance is an important mechanism within eHealth interventions, it remains unclear if and how it would be possible to foster a relationship with a TCA. Even though the development of an ECA requires more time and financial resources than a TCA, based on both our results and those of previous studies, we hypothesize that self-help eHealth interventions in practice would benefit more from incorporating an ECA. The difference between TCAs and ECAs and their applicability in successful eHealth interventions would be an important topic for future research.

We did find that people who reported a better working alliance with the CA were more adherent to the lifestyle intervention. This result is in line with studies about regular face-to-face interventions (Goldberg et al., 2013; Martin et al., 2000), digital therapy or treatment (Flückiger et al., 2018; Sucala et al., 2012), and self-help eHealth interventions (Bickmore et al., 2010; Clarke et al., 2016; Hauser-Ulrich et al., 2020; Kowatsch et al., 2021a; Kowatsch et al., 2021b). However, our results did not show the positive effects of visual elements that have been reported in previous studies (Bickmore et al., 2005; Bickmore et al., 2010; Sah & Peng, 2015; Schulman & Bickmore, 2009). Instead, we found that using visual cues led to a lower adherence to the intervention. We did not tell participants whether they would be coached by a human being or a computer. This lack of transparency, in combination with a human visual appearance, may have led to unrealistic high expectations that could not be met by the TCA and therefore frustration among users (Luger & Sellen, 2016). Although many studies show that not disclosing the nature of an automated chatbot has a positive effect on user perceptions (e.g., perceived humanness of, or affinity with the chatbot) and user behavior (e.g., being persuaded by the chatbot) (Hendriks et al., 2020; Shi et al., 2020; Skjuve et al., 2019), Mozafari and colleagues (2020) show that the effects of disclosure depend on whether there are errors in the conversation with a chatbot. In their study with a customer-service bot, they found that when the chatbot was not able to solve a customer's issue, the customer's potential neqative responses to these errors could be prevented by disclosing the chatbots true nature beforehand. Although our study concerned a lifestyle intervention rather than customer-service, similar mechanisms could be at play here. As visual cues might have caused participants to wrongly expect they were communicating with a human being and our CA was not always able to respond correctly to participant's messages (as the messages were preprogrammed), informing participants about the nature of the agent could have prevented unrealistic expectations and frustration. In addition, the type of avatar we used in the visual cues conditions might have played a role. We intentionally chose a younger- and healthy-looking female agent both because it resembles the psychology student population, and a young female peer agent is generally preferred in health coaching tasks (Ter Stal et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2014). However, some literature suggests that male agents are preferred as athletic trainer, which might have influenced the results if our participants perceived the TCA to be an athletic coach rather than a health coach (Ter Stal et al., 2020). Furthermore, another study shows that non-ideal overweight agents are seen as more trustworthy and related to higher use intentions (Van Vugt et al., 2009), which suggests our TCA might have been too slender and healthy looking for its task. All in all, future designers of eHealth interventions with TCAs could consider being transparent about the true nature of the CA, as it would make users more forgiving about possible imperfections of the automated feedback it provides. Furthermore, given the important influence of the type of visual cues, it would possibly be beneficial for future eHealth interventions to better match the visual cues of the TCA with the wishes of the user. For example, one could allow users themselves to choose the looks of the TCA that will support them. Future research could investigate whether such changes would improve adherence to self-help eHealth interventions.

Practical implications

Further knowledge about the development of CAs is not only relevant for researchers working in eHealth or human-computer science, but also for those involved in healthcare practice. eHealth is becoming increasingly relevant, which became especially evident during the COVID-19 pandemic (Bokolo, 2021). Therefore, it is necessary to develop eHealth tools that are efficient, and thus do not put further pressure on the workload of healthcare professionals, but at the same time fulfill the needs and wishes of patients. CAs would be suitable for developing self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions that do pay attention to the relationship with the user. Furthermore, our findings would not only be practically relevant for developing physical activity interventions, but eHealth lifestyle interventions in general. Therefore the findings of our study would be useful for developers that work on self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions, and indirectly for healthcare professionals who could help their patients in providing lifestyle support more easily.

Limitations and Suggestions for Future Work

Besides the strengths of our study such as using a field experiment (with participants using an app-based intervention in real life), measuring objective behavioral data, and testing two different types of human cues, our study also had some limitations. In our preregistration, we proposed to also test intervention effectiveness, yet we did not have sufficient participants and thus power to do so. For reasons of transparency, we do report the analyses on intervention effectiveness in Appendix 3. It is also important to note that our sample size was generally on the small side and that we had problems with non-normality in our data. Although we used nonparametric tests to analyze our data, the results should be interpreted with caution. Even though we already recruited more participants than needed to account for possible dropouts, future studies may aim to recruit more than double the needed participants.

Furthermore, we did not inform our participants beforehand whether they were interacting with a computer or a human being. Therefore the expectations of people might have varied, which could have affected our results. Future studies could keep these expectations constant by being transparent about the true nature of the automated agent. Another option would be to manipulate the description of the CA to more closely represent a human being or a computer, and ask participants about their expectations towards support by a human being or computer, to additionally test expectation effects within self-help interventions.

Finally, to mimic human behavior, we intentionally chose to apply subtle human cues to our CA (e.g., interweaving signs of empathy or small jokes into the feedback). However, participants might not have processed the messages of the agent elaboratively enough to notice these subtle cues, resulting in a lack of effects. Furthermore, because of this subtility, the different types of human cues might have differed too little between each other. We suggest that future studies investigate the differences in applying human cues in TCAs and ECAs. It would be interesting to know whether stronger cues are needed in TCAs to produce similar effects in ECAs, or whether longer interactions do lead to an improved working alliance, and thus adherence. Additionally, given our results, it would be interesting to investigate whether using non-verbal communication is indeed key to establishing a working alliance with a CA, and how to overcome the lack of non-verbal communication within TCAs.

CONCLUSIONS

In this study, we aimed to improve adherence to self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions by applying a TCA which uses (visual and relational) human cues. We replicated that creating a good working alliance with your coach improves adherence to lifestyle interventions. However, more future studies are needed to investigate whether and how factors that work for ECAs, in this case human cues, could also be applied to TCAs to further improve the working alliance and thereby adherence. Future studies could also investigate whether being transparent about the computer-based nature of a CA and thereby setting the right expectations would be important for success. Until future research provides us more insight, our findings suggest that self-help eHealth interventions in practice could possibly better invest in developing an ECA and be transparent about the true nature of the CA that is used. The knowledge gained from our and future studies could help us design better self-help interventions in the future creating higher levels of adherence, and in turn a healthier lifestyle for us all.

REFERENCES CHAPTER 6

- Aharoni, E., & Fridlund, A. J. (2007). Social reactions toward people vs. computers: How mere labels shape interactions. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 23(5), 2175–2189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2006.02.019
- Appel, J., von der Pütten, A., Krämer, N. C., & Gratch, J. (2012). Does humanity matter? Analyzing the importance of social cues and perceived agency of a computer system for the emergence of social reactions during human-computer interaction. Advances in Human-Computer Interaction, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/324694
- Barak, A., Klein, B., & Proudfoot, J. G. (2009). Defining internet-supported therapeutic interventions. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 38(1), 4-17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-009-9130-7
- Beishuizen, C. R., Stephan, B. C., van Gool, W. A., et al. (2016). Web-based interventions targeting cardiovascular risk factors in middle-aged and older people: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *18*(3), e55. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.5021
- Bickmore, T. W., Mitchell, S. E., Jack, B. W., Paasche-Orlow, M. K., Pfeifer, L. M., & Odonnell, J. (2010). Response to a relational agent by hospital patients with depressive symptoms. *Interacting with Computers*, 22(4), 289-298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intcom.2010.03.001
- **Bickmore**, T., Gruber, A., & Picard, R. (2005). Establishing the computer-patient working alliance in automated health behavior change interventions. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 59(1), 21-30.
- **Bokolo**, A. J. (2021). Application of telemedicine and eHealth technology for clinical services in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Health Technology*, *11*(2), 359-366. https://10.1007/s12553-020-00516-4
- Bordin, E. S. (1979). The generalizability of the psychoanalytic concept of the working alliance. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research & Practice, 16*(3), 252–260. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0085885
- Brandt, C. J., Clemensen, J., Nielsen, J. B., & Søndergaard, J. (2018). Drivers for successful long-term lifestyle change, the role of e-health: A qualitative interview study. *BMJ Open*, 8(3), e017466. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017466
- Brotons, C., Björkelund, C., Bulc, M., et al. (2005). EUROPREV network. Prevention and health promotion in clinical practice: The views of general practitioners in Europe. *Preventive Medicine*, 40(5), 595-601. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.07.009
- **Cassell,** J., Bickmore, T., Billinghurst, M., et al. (1999). Embodiment in conversational interfaces. In Conference Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (pp. 520–527). https://doi.org/10.1145/302979.303150
- **Clarke,** J., Proudfoot, J., Whitton, A., et al. (2016). Therapeutic alliance with a fully automated mobile phone and web-based intervention: Secondary analysis of a randomized controlled trial. *JMIR Mental Health*, *3*(1), e10. https://doi.org/10.2196/mental.4757
- **Cohen Rodrigues**, T. R., & Reijnders, T. (2020). Virtual coaches in eHealth lifestyle interventions. *Open Science Framework*. https://osf.io/mgw2s
- Craig, C. L., Marshall, A. L., Sjöström, M., et al. (2003). International Physical Activity Questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 35(8), 1381-1395. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB

- Daft, R. L., & Lengel, R. H. (1986). Organizational information requirements, media richness and structural design. *Management Science*, 32(5), 554-571. https://doi.org/10.1287/ mnsc.32.5.554
- **Etzelmueller,** A., Vis, C., Karyotaki, E., et al. (2020). Effects of internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy in routine care for adults in treatment for depression and anxiety: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 22*(8), e18100. https://doi.org/10.2196/18100
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, *39*(2), 175-191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146
- Filler, A., Kowatsch, T., Haug, S., Wahle, F., Staake, T., & Fleisch, E. (2015). MobileCoach: A novel open-source platform for the design of evidence-based, scalable, and low-cost behavioral health interventions: Overview and preliminary evaluation in the public health context. Conference Proceedings of the IEEE 2015 Wireless Telecommunications Symposium, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1109/WTS.2015.7117255
- Flückiger, C., Del Re, A. C., Wampold, B. E., & Horvath, A. O. (2018). The alliance in adult psychotherapy: A meta-analytic synthesis. *Psychotherapy*, 55(4), 316-340. https:// doi.org/10.1037/pst0000172
- Friederichs, S., Bolman, C., Oenema, A., Guyaux, J., & Lechner, L. (2014). Motivational interviewing in a Web-based physical activity intervention with an avatar: Randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 16(2), e48. https://doi. org/10.2196/jmir.2815
- Goldberg, S. B., Davis, J. M., & Hoyt, W. T. (2013). The role of therapeutic alliance in mindfulness interventions: Therapeutic alliance in mindfulness training for smokers. *Journal* of Clinical Psychology, 69(9), 936-950. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22012
- Haslam, N., Loughnan, S., Kashima, Y., & Bain, P. (2008). Attributing and denying humanness to others. *European Review of Social Psychology*, 19(1), 55-85. https://doi. org/10.1080/10463280801981645
- Hatcher, R. L., & Barends, A. W. (2006). How a return to theory could help alliance research. Psychological Psychotherapy: *Theory, Research and Practice, 43*(3), 292. https://doi. org/10.1348/147608305X52634
- Hatcher, R. L., & Gillaspy, J. A. (2006). Development and validation of a revised short version of the Working Alliance Inventory. *Psychotherapy Research, 16*(1), 12–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/10503300500352500
- Hauser-Ulrich, S., Künzli, H., Meier-Peterhans, D., & Kowatsch, T. (2020). A smartphone-based health care chatbot to promote self-management of chronic pain (SELMA): Pilot randomized controlled trial. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 8(4), e15806. https://doi.org/10.2196/15806
- Hendriks, F., Ou, C. X., Amiri, A. K., & Bockting, S. (2020). The power of computer-mediated communication theories in explaining the effect of chatbot introduction on user experience. *Interaction*, *12*, 15. https://doi.org/10.24251/HICSS.2020.034
- Horvath, A. O., & Greenberg, L. (1989). Development and validation of the Working Alliance Inventory. *Journal of Counseling Psychology, 36*(2), 223–233. https://doi. org/10.1037/0022-0167.36.2.223

- Jallinoja, P., Absetz, P., Kuronen, R., et al. (2007). The dilemma of patient responsibility for lifestyle change: Perceptions among primary care physicians and nurses. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care, 25*(4), 244–249. https://doi. org/10.1080/02813430701706510
- Jansink, R., Braspenning, J., van der Weijden, T., Elwyn, G., & Grol, R. (2010). Primary care nurses struggle with lifestyle counseling in diabetes care: A qualitative analysis. *BMC Family Practice*, 11, 41. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-11-41
- Karyotaki, E., Ebert, D. D., Donkin, L., et al. (2018). Do guided internet-based interventions result in clinically relevant changes for patients with depression? An individual participant data meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review, 63*, 80-92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2018.06.007
- Kelders, S. M., Bohlmeijer, E. T., Pots, W. T., & van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E. (2015). Comparing human and automated support for depression: Fractional factorial randomized controlled trial. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *72*, 72-80. PMID: 26196078
- Kelders, S. M., Kok, R. N., Ossebaard, H. C., & Van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E. (2012). Persuasive system design does matter: A systematic review of adherence to web-based interventions. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(6), e152. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2104
- Kelders, S. M., Van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E., Werkman, A., Nijland, N., & Seydel, E. R. (2011). Effectiveness of a web-based intervention aimed at healthy dietary and physical activity behavior: A randomized controlled trial about users and usage. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *13*(2), e32. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1639
- Kowatsch, T., Lohse, K. M., Erb, V., et al. (2021a). Hybrid ubiquitous coaching with a novel combination of mobile and holographic conversational agents targeting adherence to home exercises: Four design and evaluation studies. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 23(2), e23612. https://doi.org/10.2196/23612
- Kowatsch, T., Nißen, M., Rüegger, D., et al. (2018). The impact of interpersonal closeness cues in text-based healthcare chatbots on attachment bond and the desire to continue interacting: An experimental design. *In Conference Proceedings of the 26th European Conference on Information Systems.*
- Kowatsch, T., Schachner, T., Harperink, S., et al. (2021b). Conversational agents as mediating social actors in chronic disease management involving health care professionals, patients, and family members: Multisite single-arm feasibility study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 23*(2), e25060. https://doi.org/10.2196/25060
- Kowatsch, T., Volland, D., Shih, I., et al. (2017). Design and evaluation of a mobile chat app for the open source behavioral health intervention platform Mobilecoach. In A. Maedche, J. vom Brocke, & A. Hevner (Eds.), Designing the Digital Transformation. DESRIST 2017. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol 10243 (pp. 485-489). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-59144-5_36
- Kramer, J., Künzler, F., Mishra, V., Presset, B., Kotz, D., Smith, S., Scholz, U., & Kowatsch, T. (2019). Investigating intervention components and exploring states of receptivity for a smartphone app to promote physical activity: Protocol of a microrandomized trial. *JMIR Research Protocols*, 8(1), e11540. https://doi.org/10.2196/11540
- Lee, P. H., Macfarlane, D. J., Lam, T. H., & Stewart, S. M. (2011). Validity of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire Short Form (IPAQ-SF): A systematic review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 8*, 115. https://doi. org/10.1186/1479-5868-8-115

- Lisetti, C., Amini, R., Yasavur, U., & Rishe, N. (2013). I can help you change! An empathic virtual agent delivers behavior change health interventions. *ACM Transactions on Management Information Systems*, *4*(4), 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1145/2544103
- Loveys, K., Sebaratnam, G., Sagar, M., & Broadbent, E. (2020). The effect of design features on relationship quality with embodied conversational agents: A systematic review. *International Journal of Social Robotics, 12*(6), 1635–1654. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12369-020-00680-7
- Luger, E., & Sellen, A. (2016). "Like having a really bad pa" the gulf between user expectation and experience of conversational agents. *In Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (pp. 5286-5297). https://doi. org/10.1145/2858036.2858288
- Lunde, P., Nilsson, B. B., Bergland, A., Kværner, K. J., & Bye, A. (2018). The effectiveness of smartphone apps for lifestyle improvement in noncommunicable diseases: Systematic review and meta-analyses. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(5), e162. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9578
- Martin, D. J., Garske, J. P., & Davis, M. K. (2000). Relation of the therapeutic alliance with outcome and other variables: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *68*(3), 438-450. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0067.68.3.438
- Michie, S., Richardson, M., Johnston, M., et al. (2013). The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: Building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 46(1), 81-95. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-013-9486-6
- **Mozafari,** N., Weiger, W. H., & Hammerschmidt, M. (2020). The chatbot disclosure dilemma: Desirable and undesirable effects of disclosing the non-human identity of chatbots. *In Proceedings of the 41st International Conference on Information Systems*.
- Murray, E., White, I. R., Varagunam, M., Godfrey, C., Khadjesari, Z., & McCambridge, J. (2013). Attrition revisited: Adherence and retention in a web-based alcohol trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 15(8), e162. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2469
- Nass, C. I., & Moon, Y. (2000). Machines and mindlessness: Social responses to computers. Journal of Social Issues, 56(1), 81-103. https://doi.org/10.1111/0022-4537.00153
- Nyberg, S. T., Singh-Manoux, A., Pentti, J., et al. (2020). Association of Healthy Lifestyle With Years Lived Without Major Chronic Diseases. *JAMA Internal Medicine, 180*(5), 760-768. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.0618
- Piepoli, M. F., Hoes, A. W., Agewall, S., et al. (2016). 2016 European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: The Sixth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (constituted by representatives of 10 societies and by invited experts) Developed with the special contribution of the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation (EACPR). European Heart Journal, 37(29), 2315–2381. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw106
- Prochaska, J. O., & Velicer, W. F. (1997). The transtheoretical model of health behavior change. American Journal of Health Promotion, 12(1), 38-48. https://doi. org/10.4278/0890-1171-12.1.38
- Prochaska, J. O., Velicer, W. F., Rossi, J. S., et al. (1994). Stages of change and decisional balance for 12 problem behaviors. *Health Psychology*, 13(1), 39-46. https://doi. org/10.1037/0278-6133.13.1.39

- Reeves, B., & Nass, C. I. (1996). The media equation: How people treat computers, television, and new media like real people and places. *Cambridge University Press*. ISBN: 978-1575860534
- Richards, D., & Richardson, T. (2012). Computer-based psychological treatments for depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 32(4), 329-342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.02.004
- Sah, Y. J., & Peng, W. (2015). Effects of visual and linguistic anthropomorphic cues on social perception, self-awareness, and information disclosure in a health website. *Computers in Human Behavior, 45*, 392-401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2014.12.055
- Schulman, D., & Bickmore, T. (2009). Persuading users through counseling dialogue with a conversational agent. In Conference Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Persuasive Technology (pp. 1-8). https://doi.org/10.1145/1541948.154
- Shi, W., Wang, X., Oh, Y. J., Zhang, J., Sahay, S., & Yu, Z. (2020). Effects of persuasive dialogues: Testing bot identities and inquiry strategies. In Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (pp. 1-13). https://doi. org/10.1145/3313831.3376843
- Skjuve, M., Haugstveit, I. M., Følstad, A., & Brandtzaeg, P. B. (2019). Help! Is my chatbot falling into the uncanny valley? An empirical study of user experience in human-chatbot interaction. *Human Technology*, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.17011/ht/urn.201902201607
- Smith, P. N., Gamble, S. A., Cort, N. A., Ward, E. A., He, H., & Talbot, N. L. (2012). Attachment and alliance in the treatment of depressed, sexually abused women. *Depression* and Anxiety, 29(2), 123-130. https://doi.org/10.1002/da.20921
- Stieger, M., Flückiger, C., Rüegger, D., Kowatsch, T., Roberts, B. W., & Allemand, M. (2021). Changing personality traits with the help of a digital personality change intervention. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 118(8), e2017548118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2017548118
- Sucala, M., Schnur, J. B., Constantino, M. J., Miller, S. J., Brackman, E. H., & Montgomery, G. H. (2012). The therapeutic relationship in e-therapy for mental health: A systematic review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(4), e110. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2084
- ter Stal, S., Kramer, L. L., Tabak, M., op den Akker, H., & Hermens, H. (2020). Design features of embodied conversational agents in eHealth: A literature review. *International Journal* of Human-Computer Studies, 138, 102409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2020.102409
- ter Stal, S., Tabak, M., op den Akker, H., Beinema, T., & Hermens, H. (2020). Who do you prefer? The effect of age, gender, and role on users' first impressions of embodied conversational agents in eHealth. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 36(9), 881-892. https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2019.1699744
- Thomas, J. G., & Bond, D. S. (2014). Review of innovations in digital health technology to promote weight control. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 14(5), 485. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11892-014-0485-6
- Thomas, S., Reading, J., & Shephard, R. J. (1992). Revision of the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PAR-Q). Canadian Journal of Sport Sciences, 17(4), 338-345. https:// doi.org/10.1123/cjsa.17.4.338

Chapter 6

- **Tinschert**, P., Rassouli, F., Barata, F., et al. (2019). Prevalence of nocturnal cough in asthma and its potential as a marker for asthma control (MAC) in combination with sleep quality: Protocol of a smartphone-based, multicentre, longitudinal observational study with two stages. *BMJ Open*, *9*(1), e026323. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026323
- Tudor Car, L., Dhinagaran, D. A., Kyaw, B. M., et al. (2020). Conversational agents in health care: Scoping review and conceptual analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(8), e17158. https://doi.org/10.2196/17158
- van Vugt, H. C., Konijn, E. A., Hoorn, J. F., & Veldhuis, J. (2009). When too heavy is just fine: Creating trustworthy e-health advisors. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 67(7), 571-583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2009.02.005
- Walther, J. B. (1992). Interpersonal effects in computer-mediated interaction: A relational perspective. *Communication Research*, 19(1), 52-90. https://doi. org/10.1177/009365092019001003
- Walther, J. B., & D'Addario, K. P. (2001). The impacts of emoticons on message interpretation in computer-mediated communication. Social Science Computer Review, 19(3), 324-347. https://doi.org/10.1177/089443930101900307
- Wangberg, S. C., Bergmo, T. S., & Johnsen, J. A. (2008). Adherence in internet-based interventions. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, *2*, 57-65. https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S3223
- Zalake, M., Tavassoli, F., Griffin, L., Krieger, J., & Lok, B. (2019). Internet-based tailored virtual human health intervention to promote colorectal cancer screening: Design guidelines from two user studies. *In Proceedings of the 19th ACM International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents* (pp. 73-80). https://doi.org/10.1145/3308532.3329471
- Zhou, S., Bickmore, T., Paasche-Orlow, M., & Jack, B. (2014). Agent-user concordance and satisfaction with a virtual hospital discharge nurse. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents (pp. 528-541). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-09767-1_63

CHAPTER 6 | APPENDIX 1

Day	TTM stage	BCTs	Exercise
1	Pre-contemplation	Goal setting	Formulate general goal Participants are asked to describe what general health improvement they would like to achieve through increasing physical activity levels, and why this would be important to them in order to prepare their mindset for future behavior change.
2		Information about health consequences	Quiz about behavior and health consequences By doing the quiz, participants receive more knowledge about how (a lack of) physical activity would affect their health to help improve their attitude towards increasing their physical activity levels.
3	Contemplation	Pros and cons	Decisional balance worksheet Participants are asked to critically think about the pros and cons of changing and not changing their physical activity behavior to help them create recognition about advantages and disadvantages of engaging in higher levels of physical activity.
4	Preparation	Goal setting	Formulate SMART goal Participants are asked to create a specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and time-bound goal to help them start increasing their step count.
5		Valued self- identity	Self-affirmation exercise Participants are asked to think about values that are important to them and how physical activity fits with these values to help stick with the goal they have set.
6		Prompts/Cues; Action planning	Formulate 'If-then plan' Participants are asked to set a physical activity-related plan when a specific situation occurs to increase the chances of reaching their goal.

Overview of the 3-week physical activity intervention based on Behavior Change Techniques (BCTs) and Transtheoretical Model of health behavior change (TTM)

Continued

Day	TTM stage	BCTs	Exercise		
7		Problem solving	Identify barriers and coping strategies Participants are asked to think about potential barriers that might hinder reaching their physical activity goal and about solutions to overcome these to help them prepare for these situations.		
8		Self-monitoring	Implement short bursts of activities, and compare step-count to yesterday's Participants are asked to think of a small activity for today that would increase their physical activity level, and to compare their results with yesterday to see how such small steps can help achieve their goal, and motivate them in applying these during the rest of the process.		
9		Action planning; Social support; Barrier identification	Plan physical activity challenge with other person; identify barriers and coping solutions Participants are asked to involve a peer by asking them to join physical activity challenge to create social support in reaching their goal.		
10	Action	Instructions on how to perform health behavior	Quiz about performing physical activity By doing the quiz, participants receive more knowledge about types of physical activity and how these increase their step count level to give them with new ideas to turn their intentions into action.		
11		Review behavioral goal(s)	Reflect on goals (day 4) and make adjustments (SMART) Participants are asked to look back at their goal of day 4, and if needed, create a new specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and time-bound goal to help them increase their step count.		

Day	TTM stage	BCTs	Exercise
12		Identification of self as role model	Identify own role model, and for whom you are a role model Participants are asked to imagine themselves as a role model for another person, and how their physical activity behavior could motivate that person to be physically active too, which helps acknowledge the positive impact of their actions.
13		Demonstration of the behavior; Social comparison; Credible source	Watch video of Usain Bolt interview Participants are asked to watch a video about an interview with Usain Bolt to give them a positive example of someone to has an active lifestyle, and incorporate his advice into their own physical activity behavior.
14		Review outcome goal(s)	Reflect on PA challenge (day 9) Participants are asked about the challenge they would set with a peer and how this resulted in higher levels of physical activity, either to motivate them to use their social support system more often or to think about ways to overcome barriers in involving social support.
15		Review behavioral goal(s)	Reflect on goals (day 11) and make adjustments (SMART) Participants are asked to look back at their goal of day 11, and if needed, create a new specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and time-bound goal to help them increase their step count.
16		Focus on past success	Reflect on rewarding experience of previous physical activities Participants are asked to think about physical activity they have performed before and its positive consequences to motivate them in engaging in physical activity to reach their goal.

Continued

Chapter 6

Continued

Day	TTM stage	BCTs	Exercise
17		Reduce negative emotions; Monitoring of emotional consequences	Stress management and emotional coping Participants are asked to watch a video with a breathing exercise that would help them in the management of stress and negative emotions, and to think how physical activity would help them in this management to motivate them in increasing physical activity levels.
18		Self-talk	Positive labelling of upsetting experiences Participants are asked to think about a negative experience during the intervention and their feelings, after which they are asked to relabel this situation to help them in overcoming similar situations in during future physical activity.
19	Maintenance	Review outcome goal(s)	Reflect on barriers and coping strategies (day 7) Participants are asked to think about the potential barrier they mentioned on day 7, and if their solution helped them in overcoming this barrier, to help them with coping strategies that might hinder reaching their physical activity goals in the future.
20		Incompatible beliefs; Discrepancy between current behavior and goal	Imagine future self and set goals to work towards that Participants are asked to think about themselves in the future, and to set physical activity goals for the current version of themselves to make themselves satisfied in the future.
21		Monitoring of emotional consequences; Review outcome goal(s)	Meta-reflection of intervention (what did I learn, what did I like the most, how did I change?) Participants are asked to reflect on the intervention and their physical activity process and to identify lessons learned that help them in engaging in physical activity in the future.

Day	TTM stage	BCTs	Exercise
1-21	All stages	Social reward; Feedback on behavior	Praise for effort and progress; inform participant about daily step counts On a daily basis, participants were informed about their step count and goal progress, and positively encouraged to keep up with their physical activity or increase their physical activity levels.

Continued

CHAPTER 6 | APPENDIX 2

Technical Implementation of the Benefit StepCoach app

We developed the Benefit StepCoach app as a tool to test our hypotheses. The app was developed with use of MobileCoach software (www.mobile-coach.eu) (Filler et al., 2015; Kowatsch et al., 2017), an open-source software platform for smartphone-based and chatbot-delivered behavioral interventions (eg, Stieger et al., 2021) and ecological momentary assessments (eq, Tinschert et al., 2019). The Mobile Coach platform provided the researchers with a web-based graphical user interface and allowed us to implement the needed intervention logic and content. MobileCoach uses a web server to execute the needed intervention logic and to deliver the content to the MobileCoach-based mobile applications for Apple's iOS and Android platforms. The mobile app was customized to fit the needs of this study and published in the iOS and Android app stores with the name Benefit StepCoach. One of the important features of this app was to automatically and objectively retrieve step counts of the participants. Google Fit (www.google.com/fit/) for the Android app and Apple's Health Kit (developer. apple.com/documentation/healthkit) for the iOS app were used for this purpose. Appropriate interactions were implemented, i.e. asking participants for their permission, to allow the app to access step data. Moreover, each experimental group was assigned a dedicated TCA.

CHAPTER 6 | APPENDIX 3

Analyses with effectiveness as outcome variable

Effectiveness was measured through objective step count data retrieved from Apple Health or Google Fit (depending on the smartphone of the participant). We calculated the mean difference between the average baseline step count (measured in the week before the intervention) and the average step count in the final week of the intervention. Participants were included in the analyses if both a valid baseline step count and a minimum of 5 days step count in the final week were registered.

To test whether the intervention was effective in urging participants to increasing participants' step count (independently of the experimental condition), a (one-tailed) paired samples *t* test was conducted. Our analyses showed a significant increase in the average step count from the baseline week (M=3412.37, SD=2363.17) to the final week (M=4556.77, SD=2545.65), t(42)=-3.975, *p* < .001, 95% CI [-1725, -563].

In addition, due to small sample size, we conducted a nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test to compare intervention effectiveness between the four different cue conditions. There was no significant difference in effectiveness between the conditions, H(3) = 2.536, p = .47 (see Table 3 for median and IQR per group). Also the post-hoc Mann-Whitney U tests comparing the three human cues conditions with the no human cues condition (U = 170.5, z = -1.007, p = .32), and the test comparing the condition with both visual and relational cues with the visual cues only and relational cues only groups (U = 91.0, z = -.118, p = .92) showed no significant differences.

Variable	Effectiveness	
	Ν	Median (IQRª)
Visual & relational cues	11	1395 (1868)
Visual cues	6	1703 (1831)
Relational cues	11	785 (2460)
Nocues	15	438 (4149)

Table 3. Medians and interquartile range (IQR) per group of effectiveness (mean difference between average baseline step count and average step count in final week of intervention).

^aIQR = interquartile range

Human cues in eHealth to promote lifestyle change





SUMMARY & GENERAL DISCUSSION

SUMMARY

There is an increasing number of adults who suffer from cardiovascular diseases (CVD) (Koop et al., 2021; Wilkins et al., 2017; WHO, 2021). These patients would benefit from a healthy lifestyle, as this improves the prognosis of CVD (Kaminsky et al., 2022; Piepoli et al., 2016; Wilkins et al., 2017). However, even though improving one's health and lifestyle is the focus of cardiac rehabilitation, CVD patients need support to also maintain a healthy lifestyle after their rehabilitation has ended (Janssen et al., 2013). And although many eHealth solutions have been developed to provide lifestyle support (Thomas & Bond, 2014), this technology is not as effective as it could potentially be. One of the reasons is the lack of involvement of both patients and healthcare professionals. Many eHealth solutions are being developed without the involvement of those who use the technology, which often results in solutions that are not intuitive to use and therefore less effective than expected (van Gemert-Pijnen et al., 2011). Even though the support of a healthcare professional seems to be an important factor in successful lifestyle change, there are barriers that hinder professionals from providing lifestyle support, such as a lack of time or expertise (Bellicha et al., 2017; Jallinoja et al., 2007; Jansink et al., 2010; Warr et al., 2021). Since the involvement of healthcare professionals is also not always possible or desirable, it is important to further investigate possibilities to provide patients with a self-help eHealth intervention with automated support. This PhD dissertation thus focuses on (1) mapping out the needs and wishes of both healthcare professionals and CVD patients with regard to (human-supported and self-help) eHealth lifestyle interventions, and (2) investigating if and how self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions could be optimised.

Focusing on the first aim of this dissertation, (1) mapping out the needs and wishes of both healthcare professionals and CVD patients with regard to (human-supported and self-help) eHealth lifestyle interventions, Chapter 2 and 3 aimed to investigate the views of both healthcare professionals and patients about lifestyle support and the use of eHealth lifestyle interventions. Chapter 2 described an interview study with healthcare professionals working in cardiac care. Previous studies showed that professionals experience several barriers that hinder them from successfully supporting their patients (e.g. Bellicha et al., 2017; Jallinoja et al., 2007; Jansink et al., 2010). In this study we focused specifically on the cardiac care context, by interviewing 16 healthcare professionals working with CVD patients about both lifestyle support and the use of eHealth. We identified 12 themes describing the factors that healthcare professionals found important in lifestyle support in general, which were either intervention-, patient-, or healthcare-related. Throughout these themes, eHealth was mentioned to be a (potential) facilitator or solution to barriers that they encountered in lifestyle support. eHealth was deemed to be mainly beneficial in the themes "autonomy", "personalisation", "format of support", and "continuity of professional support".
For example, professionals indicated that eHealth could provide patients insight into their own health and thereby help them to regain autonomy, or that eHealth could help them gain more information about their patients to help personalise their support. As another example, professionals saw that eHealth gave them the opportunity to provide remote support, which would both improve the format of support for patients experiencing physical restrictions, and provide the opportunity to continue their support in the long-term. In addition to these advantages, we identified a 13th theme which described the barriers that healthcare professionals experienced in the adoption and use of eHealth. For example, professionals were concerned about the old age of their patients and thus low level of digital familiarity, and feared that they would generally prefer face-to-face contact.

To complement this study, Chapter 3 described a study to investigate whether these experiences and expectations of healthcare professionals are recognized by a CVD patient population. A previous study found that the willingness of CVD patients to use eHealth varies (Anttila et al., 2019). We aimed to elaborate on this by not only asking patients whether they wanted to use eHealth or not, but also further specify the type of eHealth or face-to-face intervention they would prefer, and by investigating what demographic variables predict their lifestyle support preference. To do so, we conducted a questionnaire study among 659 CVD patients who were a member of the official national Dutch CVD patients' association. The results showed us that the majority of the CVD patients preferred being self-supportive when working on their lifestyle (i.e., without support from a coach, an app or internet, or family and friends). This was followed by the options of being supported by a coach (in a group, individually, or via an app or internet). Furthermore, we found that age and gender were a predictor of lifestyle support preference. We found that older patients were more likely to prefer being self-supportive. And whereas men were more likely to prefer being supported by family and friends, or to be self-supportive, women were more likely to prefer being supported by a coach, either individually or via an app or internet.With the second aim of this dissertation in mind, (2) investigating if and how self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions could be optimised, we wanted to find out what eHealth solutions have already been developed for patients, and whether these are effective in improving clinical and behavioural health outcomes. In Chapter 4, given the inconsistent results about the effectiveness of human support within eHealth interventions (Beishuizen et al., 2016; Joiner et al., 2017; Lau et al., 2020; Lustria et al., 2013; Webb et al., 2010), we compared human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions in terms of effectiveness, and whether the amount and delivery mode of human support influence intervention effectiveness. We conducted a meta-analysis including studies testing eHealth lifestyle interventions for adults with cardiovascular diseases, chronic kidney diseases, type 1 diabetes mellitus, and type 2 diabetes mellitus. We focused on

all these four cardiometabolic diseases, as they share similar underlying risk factors, and all have a similar behavioural risk factor management strategy in terms of engaging in a healthy lifestyle. Our systematic search resulted in 104 unique studies that were included in the analysis. The multilevel meta-analysis showed that eHealth lifestyle interventions are effective in improving clinical and behavioural health outcomes. However, we did not find a difference between human-supported and self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions. Both intervention types were effective in improving clinical and behavioural health outcomes. Furthermore, we found no difference in effectiveness for the amount of human support (minor vs. major part of the intervention) or delivery mode of human support (remote vs. blended support). Based on these results, we hypothesized that the quality of the eHealth interventions in the included studies could explain the inconsistent results of different meta-analyses, as well as the level of adherence to the intervention.

Given that self-help eHealth interventions generally suffer from a lower uptake and use intention than human-supported ones (Lillevoll et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2018), Chapter 5 studied whether user expectations predict the intention to use either a human-supported or self-help eHealth intervention. We conducted an online experiment, in which healthy participants were randomly presented screenshots from either a human-supported or self-help lifestyle app. We used expected working alliance with the (automated) coach and the constructs from the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT; Venkatesh et al., 2003) to investigate which expectations predicted the use intention of human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions. The results revealed that subjects intention to start using a self-help eHealth intervention did not differ from their intention to start using a human-supported intervention. We also found no differences between the two types of interventions in terms of the working alliance people expected to have with either the human or automated coach. Nor did we find any difference in the extent to which they expected that important others believe they should use the eHealth intervention. We did however find that the effect of people's expectations about the helpfulness of the intervention and its easiness to use did differ between human-supported and self-help interventions: i.e, when subjects were offered a self-help intervention, their expectation that the intervention would be helpful or easy to use led to a higher intention to use the intervention than when subjects were offered a human-supported eHealth intervention. This effect also works in the opposite direction: when subjects expected that the self-help intervention would be unhelpful or difficult to use, they were less likely to start using the intervention compared to subjects who thought that the human-supported intervention would be unhelpful or difficult to use. In other words, negative expectations towards the intervention's helpfulness and easiness of use lead to a lower willingness to use a self-help intervention compared to a human-supported intervention.

In an attempt to solve the problem of adherence in self-help eHealth interventions, we conducted the study described in Chapter 6. Given that the working alliance is an important predictor of adherence within human-supported interventions (Flückiger et al., 2018; Sucala et al., 2012), and that people are able to form relationships with technology (Nass & Moon, 2000; Reeves & Nass, 1996), we aimed to use the concept of working alliance to improve adherence to a self-help eHealth intervention. We applied a text-based conversational agent to an app-based physical activity intervention, and used human cues to promote a working alliance with the user. We used two types of cues, i.e. visual and relational cues, and tested these in an experimental field study. We expected that the conversational agent using the most human cues (i.e. both visual and relational cues) would lead to the highest level of experienced working alliance, and thus highest user adherence to the intervention. In contrast, we found that the use of human cues did not affect the working alliance, but subjects who experienced a higher working alliance were more adherent to the intervention. Furthermore, when the conversational agent used visual cues, subjects were less adherent to the intervention compared to when the conversational agent used no human cues at all. Explanations for these findings might be the differences between embodied and text-based conversational agents and the importance of both non-verbal communication and transparency about the true nature of the conversational agent.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

This dissertation focused on the comparison between human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions, particularly the dilemma of the importance of human support in successful eHealth lifestyle interventions on the one hand, and the barriers that come with the involvement of healthcare professionals on the other hand. With the first aim of this dissertation in mind, (1) mapping out the needs and wishes of both healthcare professionals and CVD patients with regard to (human-supported and self-help) eHealth lifestyle interventions, this discussion first focuses on the views of those who are actually involved, i.e. healthcare professionals and patients, and what we learned about their preferences with regard to lifestyle support and the use of eHealth. Secondly, regarding the second aim, (2) investigating if and how self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions could be optimised, the discussion dives into the role of human support in eHealth lifestyle interventions and how eHealth interventions could be improved for patients.

Needs and wishes of healthcare professionals and patients

Healthcare professionals seem to recognise the benefits of eHealth in providing lifestyle support to CVD patients. According to them, eHealth could especially

help in providing patients with a feeling of autonomy, personalising the lifestyle intervention and in both providing remote and prolonged support. Nonetheless, they also mentioned several eHealth barriers, such as preferences for faceto-face contact and user-unfriendly technology. Although the answers of the healthcare professionals in our study were comparable to those of professionals in previous studies, our study did uncover some findings that seem to be unique to our sample of healthcare professionals working in cardiac care. Firstly, with regard to lifestyle support in general, whereas healthcare professionals in other studies reported to have a lack of skills to provide lifestyle support and the feeling that lifestyle interventions are ineffective (Jallinoja et al., 2007; Jansink et al., 2010), the professionals in our study did not mention these barriers. Secondly, concerning the use of eHealth in lifestyle support, our study did not reveal any eHealth barriers related to organisational factors (such inflexibility of the system and a lack of time or financial resources), which previous studies did (e.g. Bally & Cesuroglu, 2020; Peeters et al., 2016). Rather, the healthcare professionals in our study were generally positive about the use of eHealth in their care for CVD patients. Their barriers mostly concerned technical issues or concerns with a lack of face-to-face contact. These findings could be an illustration of the attitude with regard to lifestyle interventions within cardiac care within the Netherlands. Possibly, there is a higher level of consensus about the importance of and/or more experience with (digital) lifestyle interventions among Dutch professionals working in cardiac care due to the relatively high use of eHealth tools in the Netherlands in cardiac care. But there could also be other methodological differences related to the different care settings and organisational structures the interviewed healthcare professionals work in that could explain this. Professionals working in primary care could have different views than those working in cardiac rehabilitation, because of their own and the organisation's experiences with and attitude towards lifestyle support and eHealth. Nonetheless, to solve the insufficient implementation of eHealth into practice (Ross et al., 2016), our results suggest that healthcare professionals do not need to be convinced about the benefits of eHealth, but rather that the barriers they experience should be resolved. In order to overcome these barriers, health policy could play an important role in the provision of support and equipment.

The healthcare professionals we interviewed emphasised that, because CVD patients are older, they prefer face-to-face contact and have little technological experience. Therefore, digital tools would not be most suitable for this patient population and human support would be a better alternative. However, the responses we got from patients suggest that the lack of interest in eHealth interventions among an older population is not so much due to an aversion to technology. This is in line with other studies, showing that older patients are willing to use technology for self-management, as long as they are accessible to use (e.g. larger font sizes) (Cajita et al., 2017; Sivakumar et al., 2023). Rather, older patients, especially older men, seem to be less interested in lifestyle support in general and mostly prefer being self-supportive when working on their lifestyle. This finding could be explained by physical restrictions the elderly experience while engaging in physical activity, which makes it more difficult to follow a lifestyle intervention (de Boer et al., 2020a). Another explanation for the wish to be self-supportive, could be a general need among patients for autonomy or for personalised care (Bente et al., 2021). Our findings are also in line with studies showing a gender difference in health seeking behaviours (Yousaf et al., 2015), and that men perceive traditional lifestyle interventions as more suitable for women (Gavarkovs et al., 2016). Thus, in contrast to what healthcare professionals suggest, the technology itself may not be the problem. Instead, healthcare professionals could focus on the advantages of eHealth to overcome barriers that older men experience with regard to traditional lifestyle interventions. Especially given that men have an increased risk of developing CVD and are thus more often recommended to follow cardiac rehabilitation compared to women (de Boer et al., 2020b; Virani et al., 2020). For example, eHealth could help tailoring the intervention to individual needs of patients (Krebs et al., 2010), such as specific preferred changes in diet, or doing physical exercises at a time and place that suits a patient. Other possible advantage of eHealth, as mentioned by healthcare professionals, are giving patients more autonomy over maintaining their healthy lifestyle and personalising the intervention to their needs. Meta-analyses showed a positive association between both an autonomy supportive healthcare climate and personalisation of digital intervention content, and successful behaviour change (Lustria et al., 2013; Ng et al., 2012). Furthermore, eHealth shows to facilitate self-care behaviours, such as engaging in healthy lifestyle behaviours or self-monitoring (Riegel et al., 2017). These characteristics of digital interventions could provide patients more independence and could therefore possibly convince those patients who indicated to rather be self-supportive to do partake in a digital lifestyle intervention. On the other hand, the use of eHealth could not only help the high-risk group of older men, but also a subpopulation of patients who are now underrepresented in cardiac care, i.e. younger women. Younger women showed to have a more favourable attitude with regard to eHealth, which is why the increasing development and use of digital tools could ensure that also their needs are met by providing lifestyle support in a different way, tailored to their needs.

To conclude, although eHealth offers many opportunities, digitalisation may not be the only solution for all lifestyle-related concerns. The healthcare professionals indicated that the lack of face-to-face contact may be a possible barrier for using eHealth. This is in line with the views of the patients, who indicated to mostly prefer lifestyle interventions in which they would be supported by a coach (either individually, in a group, or via an app or internet). Furthermore, there is evidence that a healthy-lifestyle ecosystem, rather than a single eHealth intervention, might better meet the needs of both patients and professionals (Breeman et al., 2021). Despite the advantages of providing automated support through self-help interventions, such as being relatively cheap, easy to implement and requiring less investment from healthcare staff (Barak et al., 2009), these results indicate that attention should be paid to the human aspect within eHealth interventions. Especially given the great number of studies highlighting the importance of a positive relationship between the patient and the healthcare professional during the intervention on intervention adherence and outcomes (Brandt et al., 2018). This so-called working alliance explains up to a third of the variance in efficacy of psychotherapeutic interventions (Horvath et al., 2011; Lambert & Barley, 2001), also within an eHealth context (Kaiser et al., 2021). This means that eHealth interventions could be offered in a blended way, meaning that self-help features and human support are combined, or that selfhelp eHealth interventions could integrate some human-like characteristics.

How could self-help eHealth interventions be optimised?

In order to find solutions for the barriers raised by healthcare professionals and patients, we found that self-help eHealth interventions could be promising in lifestyle support among adults with CVD. Our results showed that the level of human support does not necessarily affect an eHealth intervention's effectiveness in improving health outcomes, or a higher intention to start using the intervention. This is contradictory to previous studies showing a lower uptake of self-help eHealth interventions (Lillevoll et al., 2014; Lin et al., 2018) and lower effectiveness of interventions without human (face-to-face) support (Beishuizen et al., 2016; Joiner et al., 2017; Lau et al., 2020). However, we concluded that equal levels of effectiveness between human-supported and self-help eHealth interventions could only be achieved when the quality of the intervention is high enough. The strict inclusion and exclusion criteria of our meta-analysis may have resulted in only including high quality interventions. This may have reduced the difference in effectiveness between human-supported and self-help interventions. For example, some meta-analyses that did find a lower effectiveness of self-help eHealth interventions included a broader variety of interventions, such as those without education or skills training (Beishuizen et al., 2016) or those that were not interactive (Lau et al., 2020). Interventions that are more elaborate, for example by incorporating multiple behaviour change techniques, are more effective in improving health behaviour (Webb et al., 2010). In those interventions, the additional benefits of human support, and thus increase in effectiveness, would potentially be lower compared to its additional benefit in less elaborate, lower quality interventions. It is therefore not surprising that automated support is frequently combined with behaviour change techniques and persuasive system design principles (Asbjørnsen et al., 2019). An important lesson is therefore that it is especially important to consider the quality of the eHealth intervention when little or no human support is provided.

The quality of the intervention shows to also be a point of concern when it comes to start using an eHealth intervention. In line with previous work, we found that the perception of the intervention's effectiveness or easiness of use affects use intention in general (Venkatesh et al., 2003). However, only within self-help eHealth interventions, the perception that the intervention might be ineffective and/or difficult to use, limited the willingness to start using the intervention. This effect is not visible within human-supported eHealth interventions. In line with this, meta-analyses show that the mere presence of a human being (even a nonprofessional) is the key ingredient in intervention effectiveness and prevention of dropout (Etzelmueller et al., 2020; Karyotaki et al., 2018; Richards & Richardson, 2012). It seems that just the option of having someone to provide you procedural or technical support seems to be helpful when the intervention's helpfulness or easiness of use is questionable. But for self-help eHealth interventions where such additional support is not an option, it is especially important that these interventions are perceived as being of a high quality to ensure that people are willing to give them a try.

However, there are some situations in which human support would be preferable. People who question whether they will reach their objectives with the help of the intervention or whether they are capable of easily using the intervention, could possibly benefit from more human support in the intervention. The presence of human support could compensate for a lack of self-efficacy that people feel either while they are starting to use or are already using the intervention (Fernández et al., 2014; Zhou et al., 2017). For example, patients with a low eHealth literacy are less likely to adhere to eHealth interventions (Richtering et al., 2017) and could benefit from such support. The results from Chapter 4 and 5 do offer some preliminary suggestions to offer support within the application of self-help eHealth interventions. Based on our results, we advise healthcare professionals to screen the patient's self-efficacy, or digital or eHealth literacy beforehand, and provide some level of human support if the patient expects any problems or barriers in using the eHealth intervention. Just procedural support could improve patients' perceptions about and their likelihood to start using the intervention, as well as ensure that the intervention is as effective as intended (Etzelmueller et al., 2020; Karyotaki et al., 2018; Richards & Richardson, 2012).

In addition to this, intervention adherence, similar to intervention uptake and effectiveness, might be another factor that would be important to consider in the optimalisation of eHealth interventions. Even though we were unable to assess adherence in our meta-analysis because only a small proportion of studies report eHealth adherence (Sieverink et al., 2017), some studies consistently showed that adherence is problematically low in self-help eHealth interventions (Kelders et al., 2011; Kelders et al., 2012; Murray et al., 2013; Wangberg et al.,

2008). Furthermore, given that adherence is related to intervention effectiveness (Donkin et al., 2011), the higher level of adherence within human-supported interventions could explain why human support is related to intervention effectiveness. Given both the low adherence levels and the positive relationship between adherence and effectiveness, it seems that more attention should be paid to optimising adherence within self-help eHealth interventions.

Optimising adherence to self-help eHealth interventions

In contrast to our expectations, we found that the use of visual human cues caused people to be less adherent to the intervention compared to when the conversational agent used no human cues at all. In contrast to our study, many studies that did find a relationship between using human cues and working alliance concern the use of an embodied conversational agent (Bickmore et al., 2005; Bickmore et al., 2010). However, as we used a text-based conversational agent, we were limited in the agent's possibilities to use human cues. An embodied conversational agent can make use of an additional range of design characteristics, such as non-verbal communication. Possibly, the lack of incorporating non-verbal communication might hinder text-based conversational agents from benefitting from establishing a working alliance with the use of human cues (Friederichs et al., 2014). Such relational behaviour in the form of human cues can positively influence the relation between the user and the agent (ter Stal et al., 2020). Nonetheless, text-based conversational agents are more commonly used in healthcare settings than embodied conversational agents (Tudor Car et al., 2020). Furthermore, making a conversational agent look like a human being through visual cues, without being transparent about it being a computer rather than human, could lead to high expectations among the people using the self-help eHealth intervention (Luger & Sellen, 2016). However, as a computer is less capable of providing feedback that meets the wishes of the user than a human being, expectations concerning the quality of the coaching would not be met, possibly leading to disappointment in the conversational agent and thus lower levels of adherence (Mozafari et al., 2020; Rapp, Curti & Boldi, 2021). When a text-based conversational agent explicitly presents itself as non-human, the establishment of a working alliance between the agent and the user is possible (Darcy et al., 2021). In sum, based on our findings, we assume that improving the working alliance could be a solution to improve adherence to self-help eHealth interventions. And although further research is required, we would advise to invest in an embodied conversational agent for any self-help eHealth lifestyle intervention, and to consider full transparency about the true nature of the conversational agent. Furthermore, the different effects for visual and relational cues stress the importance of not only testing the effects of human cues in general, but also the effects of different types of cues (Feine et al., 2019).

The findings within this dissertation could help the development of eHealth lifestyle interventions for CVD patients. Chapter 2 and 3 revealed that healthcare professionals indicated that eHealth solutions could provide a lot of benefits, and that patients were not so much technology-averse but rather prefer being self-supportive or wish for the involvement of some human interaction during their lifestyle support. For those who would like to be self-supportive, a self-help eHealth intervention might be an attractive option, as it provides patients with the tools necessary to work on their lifestyle, whilst preserving their autonomy. As there is no healthcare professional involved though, it would be extra important for these patients to ensure adherence to the intervention. For those who would like human contact during their lifestyle intervention, a conversational agent could make a self-help eHealth intervention more human and increase the feeling of a working alliance during lifestyle support. Although we found that self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions can be as effective as human-supported ones, we also found that concerns about the intervention's helpfulness or easiness of use could prevent some people from using it. All in all, based on the findings in this dissertation, we can conclude that self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions could be a valuable addition to the current rehabilitation programs in cardiac care. They could help CVD patients in starting and maintaining a healthy lifestyle, while at the same time prevent a further increase of the workload of healthcare professionals. However, to ensure intervention uptake, it would be worthwhile to consider combining these self-help eHealth interventions with some level of human contact, and to improve the feeling of a working alliance during the intervention.

Strengths and limitations

The overall strength of this dissertation is the use of various research methodologies. The needs and wishes of healthcare professionals and CVD patients have been investigated with a qualitative interview study in Chapter 2, and a quantitative questionnaire study in Chapter 3. Furthermore, we used a (multilevel) meta-analysis to assess the effectiveness of existing eHealth lifestyle interventions in Chapter 4, and an online experiment to investigate what drives the intention to start using an eHealth intervention in Chapter 5. Finally, to investigate ways to improve a self-help eHealth intervention in Chapter 6, a field experiment measuring real, objective health behaviour was used. These different methodologies each have their own qualities that complement each other and provide a more complete picture of the application of eHealth lifestyle interventions in CVD care and the role human support plays in such interventions. Secondly, an important strength of the current dissertation is its focus on clinical practice. The main aim of each of the studies was to develop knowledge to improve lifestyle support through eHealth in cardiac care. Therefore, we have included the most important stakeholders to investigate what they need and want from an eHealth

intervention, and investigated eHealth interventions that have already been developed and used in practice. And although the two experiments in Chapter 5 and 6 did not directly include these stakeholders, their main aim was to find factors that influence the uptake of and adherence to eHealth interventions, which could be applied to cardiac care in a later stage.

However, there are also some limitations that should be addressed. As mentioned above, in Chapter 5 and 6 we did not include stakeholders such as healthcare professionals or patients, but rather a healthy population to investigate use intention and adherence to self-help eHealth interventions. Therefore, these results can only be generalised to a limited extent to the CVD patient population. We chose to use a healthy sample in these studies as we did not want to unnecessarily burden a vulnerable population and rather first test our hypotheses in a healthy population. As human support is seen as essential to successful lifestyle change, studies in which this is replaced by automated support could potentially have negatively influenced the uptake of, adherence to or effectiveness of the studied lifestyle interventions. And given that we tested new principles of which the effectiveness was unknown, we felt it was unethical to test these with a vulnerable population for whom an effective lifestyle intervention is crucial. However, this does mean that further studies are needed before we can apply the results of the studies described in these two chapters to clinical practice. Secondly, please note that the samples of our studies described in Chapter 2 and 3 might not have been fully representative of all healthcare professionals working in cardiac care and the CVD patient population. Although we intentionally interviewed healthcare professionals involved in the lifestyle support of patients with CVD, this specific sample limits the generalizability of our results as our sample has experience with, and might therefore be more willing, to provide lifestyle support. As this sample already has experience with lifestyle support, their attitude towards a healthy lifestyle and eHealth might be different from the attitude of healthcare professionals in general. Furthermore, the sample of Chapter 3 represents a group of patients who are likely to have already completed cardiac rehabilitation, and who might be more empowered and self-aware of their disease and its consequences, and therefore might have a different view on lifestyle support than CVD patients who are still at the start of their rehabilitation trajectory. It would therefore be interesting for future studies to include healthcare professionals with different levels of experiences with and attitudes towards lifestyle support, and CVD patients who did not start rehabilitation yet, to investigate how this might influence their views upon lifestyle support and eHealth.

Future research

Given the importance of a healthy lifestyle for the prevention and treatment of CVD, and the needs and wishes of healthcare professionals and patients, we

would advise to further investigate the role of human support in eHealth lifestyle interventions, and the possibilities of using self-help eHealth interventions in cardiac care. First of all, it would be interesting for future studies to investigate what qualities a self-help eHealth intervention needs to make it as effective as a human-supported eHealth intervention. For healthcare professionals, knowing which self-help eHealth interventions are effective would be important in their decision to provide additional human support during the lifestyle intervention. For eHealth developers, it would be important to know what intervention content, such as education and skills training or interactivity, improve the quality of an eHealth intervention to such an extent that human support has no more additional value with regard to effectiveness. Furthermore, we argued that the level of adherence could possibly be the missing explanation for the inconsistent results found in previous meta-analyses regarding the added contribution of human support to self-help eHealth interventions. However, due to the lack of reporting, we were not able to investigate this in our meta-analysis. Therefore, we would also suggest future eHealth studies to more carefully investigate and report adherence levels. Additionally, we would advise to replicate the study described in Chapter 5 with a patient population. Based on our findings with a healthy population, we would advise healthcare professionals to ask about their patients' expectations toward the eHealth intervention's helpfulness and easiness of use before deciding on the amount of support needed for that patient. However, we would recommend to investigate whether the same expectations as those found in our study are decisive in a CVD patient's intention to start using an eHealth intervention. Finally, the results of the study described in Chapter 6 raised several questions that would be important for future studies to address. We would advise to investigate the difference between text-based and embodied conversational agents, and whether non-verbal communication is indeed key for conversational agents to improve the working alliance people experience during the intervention and their adherence to the intervention. Furthermore, we expect that transparency about the true nature of the conversational agent would have a positive influence on intervention adherence, which would be worthwhile to test in a future study. Once we have more knowledge about these mechanisms, we can further investigate how conversational agents can be used to improve the adherence to self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions for CVD patients.

Clinical implications

The results of the studies described in this dissertation have provided insight into the views of healthcare professionals and CVD patients about lifestyle support and the use of eHealth, and demonstrated that self-help eHealth interventions could be a useful alternative for or addition to human lifestyle support. Specifically, we found that healthcare professionals recognise the benefits of using eHealth in lifestyle support. For clinical practice however, it would be important to address certain barriers they experience (such as low user-friendliness or a lack of tech-support) as these might hinder the adoption of eHealth into cardiac care. Concerning the preferences of patients, the most prevalent group within cardiac care - higher-aged men - indicated to mostly prefer being self-supportive in their lifestyle change. This highlights the need to make traditional lifestyle interventions more attractive for them in practice. eHealth provides opportunities for greater personalisation and autonomy, which would be especially attractive for those patients who would rather be self-supportive. Furthermore, our results showed that underrepresented groups within cardiac care - younger women - do find eHealth alternatives attractive. They especially preferred digital interventions in which a human coach was involved. Therefore, eHealth could be recommended to provide suitable lifestyle interventions for all patient groups within cardiac care. Our findings do show however that it would be important to consider different eHealth forms for different patient groups, for example more autonomous and personalised eHealth interventions for men, and blended interventions for women.

Furthermore, the studies in this dissertation demonstrated that human support is not as essential for effective eHealth interventions as previously expected, which is an important finding for clinical practice. As self-help eHealth interventions can be as effective as those with human support in improving cardiometabolic risk factors, healthcare professionals could consider providing such interventions to their patients when they experience barriers in providing lifestyle support themselves. An important finding was that expectations play a role in people's intention to start using the intervention. More specifically, we found that whether people think that the intervention is helpful or easy to use (or not) is decisive when there is no human support available. In practice, this implies that healthcare professionals could screen the patient's expectations towards the intervention's helpfulness and easiness of use beforehand, and provide some level of human support if these expectations turn out to be negative.

Finally, those involved in eHealth practice should not only pay attention to the working alliance between healthcare professional and patient, but also when the patient is engaged in a self-help eHealth intervention. An improved working alliance leads to a better adherence to a self-help eHealth intervention, which in turn increases intervention effectiveness. Our results hint towards the use of embodied conversational agents, which can use relational human cues to increase the working alliance with the user. Our studies also highlight the importance to focus on the working alliance in eHealth development. We would therefore recommend developers to investigate how patients experience the working alliance with the intervention during the design process to ensure their effort results in self-help eHealth interventions that are attractive for patients to adhere to. Healthcare professionals on the other hand could incorporate some form

of support when they provide self-help eHealth interventions to their patients. Although such interventions have the potential to be effective, a low working alliance could risk intervention adherence. For example, healthcare professionals could ask patients about their progress in the intervention during consultations, or send brief electronic messages through the eHealth technology. Another possibility would be to consider using blended interventions, in which self-help and human-supported aspects are combined into the same eHealth intervention. All in all, clinical practice should pay attention to the working alliance patients experience when they use any kind of eHealth lifestyle intervention.

Although not all the findings from this dissertation are ready to be implemented into the care of CVD patients, implementation is still an important topic to address at this stage. For healthcare professionals who recognise the benefits of eHealth, the opportunity to improve eHealth implementation is to resolve the barriers they experience. Often, important stakeholders are involved when it comes to the implementation phase of eHealth development (van Gemert-Pijnen, 2011). By structurally involving those who are intended to use the eHealth tool, and specifically resolving the barriers these stakeholders experience, the tool will fit their needs and wishes and therefore be easier to adopt into their daily work practice (Bally et al., 2020). Therefore not only patients, but also healthcare professionals, should be involved when further investigating the mechanisms found in this dissertation. Furthermore, the healthcare context should be taken into account when working on an implementation plan. Although we did not find barriers on the organisational level, organisational structures can either hinder or facilitate the implementation process (Bally et al., 2020; Lingg et al., 2020; Walsh et al., 2018). Think for example about privacy concerns, which may hinder the use of health-related data to personalise automated coaching. Or ethical protocols, which may hinder the acceptance of selfhelp interventions when compared to actual human support for patient care. Scepticism among the professionals in the organisation might also hinder technological development in their work practices. Keeping the healthcare context in mind during development, could result in eHealth tools that are compatible with the existing workflow and therefore actually be implemented into practice.

Conclusion

This PhD dissertation aimed to find an answer to the dilemma that the role of human support has been shown to be important in successful eHealth solutions for a healthy lifestyle, while the involvement of healthcare professionals is not always possible or desirable.

Concerning the preferences of the users, healthcare professionals and patients could both benefit from using eHealth for lifestyle support, but it is useful to target any barriers that they experience. Technological issues could hinder adoption into cardiac care and should therefore be solved. In addition, eHealth should personalise interventions and increase user autonomy, to also make them attractive for patients who rather receive no lifestyle support.

Concerning human support within eHealth interventions, self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions can be as effective as human-supported eHealth lifestyle interventions in improving cardiovascular risk factors. However, since negative patient expectations can hinder the uptake of self-help eHealth interventions, such expectations should be screened to decide on the level of support a patient might need. To solve problems with non-adherence within self-help eHealth interventions, clinical practice should also focus on improving the working alliance within such interventions.

All in all, this dissertation demonstrates that eHealth interventions could be a promising solution to barriers experienced in the lifestyle support of CVD patients, and that self-help eHealth interventions could be a useful addition or alternative to human support that should be explored. Despite this, patients can benefit from human contact, which is why human aspects of interventions - such as the working alliance - should not be ignored. Even within self-help eHealth lifestyle interventions.

REFERENCES CHAPTER 7

- Anttila, M. R., Kivistö, H., Piirainen, A., et al. (2019). Cardiac rehabilitees' technology experiences before remote rehabilitation: Qualitative study using a grounded theory approach. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 21(2), e10985. https://doi.org/10.2196/10985
- Asbjørnsen, R. A., Smedsrød, M. L., Nes, L. S., Wentzel, J., Varsi, C., Hjelmesæth, J., & van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E. (2019). Persuasive system design principles and behavior change techniques to stimulate motivation and adherence in electronic health interventions to support weight loss maintenance: Scoping review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 21*(6), e14265. https://doi.org/10.2196/14265Bally, E. L. S., & Cesuroglu, T. (2020). Toward integration of mHealth in primary care in the Netherlands: A qualitative analysis of stakeholder perspectives. *Frontiers in Public Health, 7*, 407. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00407
- Barak, A., Klein, B., & Proudfoot, J. G. (2009). Defining internet-supported therapeutic interventions. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 38(1), 4-17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-009-9130-8
- Beishuizen, C. R., Stephan, B. C., van Gool, W. A., Brayne, C., Peters, R. J. G., Andrieu, S., Ki-vipelto, M., Soininen, H., Busschers, W. B., Moll van Charante, E. P., & Richard, E. (2016). Web-based interventions targeting cardiovascular risk factors in middle-aged and older people: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *18*(3), e55. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.4808
- Bellicha, A., Macé, S., & Oppert, J. M. (2017). Prescribing of electronic activity monitors in cardiometabolic diseases: Qualitative interview-based study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(9), e328. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.8107
- Bente, B. E., Wentzel, J., Groeneveld, R. G., IJzerman, R. V., de Buisonjé, D. R., Breeman, L. D., ... & van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E. (2021). Values of importance to patients with cardiovascular disease as a foundation for eHealth design and evaluation: Mixed methods study. JMIR cardio, 5(2), e33252. https://doi.org/10.2196/33252
- **Bickmore,** T., Gruber, A., & Picard, R. (2005). Establishing the computer-patient working alliance in automated health behavior change interventions. *Patient Education and Counseling*, *59*(1), 21-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2004.10.004
- Bickmore, T. W., Mitchell, S. E., Jack, B. W., Paasche-Orlow, M. K., Pfeifer, L. M., & Odonnell, J. (2010). Response to a relational agent by hospital patients with depressive symptoms. *Interacting with Computers*, 22(4), 289-298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intcom.2010.03.001
- Brandt, C. J., Søgaard, G. I., Clemensen, J., Søndergaard, J., & Nielsen, J. B. (2018). Determinants of successful eHealth coaching for consumer lifestyle changes: Qualitative interview study among health care professionals. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(7), e237. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9791
- Breeman, L. D., Keesman, M., Atsma, D. E., Chavannes, N. H., Janssen, V., van Gemert-Pijnen, L., ... & Evers, A. W. (2021). A multi-stakeholder approach to eHealth development: Promoting sustained healthy living among cardiovascular patients. *International journal* of medical informatics, 147, 104364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2020.104364
- Cajita, M. I., Hodgson, N. A., Budhathoki, C., & Han, H. R. (2017). Intention to use mHealth in older adults with heart failure. *The Journal of cardiovascular nursing*, *32*(6), El. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCN.000000000000401

- Darcy, A., Daniels, J., Salinger, D., Wicks, P., & Robinson, A. (2021). Evidence of human-level bonds established with a digital conversational agent: cross-sectional, retrospective observational study. JMIR Formative Research, 5(5), e27868. https://doi. org/10.2196/27868
- **De Boer**, P. S., van Deursen, A. J. A. M., & van Rompay, T. J. L. (2020a). Internet-of-things skills among the general population: Task-based performance test using activity trackers. *JMIR Human Factors*, 7(4), e22532. https://doi.org/10.2196/22532
- De Boer, A. R., van Dis, I., Wimmers, R. H., Vaartjes, I., & Bots, M. L. (2020b). Hart- en vaatziekten in Nederland, 2020. Hartstichting. Retrieved 14 October, 2021, from https:// www.hartstichting.nl/getmedia/74a18eeb-e602-41bf-8a2c-c3932108e89b/cijfers-hart-vaatziekten-nederland-2020.pdf
- **Etzelmueller,** A., Vis, C., Karyotaki, E., et al. (2020). Effects of internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy in routine care for adults in treatment for depression and anxiety: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 22*(8), e18100. https://doi.org/10.2196/18100
- Fernández, B. R., Montenegro, E. M., Knoll, N., & Schwarzer, R. (2014). Self-efficacy, action control, and social support explain physical activity changes among Costa Rican older adults. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, 11(8), 1573–1578. https://doi.org/10.1123/ jpah.2013–0175
- Feine, J., Gnewuch, U., Morana, S., & Maedche, A. (2019). A taxonomy of social cues for conversational agents. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 132, 138– 161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2019.07.009
- Flückiger, C., Del Re, A. C., Wampold, B. E., & Horvath, A. O. (2018). The alliance in adult psychotherapy: A meta-analytic synthesis. *Psychotherapy (Chic)*, 55(4), 316-340. https://10.1037/pst0000172
- Friederichs, S., Bolman, C., Oenema, A., Guyaux, J., & Lechner, L. (2014). Motivational interviewing in a web-based physical activity intervention with an avatar: Randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 16(2), e48. https://doi. org/10.2196/jmir.2815
- Gavarkovs, A. G., Burke, S. M., & Petrella, R. J. (2016). Engaging men in chronic disease prevention and management programs: A scoping review. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 10(6), 145–154. https://doi.org/10.1177/1557988315587549
- Horvath, A. O., Del Re, A. C., Flückiger, C., & Symonds, D. (2011). Alliance in individual psychotherapy. *Psychotherapy*, 48(1), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022186
- Jallinoja, P., Absetz, P., Kuronen, R., et al. (2007). The dilemma of patient responsibility for lifestyle change: Perceptions among primary care physicians and nurses. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care, 25*(4), 244–249. https://doi.org/10.1080/02813430701691778
- Jansink, R., Braspenning, J., van der Weijden, T., Elwyn, G., & Grol, R. (2010). Primary care nurses struggle with lifestyle counseling in diabetes care: A qualitative analysis. *BMC Family Practice, 11*, 41. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-11-41
- Janssen, V., De Gucht, V., van Exel, H., & Maes, S. (2013). Beyond resolutions? A randomized controlled trial of a self-regulation lifestyle programme for post-cardiac rehabilitation patients. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, 20, 431-441.

- Joiner, K. L., Nam, S., & Whittemore, R. (2017). Lifestyle interventions based on the diabetes prevention program delivered via eHealth: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Preventive Medicine, 100*, 194-207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.04.027
- Kaiser, J., Hanschmidt, F., & Kersting, A. (2021). The association between therapeutic alliance and outcome in internet-based psychological interventions: A meta-analysis. *Computers in Human Behavior, 114*, 106512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2020.106512
- Kaminsky, L. A., German, C., Imboden, M., Ozemek, C., Peterman, J. E., & Brubaker, P. H. (2022). The importance of healthy lifestyle behaviors in the prevention of cardiovascular disease. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, 70, 8–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pcad.2021.12.001
- Karyotaki, E., Ebert, D. D., Donkin, L., et al. (2018). Do guided internet-based interventions result in clinically relevant changes for patients with depression? An individual participant data meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review, 63*, 80-92. https://10.1016/j. cpr.2018.06.007
- Kelders, S. M., Kok, R. N., Ossebaard, H. C., & Van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E. (2012). Persuasive system design does matter: A systematic review of adherence to web-based interventions. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(6), e152. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2104
- Kelders, S. M., Van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E., Werkman, A., Nijland, N., & Seydel, E. R. (2011). Effectiveness of a web-based intervention aimed at healthy dietary and physical activity behavior: A randomized controlled trial about users and usage. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 13(2), e32. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1624
- Krebs, P., Prochaska, J. O., & Rossi, J. S. (2010). A meta-analysis of computer-tailored interventions for health behavior change. *Preventive Medicine*, 51(3-4), 214-221. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.06.004
- Koop, Y., Wimmers, R. H., Vaartjes, I., & Bots, M. L. (2021). Hart- en vaatziekten in Nederland, 2021. Hartstichting. Retrieved February 26, 2023, from https://www.hartstichting.nl/ hart-en-vaatziekten/cijfers-hart-en-vaatziekten
- Lambert, M. J., & Barley, D. E. (2001). Research summary on the therapeutic relationship and psychotherapy outcome. Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 38(4), 357.
- Lau, Y., Chee, D. G. H., Chow, X. P., Cheng, L. J., & Wong, S. N. (2020). Personalised eHealth interventions in adults with overweight and obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Preventive Medicine*, 132, 106001. https://10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106001
- Lillevoll, K., Vangberg, H. C. B., Griffiths, K. M., & Eisemann, M. R. (2014). Uptake and adherence of a self-directed internet-based mental health intervention with tailored e-mail reminders in senior high schools in Norway. *BMC Psychiatry*, 14(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244X-14-14
- Lin, J., Faust, B., Ebert, D. D., Krämer, L., & Baumeister, H. (2018). A Web-Based Acceptance-Facilitating Intervention for Identifying Patients' Acceptance, Uptake, and Adherence of Internet- and Mobile-Based Pain Interventions: Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(8), e244. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9925
- Lingg, M., & Lütschg, V. (2020). Health System Stakeholders' Perspective on the Role of Mobile Health and Its Adoption in the Swiss Health System: Qualitative Study. JMIR mHealth and uHealth, 8(5), e17315. https://doi.org/10.2196/17315

- Luger, E., & Sellen, A. (2016). "Like having a really bad pa" the gulf between user expectation and experience of conversational agents. *In Conference Proceedings of the* 2016 CHI conference on human factors in computing systems (pp. 5286-5297). https://10.1145/2858036.2858288
- Lustria, M. L., Noar, S. M., Cortese, J., Van Stee, S. K., Glueckauf, R. L., & Lee, J. (2013). A meta-analysis of web-delivered tailored health behavior change interventions. *Journal* of *Health Communication*, *18*(9), 1039–1069. https://doi.org/10.1080/10810730.2013.76 8727
- **Mozafari,** N., Weiger, W. H., & Hammerschmidt, M. (2020). The chatbot disclosure dilemma: Desirable and undesirable effects of disclosing the non-human identity of chatbots. *In Conference Proceedings of the 41st International Conference on Information Systems.*
- Murray, J., Craigs, C. L., Hill, K. M., Honey, S., & House, A. (2012). A systematic review of patient-reported factors associated with uptake and completion of cardiovascular lifestyle behavior change. *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders*, *12*, 120. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2261-12-120
- Nass, C. I., & Moon, Y. (2000). Machines and mindlessness: Social responses to computers. Journal of Social Issues, 56(1), 81–103. https://10.1111/0022-4537.00153
- Ng, J. Y., Ntoumanis, N., Thøgersen-Ntoumani, C., Deci, E. L., Ryan, R. M., Duda, J. L., & Williams, G. C. (2012). Self-Determination Theory Applied to Health Contexts: A Meta-Analysis. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 7(4), 325-340. https://doi. org/10.1177/1745691612447309
- Peeters, J. M., Krijgsman, J. W., Brabers, A. E., Jong, J. D., & Friele, R. D. (2016). Use and Uptake of eHealth in General Practice: A Cross-Sectional Survey and Focus Group Study Among Health Care Users and General Practitioners. *JMIR Medical Informatics*, 4(2), ell. https://doi.org/10.2196/medinform.4988
- Piepoli, M. F., Hoes, A. W., Agewall, S., Albus, C., Brotons, C., Catapano, A. L., Cooney, M. T., Corrà, U., Cosyns, B., Deaton, C., Graham, I., Hall, M. S., Hobbs, F. D. R., Løchen, M. L., Löllgen, H., Marques-Vidal, P., Perk, J., Prescott, E., Redon, J., Richter, D. J., ... Binno, S. (2016). 2016 European guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: The sixth joint task force of the European society of cardiology and other societies on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. *European Heart Journal*, 37(29), 2315-2381. PMID:27222591. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw106
- Rapp, A., Curti, L., & Boldi, A. (2021). The human side of human-chatbot interaction: A systematic literature review of ten years of research on text-based chatbots. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 151, 102630. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijhcs.2021.102630
- **Reeves**, B., & Nass, C. I. (1996). The Media Equation: How People Treat Computers, Television, and New Media Like Real People and Places. *Cambridge University Press*. ISBN: 978-1575860534
- Richtering, S. S., Hyun, K., Neubeck, L., Coorey, G., Chalmers, J., Usherwood, T., ... & Redfern, J. (2017). eHealth literacy: predictors in a population with moderate-to-high cardiovascular risk. *JMIR human factors*, 4(1), e6217. https://doi.org/10.2196/humanfactors.6217

- Riegel, B., Moser, D. K., Buck, H. G., Dickson, V. V., Dunbar, S. B., Lee, C. S., ... & American Heart Association Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing; Council on Peripheral Vascular Disease; and Council on Quality of Care and Outcomes Research. (2017). Self-care for the prevention and management of cardiovascular disease and stroke: A scientific statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association. Journal of the American Heart Association, 6(9), e006997. https://doi.org/10.1161/ JAHA.117.006997
- Richards, D., & Richardson, T. (2012). Computer-based Psychological Treatments for Depression: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review, 32*(4), 329-342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.02.004
- Ross, J., Stevenson, F., Lau, R., & Murray, E. (2016). Factors that Influence the Implementation of e-Health: A Systematic Review of Systematic Reviews (An Update). *Implementation Science*, 11(1), 146. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-016-0510-7
- Sieverink, F., Kelders, S. M., & van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E. (2017). Clarifying the Concept of Adherence to eHealth Technology: Systematic Review on When Usage Becomes Adherence. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(12), e8578. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.8578
- Sivakumar, B., Lemonde, M., Stein, M., Mak, S., Al-Hesayen, A., & Arcand, J. (2023). Patient perspectives on the use of mobile apps to support heart failure management: A qualitative descriptive study. *Plos one*, *18*(5), e0285659. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0285659
- Sucala, M., Schnur, J. B., Constantino, M. J., Miller, S. J., Brackman, E. H., & Montgomery, G. H. (2012). The Therapeutic Relationship in e-Therapy for Mental Health: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 14(4), e110. PMID:22858538. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2084
- Ter Stal, S., Kramer, L. L., Tabak, M., op den Akker, H., & Hermens, H. (2020). Design features of embodied conversational agents in ehealth: a literature review. *International Journal* of Human-Computer Studies, 138, 102409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhcs.2020.102409
- Thomas, J. G., & Bond, D. S. (2014). Review of Innovations in Digital Health Technology to Promote Weight Control. *Current Diabetes Reports*, 14(5), 485. PMID:24664797. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11892-014-0508-6
- Tudor Car, L., Dhinagaran, D. A., Kyaw, B. M., Kowatsch, T., Joty, S., Theng, Y. L., & Atun, R. (2020). Conversational agents in health care: scoping review and conceptual analysis. *Journal of medical Internet research*, 22(8), e17158. https://doi.org/10.2196/17158
- Van Gemert-Pijnen, J. E., Nijland, N., van Limburg, M., Ossebaard, H. C., Kelders, S. M., Eysenbach, G., & Seydel, E. R. (2011). A Holistic Framework to Improve the Uptake and Impact of eHealth Technologies. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 13(4), e111. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1672
- Venkatesh, V., Morris, M. G., Davis, G. B., & Davis, F. D. (2003). User Acceptance of Information Technology: Toward a Unified View. MIS Quarterly, 27(3), 425-478. https://10.2307/30036540
- Virani, S. S., Alonso, A., Benjamin, E. J., et al. (2020). Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2020 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 141(9), e139-e596. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIR.000000000000757

- Walsh, D. M., Moran, K., Cornelissen, V., Buys, R., Cornelis, N., & Woods, C. (2018). Electronic health physical activity behavior change intervention to self-manage cardiovascular disease: Qualitative exploration of patient and health professional requirements. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 20(5), e163. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.9822
- Wangberg, S. C., Bergmo, T. S., & Johnsen, J. A. (2008). Adherence in Internet-Based Interventions. Patient Preference and Adherence, 2, 57-65. https://doi.org/10.2147/ppa. s3219
- Warr, W., Aveyard, P., Albury, C., Nicholson, B., Tudor, K., Hobbs, R., ... & Ziebland, S. (2021). A systematic review and thematic synthesis of qualitative studies exploring GPs' and nurses' perspectives on discussing weight with patients with overweight and obesity in primary care. Obesity Reviews, 22(4), e13151. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13151
- Webb, T., Joseph, J., Yardley, L., & Michie, S. (2010). Using the Internet to Promote Health Behavior Change: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Impact of Theoretical Basis, Use of Behavior Change Techniques, and Mode of Delivery on Efficacy. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 12(1), e1376. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1376
- World Health Organization. (2017). Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs). Retrieved February 7, 2019, from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds)
- Yousaf, O., Grunfeld, E. A., & Hunter, M. S. (2015). A Systematic Review of the Factors Associated With Delays in Medical and Psychological Help-Seeking Among Men. *Health Psychology Review*, 9(2), 264-276. https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2013.840954
- **Zhou,** G., Gan, Y., Hamilton, K., & Schwarzer, R. (2017). The Role of Social Support and Self-Efficacy for Planning Fruit and Vegetable Intake. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior, 49*(2), 100-106. https://10.1016/j.jneb.2016.09.005

Summary & General Discussion

NEDERLANDSE SAMENVATTING

Het aantal volwassenen dat lijdt aan hart- en vaatziekten (HVZ) stijgt. Voor deze patiënten kan een gezonde levensstijl de prognose van hun ziekte verbeteren. Een gezonde leefstijl is dan ook de focus van de revalidatieprogramma's die patiënten aangeboden krijgen. Maar HVZ patiënten hebben ook ondersteuning na afloop van hun revalidatie nodig om deze gezonde levensstijl op lange termijn vol te kunnen houden. De afgelopen jaren zijn er vele eHealth oplossingen ontwikkeld om ondersteuning te bieden bij een gezonde leefstijl. Toch zijn deze oplossingen niet zo effectief als dat deze in potentie zouden kunnen zijn. Een belangrijke reden hiervoor is dat veel eHealth oplossingen ontwikkeld worden zonder dat degenen die de technologie gebruiken (patiënten en zorgprofessionals) hierbij betrokken worden. Hierdoor zijn eHealth oplossingen vaak niet gebruiksvriendelijk en daardoor minder effectief in het verbeteren van de leefstijl van gebruikers.

Begeleiding door een zorgprofessional is van belang voor een succesvolle leefstijlverandering. Toch zijn ervaren professionals belemmeringen die hen ervan weerhouden om deze begeleiding te bieden, zoals een gebrek aan tijd in de dagelijkse praktijk of te weinig expertise in leefstijlbegeleiding. Aangezien de betrokkenheid van zorgprofessionals bij leefstijlverandering dus niet altijd mogelijk of wenselijk is, zou gekeken kunnen worden naar eHealth oplossingen met geautomatiseerde begeleiding: dit is op grotere schaal inzetbaar, goedkoper, en verlicht het de hoge werkdruk van zorgverleners. Bij menselijke begeleiding is er echter sprake van een therapeutische relatie tussen de zorgprofessional en de patiënt, die de therapietrouw aan de interventie (en daarmee het succes van de interventie) vergroot. Het is de vraag in hoeverre deze therapeutische relatie ook aanwezig is bij geautomatiseerde eHealth interventies.

Dit proefschrift heeft daarom de volgende doelen: (1) het in kaart brengen van de behoeften en wensen van zowel zorgprofessionals als HVZ patiënten met betrekking tot (begeleide en geautomatiseerde) eHealth levensstijlinterventies, en (2) onderzoeken of en hoe geautomatiseerde eHealth levensstijlinterventies geoptimaliseerd kunnen worden.

Met het oog op het eerste doel van dit proefschrift, (1) het in kaart brengen van de behoeften en wensen van zowel zorgprofessionals als HVZ patiënten met betrekking tot (begeleide en geautomatiseerde) eHealth levensstijlinterventies, onderzochten we in Hoofdstuk 2 en 3 hoe zorgprofessionals en patiënten aankijken tegen leefstijlverandering en eHealth levensstijlinterventies. **Hoofdstuk 2** gaat over een kwalitatieve studie onder zorgprofessionals. We interviewden 16 zorgprofessionals, die werken met HVZ patiënten, over leefstijlbegeleiding en het gebruik van eHealth. Op basis hiervan identificeerden we 12 thema's die zorgprofessionals belangrijk vinden in leefstijlbegeleiding, die ofwel gerelateerd zijn aan leefstijlinterventies, patiënten of het zorgsysteem. Binnen deze thema's werd eHealth genoemd als een (potentiële) facilitator of oplossing voor barrières die ze ervaren bij leefstijlbegeleiding. Professionals noemden het nut van eHealth vooral binnen de thema's "autonomie", "personalisatie", "vorm van begeleiding" en "continuïteit van begeleiding". Zo gaven professionals bijvoorbeeld aan patiënten met eHealth inzicht kunnen hebben in hun eigen gezondheid en zo meer autonomie over hun aandoening krijgen. Of dat professionals d.m.v. eHealth meer informatie over hun patiënten kunnen verzamelen om daarmee hun begeleiding beter te personaliseren. Zorgprofessionals zagen ook de mogelijkheid om met eHealth op afstand begeleiding te bieden. Hiermee kunnen ook patiënten met fysieke beperkingen begeleiding krijgen en kunnen professionals ook op lange termijn begeleiding aanbieden. Naast deze voordelen identificeerden we een 13° thema met barrières bij de invoering en het gebruik van eHealth. Zo maakten zorgprofessionals zich bijvoorbeeld zorgen over de hoge leeftijd van hun patiënten en daarmee de lage digitale geletterdheid van deze patiënten, en dat hun patiënten over het algemeen de voorkeur hebben voor persoonlijk contact.

Als aanvulling hierop, onderzochten we in Hoofdstuk 3 of deze ervaringen en verwachtingen van zorgprofessionals worden erkend door HVZ patiënten zelf. Het doel van de studie was om te onderzoeken wat de voorkeuren van patiënten zijn m.b.t. leefstijlbegeleiding en welke demografische kenmerken deze voorkeur voorspellen. We vroegen 659 HVZ patiënten een vragenlijst in te vullen. We vonden dat de meerderheid van de HVZ patiënten een voorkeur heeft om zelfstandig aan zijn/haar leefstijl te werken (dus zonder begeleiding van een coach, een app of internet, of familie en vrienden) of voor een interventie waarbij zij ondersteund worden door een coach (in een groep, één-op-één, of via een app of internet). Wel zagen we verschillen tussen mannen en vrouwen en tussen patiënten met verschillende leeftijden: met name oudere patiënten zeiden liever zelfstandig aan hun leefstijl te willen werken. Daarnaast gaven vrouwen vaker aan begeleiding te willen van een coach, één-op-één of via een app of internet, terwijl mannen vaker ondersteuning door familie en vrienden willen of zelfstandig aan hun leefstijl willen werken. Aangezien juist oudere mannen een risicogroep zijn voor HVZ, is het van belang dat leefstijlinterventies beter aansluiten op hun wensen en behoeften, bijvoorbeeld door deze d.m.v. eHealth meer te personaliseren (zoals gesuggereerd door de professionals in Hoofdstuk 2).

Voor het tweede doel van dit proefschrift, (2) onderzoeken of en hoe geautomatiseerde eHealth levensstijlinterventies geoptimaliseerd kunnen worden, wilden we eerst onderzoeken hoe effectief bestaande (begeleide en geautomatiseerde) eHealth oplossingen zijn. Eerdere onderzoeken lieten inconsistente resultaten zien: sommige studies toonden aan dat begeleide eHealth leefstijlinterventies veel effectiever zijn dan geautomatiseerde, in andere studies bleken beide soorten interventies even effectief te zijn. In **Hoofdstuk 4** hebben we resultaten van studies naar bestaande eHealth interventies verzameld. Het doel was om te onderzoeken of begeleide en geautomatiseerde eHealth levensstijlinterventies verschillen in effectiviteit, ofwel verschillen in de mate waarin gebruikers na de interventie een gezondere leefstijl hebben. We voerden een meta-analyse uit met studies naar eHealth levensstijlinterventies voor niet alleen patiënten met HVZ, maar ook met chronische nierschade, diabetes mellitus type 1 en diabetes mellitus type 2. Omdat al deze vier cardiometabole ziekten vergelijkbare onderliggende risicofactoren hebben, kan de prognose van deze ziekten op dezelfde manier verbeterd worden, namelijk d.m.v. een gezonde levensstijl. We vonden 104 unieke studies en voegden deze toe aan de multilevel meta-analyse. We zagen dat eHealth levensstijlinterventies effectief zijn in het verbeteren van zowel klinische (bijv. bloeddruk) en gedragsmatige (bijv. aantal stappen per dag) gezondheidsuitkomsten. We vonden hierin geen verschil tussen begeleide en geautomatiseerde eHealth levensstijlinterventies: beide zijn even effectief in het verbeteren van gezondheidsuitkomsten. Daarnaast vonden we voor begeleide interventies geen verschil in effectiviteit tussen interventies waarin veel of weinig begeleiding gegeven werd, en tussen interventies waarin de begeleiding helemaal digitaal gegeven werd of ook deels fysiek. Mogelijkerwijs is de kwaliteit van de eHealth leefstijlinterventies, ongeacht of deze begeleid of geautomatiseerd is, van invloed op de effectiviteit: wanneer de kwaliteit van de interventie hoog genoeg is, kan een geautomatiseerde eHealth interventie een even grote leefstijlverandering teweeg brengen als een begeleide eHealth interventie.

Een bekend probleem met geautomatiseerde eHealth interventies is dat deze vaak te maken hebben met een lagere acceptatie dan begeleide interventies. Mogelijk hebben mensen vooraf bepaalde verwachtingen waardoor zij minder geneigd zijn om geautomatiseerde eHealth interventies te gebruiken. Daarom onderzochten we in Hoofdstuk 5 welke verwachtingen van invloed zijn op de intentie om begeleide of geautomatiseerde eHealth interventies te gebruiken. We voerden een online experiment uit, waarin gezonde proefpersonen willekeurig screenshots te zien kregen van een begeleide (met begeleiding door een menselijke coach) of geautomatiseerde (met begeleiding door een geautomatiseerde coach) leefstijl-app. We maakten gebruik van de verwachte therapeutische relatie met de (geautomatiseerde) coach en de constructen van de Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) om te onderzoeken welke verwachtingen de gebruiksintentie voorspellen. We vonden dat proefpersonen even graag een geautomatiseerde eHealth interventie als een begeleide eHealth interventie zouden willen gebruiken. Voor beide soorten interventies verwachtten de proefpersonen ook een even sterke therapeutische relatie te kunnen krijgen met de (geautomatiseerde) coach. Daarnaast vonden we geen verschil in hoeverre ze verwachtten dat belangrijke mensen uit hun omgeving (vrienden en familie) vinden dat ze de eHealth interventie zouden moeten gebruiken. We ontdekten echter wel een effect op de gebruiksintentie van hun verwachtingen over de behulpzaamheid en de gebruiksvriendelijkheid van de interventie: wanneer proefpersonen de geautomatiseerde interventie te zien kregen, vonden we een sterke samenhang tussen hun verwachting over

de behulpzaamheid en gebruiksvriendelijkheid en hun intentie om de interventie te gebruiken. Wanneer proefpersonen dachten dat de geautomatiseerde interventie niet behulpzaam of moeilijk te gebruiken zou zijn, waren ze minder geneigd om de interventie te gebruiken. Bij de begeleide interventie vonden we deze samenhang in mindere mate. Mogelijkerwijs dient de aanwezigheid van een menselijke coach als buffer voor negatieve verwachtingen: mensen verwachten dat er iemand is die hen kan helpen als dat nodig is en willen daarom alsnog met de interventie starten.

Ook een slechte therapietrouw (het gebruik van de interventie zoals bedoeld) is een bekend probleem bij geautomatiseerde eHealth interventies. Om een oplossing hiervoor te vinden, voerden we in Hoofdstuk 6 een veldexperiment uit. In begeleide interventies is de therapeutische relatie is een belangrijke voorspeller van therapietrouw. Daarnaast zijn mensen in staat om niet alleen relaties aan te gaan met andere mensen, maar ook met technologie. Dit bracht ons op het idee om het concept van de therapeutische relatie gebruiken om de therapietrouw bij geautomatiseerde eHealth interventies te verbeteren. We pasten een Text-based Conversational Agent (een soort chatbot) toe in een leefstijl-app, welke als doel had om het dagelijkse aantal stappen van de gebruiker te verhogen. De Conversational Agent maakte gebruik van menselijke kenmerken om de therapeutische relatie met de gebruiker te stimuleren. We pasten twee soorten kenmerken toe, namelijk visuele (bijv. een menselijke profielfoto) en relationele kenmerken (bijv. het gebruik van humor of empathie), en testten deze in een veldexperiment. Gezonde proefpersonen werden gevraagd om de app voor 3 weken te gebruiken, en werden daarin ondersteund door één van de vier digitale coaches: een coach met (1) geen menselijke kenmerken, (2) alleen visuele kenmerken, (3) alleen relationele kenmerken, of (4) zowel visuele als relationele kenmerken). We verwachtten dat de Conversational Agent met zowel visuele als relationele menselijke kenmerken zou leiden tot de sterkste therapeutische relatie en dus tot de hoogste therapietrouw aan de interventie, gevolgd door de Conversational Agent met alleen visuele kenmerken of alleen relationele kenmerken. Zoals voorspeld, vonden we dat proefpersonen die een hogere therapeutische relatie met de coach ervoeren, meer therapietrouw waren (ofwel de interventie vaker gebruikten). Maar tegen onze verwachtingen in, toonden proefpersonen een lagere therapietrouw wanneer zij begeleid werden door de Conversational Agent met visuele kenmerken (conditie 2 en 4) dan wanneer zij begeleid werden door de Conversational Agent zonder deze kenmerken (conditie 1 en 3). De menselijke visuele kenmerken leidden dus tot een lager gebruik van de interventie. Mogelijk kunnen deze resultaten verklaard worden door een gebrek aan transparantie over het digitale karakter van de coach: proefpersonen kunnen door de visuele kenmerken gedacht hebben dat zij door een echt mens begeleid werden, wat tot teleurstelling over de begeleiding van de Conversational Agent kan hebben geleid.

DANKWOORD

Daar ligt 'ie dan in je handen: dit proefschrift. Hoewel dit natuurlijk het tastbare eindproduct is waar ik naartoe heb gewerkt, omvat het niet alles. De afgelopen jaren hebben me veel waardevolle lessen gebracht die niet op papier te vatten zijn: dit promotietraject heeft me gemaakt tot de professional, de onderzoeker en misschien wel tot de persoon die ik nu ben. Ik wil iedereen dus niet alleen bedanken voor dit proefschrift, maar ook voor al het andere dat dit mij heeft gebracht.

Allereerst wil ik natuurlijk stilstaan bij het BENEFIT team: een verzameling mensen met diversie achtergronden en persoonlijkheden, maar allemaal even gedreven en met hetzelfde gemeenschappelijke doel. Het project had zijn uitdagingen, maar ik heb vol bewondering gekeken naar jullie veerkracht. In het bijzonder wil ik een aantal teamleden bedanken. Isra, wat vond ik het fijn om samen met jou aan dit avontuur te beginnen. Je bent een ontzettend betrokken mens en ik hoop dat je met jouw relevante onderzoek veel mensen gaat helpen. Renée, je wist mij als nieuweling thuis te laten voelen in het team. Ik heb heel erg genoten van jouw gezelligheid in het team en in de BENEFIT-kamer. Veronica, volgens mij hield jij altijd een extra oogje in het zeil of wij promovendi nog wel goed in ons vel zaten. Door jou had ik altijd, zelfs in de meest turbulente tijden, het gevoel dat er een vangnet was. Linda, ik ken weinig mensen die zo hard werken en tegelijkertijd nog zoveel oog hebben voor haar collega's als jij. Ik vind het heel bijzonder dat jij mij in de laatste maanden van mijn promotietraject nog als co-promotor "geadopteerd" hebt. Je gaf me precies het steuntje in de rug dat ik nodig had om het tot een goed einde te brengen. En Andrea, door alle weer en wind was jij de constante factor die het project en mijn onderzoek op de been hield. Wat er ook gebeurde, binnen het team of op persoonlijk vlak, je bleef altijd oog houden voor mij en de andere promovendi. Ik heb veel bewondering voor jouw optimisme en doorzettingsvermogen en hoop dat we, binnen of buiten de wetenschap, ooit nog eens de kans hebben om samen te werken!

Het lijstje aan BENEFIT teamleden is natuurlijk niet compleet zonder David. Met je betrokkenheid, humor en nuchterheid heb je me door dit promotietraject heen geholpen. Op professioneel vlak was je precies de samenwerkingspartner die ik nodig had: een kritische blik op een manuscript, sparren over een onderzoeksopzet of het opzetten van een samenwerking in het buitenland. Maar ook op persoonlijk vlak: de gezamenlijke werkdagen buiten de deur (waarin soms meer koffie op het terras werd gedronken dan dat er iets zinnigs op papier kwam), het constante geklets en gekibbel als een "getrouwd stel" (één van de redenen dat we in de BENEFIT-kamer stiltebordjes moesten ophangen) of jouw ontnuchterende herinnering "het is maar werk" als het allemaal wat veel werd. Dankjewel voor alles! En je mag trots zijn op jezelf en op alles wat je de afgelopen jaren bereikt hebt! I would also like to thank the writing club: Fabian, Nathal, Lingling, Merve and David. Although writing was our core business, working with you guys provided me with much more. I am particularly thankful for having such a great group of people around me (a lot of times figuratively, not literally) during Covid-times. Doing a PhD can be a lonely job in itself, but Covid made it even lonelier. Our bi-weekly digital meetings played a crucial role in getting through it. Because honestly, doing a PhD is much better if you can share your highs, but also your lows. In that sense, we might have functioned more as a support group than merely a writing group. You made my PhD significantly more enjoyable and I'm happy to have shared this journey with all of you!

Maar ook buiten Universiteit Leiden zijn er genoeg mensen die een, misschien indirecte, maar daarom niet minder belangrijke, rol hebben gespeeld. Natuurlijk mijn ouders en broer(tje), die me bij elk hoogte- en dieptepunt me weer met beide benen op de grond zetten. Juist omdat jullie zo ver van deze, soms wel vreemde, wereld afstaan. Ik wist dat jullie trots op me zouden zijn, zelfs als ik de "spinazieacademie" zou gaan doen. Niet omdat jullie de lat laag voor me wilden leggen, maar omdat jullie mij hebben geleerd dat iedereen gewaardeerd moet worden, ongeacht functie, titel, opleiding of anders. Ik weet nu dat zo'n doctorstitel leuk is, maar dat het er uiteindelijk om gaat dat je iets doet waar je gelukkig van wordt.

Ook zijn er veel lieve vrienden om me heen geweest, waarvan ik een paar in het speciaal wil bedanken: Anne en Levi, onze vele (tijdens Corona wekelijkse) MTGen pathfindersessies, altijd gepaard met (veel!) lekker eten en goede gesprekken, hielpen mijn zinnen verzetten. Jullie zijn lieverds en ik had me geen gezelligere coronabubbel dan met jullie kunnen voorstellen. Jimmy, als er iemand is bij wie ik mijn hart kan luchten, dan ben jij het wel. Dankjewel voor je humor en openheid. En huize Majofski: Govert, Dirk, Joris, Hester en Julia. Ik ben dankbaar dat Maurice jullie als huisgenoten aan mij heeft uitgeleend en dat jullie mij zo'n warm welkom hebben gegeven in de Majofski-familie. De avondjes First Dates en spelletjes hebben me door vele barre (Corona-)tijden heen gesleept.

En last but not least, Maurice: ik houd het kort, want op papier kan ik bij lange na niet uitdrukken hoe blij ik met je ben. Je eindeloze liefde, geduld, humor, nuchterheid en relativeringsvermogen waardeer ik altijd, maar waren misschien wel onmisbaar tijdens dit promotietraject. Toen we elkaar leerden kennen, was ik nét begonnen met mijn PhD. Eigenlijk ken je me dus alleen met een constantie "proefschrift-stress" die op de achtergrond (of soms wat meer op de voorgrond) aanwezig is. Wie weet wordt het na dit alles wel nog leuker en gezelliger samen. Maar dat kan ik me bijna niet voorstellen!

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Talia was born on December 31st, 1994 in Haarlem, the Netherlands. She started her studies at Mendelcollege Haarlem where she received her VWO diploma in 2013. In that same year, she started her Bachelor's in Communication Sciences at VU Amsterdam, with a minor in psychology. In 2016, Talia started the Research Master Social Psychology at VU Amsterdam. During her studies, Talia worked on research projects related to social robotics in healthcare and education, and she wrote her thesis on fake news. After receiving her Master's degree, Talia started her PhD-project in 2019 at the Health-, Medical- and Neuropsychology unit of Leiden University under the supervision of professor Andrea Evers. Her research was part of the BENEFIT project, a public-private partnership between academic centres, hospitals, rehabilitation centres, general practices, commercial companies and patient federations. The BENEFIT project was funded by the Dutch Hartstichting and aimed to facilitate durable lifestyle change among patients with cardiovascular diseases by developing a so-called "ecosystem" in which the patient is emerged in a health-supportive environment. Talia's research contributed to the development of an eHealth platform to facilitate lifestyle changes at the individual level within this ecosystem and aimed to evaluate the effect of different forms of automated and personal coaching on lifestyle maintenance. Throughout this project, she worked together with a multidisciplinary team consisting of cardiologists, psychologists, eHealth developers, and patients. During her PhD, Talia was also involved in supervising Bachelor and Master thesis students, and presenting her work at international conferences. She finished writing her dissertation "Human support in eHealth lifestyle interventions" in 2023 and obtained her doctorate degree in 2024. Currently, Talia works as a researcher in the public sector, focusing on research topics related to health and healthcare.